
OFFICE OF COUNTY ATTORNEY, MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 
TELEPHONE 305.375.5151 

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
In re: 
 
LEISURE INVESTMENTS HOLDINGS LLC, et al. 
 
 Debtors. 
 

Chapter 11 
 
Case No. 25-10606 (LSS) 
(Jointly Administered) 
 
ECF No. 352 

 
DECLARATION OF ILEANA CRUZ REGARDING EXHIBITS IN SUPPORT OF 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY’S MOTION TO LIFT THE AUTOMATIC STAY TO 
CONCLUDE STATE COURT EVICTION CASE, COMPEL DEBTORS TO 

IMMEDIATELY REJECT THE MIAMI SEAQUARIUM LEASE, AND ALLOW AND  
IMMEDIATELY PAY ALL POST-PETITION RENT 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, Ileana Cruz, Assistant County Attorney, declares under 

penalty of perjury that: 

Attached hereto are true and correct copies of the documents listed in the attached Exhibit 

Index that are identified in Miami-Dade County’s Motion to Lift the Automatic Stay to Conclude 

State Court Eviction Case, Compel Debtors to Immediately Reject the Miami Seaquarium Lease, 

and Allow and Immediately Pay All Post-Petition Rent, filed July 16, 2025, at ECF 352. 

I DECLARE UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY THAT THE ABOVE IS TRUE AND 
CORRECT BASED ON MY PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE.  MOREOVER, THE DOCUMENTS 
ATTACHED HERETO ARE TRUE, CORRECT, AND AUTHENTIC COPIES. 
 
EXECUTED ELECTRONICALLY AND SERVED ON THIS 17th DAY OF JULY 2025 

Respectfully submitted, 

GERALDINE BONZON-KEENAN 
Miami-Dade County Attorney 

By:       /s/ Ileana Cruz  
Ileana Cruz 
Melanie Spencer 
Assistant County Attorneys 
111 N.W. 1st Street, Suite 2810 
Miami, FL  33128 
Telephone:  (305) 375-5151 
E-Mail:   cao.bkc@miamidade.gov 
Direct E-Mail: ileanac@miamidade.gov 
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In re Leisure Investments Holdings, Inc., et al. 
Bankr. D. Del. 25-10606-LSS 
 

Miami-Dade County Motion to Lift the Automatic Stay or  
Compel Rejection of Seaquarium Lease, etc. [ECF. No. 352] 

 

July 17, 2025   Ileana Cruz, Esq.  
OFFICE OF COUNTY ATTORNEY, MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

TELEPHONE 305.375.5151 

Exhibit Mot 
Para. EXHIBIT INDEX 

A 8 Park Legal Description 

B 9 ARTICLE 7 OF HOME RULE CHARTER FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY  

C 14 July 25, 2000: Amended and Restated Lease with Reso. R-825-00 

D 15 November 16, 2001: First Amendment to Lease with Reso. R-1256-01 

E 16 August 7, 2003: Second Amendment to Lease with Reso. R-861-03 

F 17 September 9, 2022: Third Amendment to Lease with Reso. R-991-21  

G 18 Lease Extension Agreements dated 7/7/2006, 10/6/2009, and 3/9/2020 

H 20-21 October 28, 2022: County’s Notice of Non-Compliance with Lease 

I 23 November 1, 2023:  County’s further Notice of Default of Lease 

J 24-25 December 22, 2023:  County’s further Notice of Default of Lease 

K 26 March 7, 2024:  County’s Notice Terminating Seaquarium Lease 

L 27 Eviction Case Complaint and docket (Case No. 2024-123931-CC-05). 

M 28 Eviction Case, August 19, 2024 Court Registry Order 

N 29 Eviction Case, Motion for Default Judgment 

O 30 Notice of Appeal and docket for Appeal 3D2024-1806 

P 45 Eviction Case, p. 5 n.2, MS Leisure’s Response in Opposition to the 
County’s Motion for Default 

Q 45 Eviction Case, MSL Notice of Compliance dated Sept 18, 2024 

Case 25-10606-LSS    Doc 357    Filed 07/17/25    Page 2 of 2



Exhibit A 

Case 25-10606-LSS    Doc 357-1    Filed 07/17/25    Page 1 of 7



MDC Stay Relief, Ex. A 0001
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MDC Stay Relief, Ex. A 0002
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MDC Stay Relief, Ex. A 0003
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MDC Stay Relief, Ex. A 0004
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MDC Stay Relief, Ex. A 0006
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ARTICLE 7. - PARKS, AQUATIC PRESERVES, AND PRESERVATION LANDS

Note— This Article does not apply to municipal property in Coral Gables, Hialeah, Hialeah Gardens, Miami,

Sweetwater and West Miami. See Section 7.04.

SECTION 7.01. - POLICY.

Parks, aquatic preserves, and lands acquired by the County for preservation shall be held in trust for the

education, pleasure, and recreation of the public and they shall be used and maintained in a manner which

will leave them unimpaired for the enjoyment of future generations as a part of the public's irreplaceable

heritage. They shall be protected from commercial development and exploitation and their natural

landscape, flora and fauna, and scenic beauties shall be preserved. In lands acquired by the County for

preservation and in parks along the Ocean or the Bay the public's access to and view of the water shall not

be obstructed or impaired by buildings or other structures or concessions which are in excess of 1,500

square feet each. Adequate maintenance shall be provided.

SECTION 7.02. - RESTRICTIONS AND EXCEPTIONS.

In furtherance of this policy parks shall be used for public park purposes only, and subject to the limited

exceptions set forth in this Article, there shall be no permanent structures or private commercial advertising

erected in a public park or private commercial use of a public park or renewals, expansions, or extensions of

existing leases, licenses, or concessions to private parties of public park property, unless each such

structure, lease, license, renewal, expansion, extension, concession or use shall be approved by a majority

vote of the voters in a County-wide referendum. Nothing in this Article shall prevent any contract with

federally tax-exempt not-for-profit youth, adult, and senior cultural, conservation and parks and recreation

program providers. To ensure aquatic preserves, lands acquired by the County for preservation, and public

parks or parts thereof which are nature preserves, beaches, natural forest areas, historic or archeological

areas, or otherwise possess unique natural values in their present state, such as Matheson Hammock,

Greynolds Park, Redlands Fruit and Spice Park, Castellow Hammock, Crandon Park, Trail Glades Park,

Deering Estate Park, Pine Shore Park, Old Cutler Hammock, Chapman Field, Tamiami Pinelands, Wainright

Park, Larry and Penny Thompson Park, Whispering Pines Hammock, Mangrove Preserve, Owaissa Bauer

Park, Fuchs Hammock, Black Point Marina, Simpson Park, Sewell Park, Barnes Park, Virginia Key, mangrove

preserves, and all other natural or historical resource based parks do not lose their natural or historical

values, any structure, lease, license, renewal, extension, concession or use in any of this class of public parks

or in aquatic preserves and preservation lands must be approved by an affirmative vote of two-thirds of the

voters in a County-wide referendum. No park shall be designed to be used beyond its appropriate carrying

capacity and to the extent required by law all parks and facilities and permitted special events and

concessions operating in the parks shall be fully accessible to persons with disabilities. Nothing in this Article
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A.

B.

C.

D.

E.

F.

G.

H.

I.

J.

K.

L.

M.

shall prevent the maintenance of existing facilities, the maintenance, operation, and renovation of existing

golf course and marina restaurants at their existing square footage by government agencies or private

operators, provided such private operators are chosen as a result of competitive selection and their initial

contract terms are limited to no more than ten years, or the construction, operation, maintenance, and

repair by government agencies or private operators of or issuance of temporary permits for the following,

provided that there be no adverse impact to natural resources on lands acquired or designated for

preservation by the Board of County Commissioners:

Appropriate access roads, bridges, fences, lighting, flag poles, entrance features, picnic

shelters, tables, grills, benches, irrigation systems, walls, erosion control devices, utilities,

trash removal, parking and security and fire facilities for the primary use of the park system;

Food and concession facilities each not in excess of 1,500 square feet of enclosed space, with

any complementary outdoor or covered areas needed to service park patrons;

User-participation non-spectator recreation and, playground facilities, golf courses and golf-

course related facilities, and bandstands and band shells containing less than 1,000 spectator

seats and athletic facilities, sports fields and arenas containing less than 3,000 spectator

seats;

Facilities for marinas, sightseeing and fishing boats, visiting military vessels, and fishing;

Park signage and appropriate plaques and monuments;

Rest rooms;

Fountains, gardens, and works of art;

Park service facilities, senior, day care and preschool facilities, small nature centers with not

more than one classroom;

Film permits, temporary fairs, art exhibits, performing arts, concerts, cultural and historic

exhibitions, regattas, athletic contests and tournaments, none of which require the erection

of permanent structures;

Advertising in connection with sponsorship of events or facilities in the park, provided

however all such facilities and uses are compatible with the particular park and are scheduled

so that such events do not unreasonably impair the public use of the park or damage the

park;

Programming partnerships with qualified federally tax exempt not-for-profit youth, adult, and

senior cultural, conservation, and parks and recreation program providers;

Agreements with cable, internet, telephone, electric or similar service providers or utilities, so

long as any installations are underground or do not adversely impact natural resources, or

parks facilities and uses;

6/12/25, 9:33 AM Miami - Dade County, FL Code of Ordinances
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N.

Campgrounds and limited overnight camping accommodations in cabins/lodges only for park patrons at

Camp Matecumbe; and

Miami-Dade County Public Library System facilities providing library services to the public so

long as such library facilities are established within recreation facilities, are compatible within

the surrounding park and do not unreasonably impair the public use of the park.

No park facilities, golf courses, or County lands acquired for preservation shall be converted to or used

for non-park offices, purposes, or uses. The County, the municipalities, and agencies or groups receiving any

public funding shall not expend any public money or provide any publicly funded services in kind to any

project which does not comply with this Article. No building permit or certificate of occupancy shall be

issued for any structure in violation of this Article. The restrictions applying to parks in this Article shall not

apply to the Dade County Youth Fair site at Tamiami Park and to any expansion of Florida International

University onto no more than 64 acres therein upon the relocation of the Miami-Dade County Fair &

Exposition, Inc. No County funds shall be used for the University's expansion and for the required relocation

of the Miami-Dade County Fair & Exposition, Inc. The restrictions applying to parks in this Article shall also

not apply to Metro Zoo, Tamiami Stadium, Haulover Fishing Pier, the Dade County Auditorium, the Museum

of Science, the Gold Coast Railroad Museum, Vizcaya Museum and Gardens, Trail Glade Range, the Orange

Bowl, the Commodore Ralph Munroe Marine Stadium, the Seaquarium, Curtis Park track and stadium,

Fairchild Tropical Gardens, the Miami-Dade County Regional Soccer Park on NW 58th Street, and mini and

neighborhood parks except that no mini or neighborhood park may be leased or disposed of unless a

majority of the residents residing in voting precincts any part of which is within 1 mile of the park authorize

such sale or lease by majority vote in an election.

SECTION 7.03. - ENFORCEMENT AND CONSTRUCTION.

All elections required by this Article shall be held either in conjunction with state primary or general

elections or as part of bond issue elections. The provisions of this Article may be enforced by a citizen

alleging a violation of this Article filed in the Dade County Circuit Court pursuant to its general equity

jurisdiction, the plaintiff, if successful, shall be entitled to recover costs as fixed by the Court. The provisions

of this Article shall be liberally construed in favor of the preservation of all park lands, aquatic preserves,

and preservation lands. If any provision of this Article shall be declared invalid it shall not affect the validity

of the remaining provisions of this Article. This Article shall not be construed to illegally impair any

previously existing valid written contractual commitments or bids or bonded indebtedness.

SECTION 7.04. - JURISDICTION.

Except as otherwise provided herein the provisions of this Article shall apply to all County and municipal

parks, aquatic preserves, and lands acquired by the County for preservation now in existence or hereafter

acquired, provided that if this Article was not favorably voted upon by a majority of the voters voting in any
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municipality at the time of the adoption of this Article the municipal parks of such municipality shall be

excluded from the provisions of this Article.
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Case 25-10606-LSS    Doc 357-3    Filed 07/17/25    Page 6 of 113



MDC Stay Relief, Ex. C 0006
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MEMORANDUM
Amended 
Agenda Item No. 8(H)(1) 

TO: Honorable Chairman Jose “Pepe” Diaz  DATE: October 19, 2021 
and Members, Board of County Commissioners 

FROM: Geri Bonzon-Keenan SUBJECT: Resolution authorizing and 
County Attorney approving assignment of Lease 

from Festival Fun Parks, LLC  
to MS Leisure Company, Inc.,  
and authorizing the County  
Mayor or to execute any and  
all documents required in  
connection therewith 

R-991-21

The accompanying resolution was prepared by the Parks, Recreation and Open Spaces Department 
and placed on the agenda at the request of Prime Sponsor Commissioner Raquel A. Regalado. 

_______________________________ 
Geri Bonzon-Keenan        
County Attorney 

GBK/uw 

OFFICIAL FILE COPY 
CLERK OF THE BOARD 

OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

Resolution No. R-991-21
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Honorable Chairman Jose "Pepe" Diaz 
and Members, Board of County Commissioners

County Attorney

October 19, 2021

Amended
8(H)(1)
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Approved Mayor Agenda Item No. 8(H)(1) 
Veto __________ 10-19-21
Override __________ 

Amended 

RESOLUTION NO. ________________________ 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING 
ASSIGNMENT OF LEASE FROM FESTIVAL FUN PARKS, 
LLC TO MS LEISURE COMPANY, INC., AND AUTHORIZING 
THE COUNTY MAYOR OR THE COUNTY MAYOR’S 
DESIGNEE TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL DOCUMENTS 
REQUIRED IN CONNECTION THEREWITH 

WHEREAS, this Board desires to accomplish the purpose outlined in the accompanying 

memorandum together with Exhibits A and B attached to the memorandum, a copy of which is 

incorporated herein by reference, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA, that this Board: 

Section 1. Authorizes and approves the assignment of the Lease from Festival to MS 

Leisure Company.  Further, this Board finds that Exhibit “B” attached to the accompanying 

memorandum, satisfies the disclosure requirements of Section 2-8.1(d)(1) of the Code of Miami-

Dade County and hereby authorizes and approves said Exhibit. 

Section 2. Finds that the proposed assignment will not be contrary to the best interests 

of the County and that MS Leisure Company is a competent, experienced operator comparable to 

Festival. 

Section 3. Amends the amended and restated lease documents for the Miami 

Seaquarium to include language to require that the lessee shall comply with the Animal Welfare 

Act and would maintain an active USDA Class C Exhibitor license.  ALL certifications including, 

but not limited to certification from the American Humane, shall be maintained and the lessee shall 

commit to seeking Association of Zoos & Aquariums accreditation. The lessee shall implement a 

R-991-21 
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Agenda Item No. 8(H)(1) 
Page No. 2 

Amended 

conservation, education, and awareness campaign program for the community, including the 

incorporation of environmental protection, science conservation, and other educational programs 

into a classroom curriculum. The lessee shall be required to provide an updated animal welfare 

plan for the marine mammals, infrastructure maintenance, and improvement plans to the County 

on a quarterly basis. The lessee shall be required to provide copies of any reports, letters, or 

correspondence from or to any state or federal agency related to the management and operation of 

the leased premises to the County immediately upon receipt of such by the lessee, and the lessee 

would be obligated to create a program for neurodivergent children and adults. 

Section 4. Authorizes the County Mayor or the County Mayor’s designee to execute 

any and all documents that may be required in connection with the transaction authorized and 

approved by this resolution.  

The foregoing resolution was offered by Commissioner                                                      ,  

who moved its adoption.  The motion was seconded by Commissioner         

and upon being put to a vote, the vote was as follows:  

Jose “Pepe” Diaz, Chairman 
Oliver G. Gilbert, III, Vice-Chairman 

Sen. René García Keon Hardemon 
Sally A. Heyman Danielle Cohen Higgins 
Eileen Higgins Joe A. Martinez 
Kionne L. McGhee Jean Monestime 
Raquel A. Regalado Rebeca Sosa 
Sen. Javier D. Souto 

Raquel A. Regalado 

Rebeca Sosa

aye 
aye 
aye 
aye 
aye 
aye 

aye 
aye 
aye 
aye 
aye 

aye 
aye 
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Agenda Item No. 8(H)(1) 
Page No. 3 

Amended 

The Chairperson thereupon declared this resolution duly passed and adopted this 19th  day 

of October, 2021.  This resolution shall become effective upon the earlier of (1) 10 days after the 

date of its adoption unless vetoed by the County Mayor, and if vetoed, shall become effective only 

upon an override by this Board, or (2) approval by the County Mayor of this resolution and the 

filing of this approval with the Clerk of the Board. 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 
BY ITS BOARD OF 
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

HARVEY RUVIN, CLERK 

By:________________________ 
      Deputy Clerk 

Approved by County Attorney as 
to form and legal sufficiency.  _______ 

Melanie J. Spencer 

Melissa Adames 
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RECIPIENT

October 28, 2022 NOTICE OF NON-COMPLIANCE
   via electronic and certified mail

Mr. Travis Burke
Executive Director, North America
The Dolphin Company
MS Leisure Company, Inc.
The Miami Seaquarium
4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33149

RE: Notice of Non-Compliance

Dear Mr. Burke:

As you are aware, the terms of the assigned and assumed “Amended and Restated Lease 
Between Miami-Dade County [the “County”] and Marine Exhibition Corporation, d/b/a The 
Miami Seaquarium dated July 25, 2000, as amended by a First Amendment dated 
November 16, 2001, a Second Amendment dated August 7, 2003, and by three (3) Lease 
Extension Agreements dated July 7, 2006, October 6, 2006, and March 9, 2020, 
respectively (collectively, the “Amended and Restated Lease Agreement”), set forth the 
obligations between the Seaquarium and the County, including the Seaquarium’s 
responsibilities regarding the health and welfare of the marine animals in its care.

Pursuant to the findings of the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”)’s
Inspection Report dated September 23, 2022 and the USDA’s Appeal Response Letter 
dated September 16, 2022, copies of which are attached hereto, the County has 
determined that the Seaquarium is in violation of the terms of the Amended and Restated 
Lease Agreement as set forth at Section 29, Applicable Laws.

Section 29 states in its entirety that “[a]ll provisions of this Amended and Restated Lease 
are subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances and statutes and 
the Amended and Restated Lease shall not be deemed to permit Lessee to violate the 
same or to limit Lessor’s authority to enforce same.”

The USDA, through its Animal Inspection and Plant Health Inspection Service, has 
jurisdiction under the federal Animal Welfare Act concerning the humane handling, care, 
treatment, and transportation of marine mammals in captivity.  The USDA’s Inspection 
Report cites specific violations of the Code of Federal Regulations by the Seaquarium, 
which correspondingly are violations of applicable law under Section 29 of the Amended 
and Restated Lease Agreement.

miamidade.gov

Parks, Recreation and Open Spaces
275 NW 2nd Street

Miami, Florida 33128
T 305-755-7800

Every Great Community has
a Great Park System.

2013 Governor’ Sustained
Excellence Award
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Notice of Non-Compliance 
The Dolphin Company/MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

October 28, 2022 
Page 2 of 2

Therefore, in accordance with Section 16, Default, subsection A, General Provisions, of 
the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, we are issuing this Notice of Non-
Compliance (the “Notice”) to formally advise the Seaquarium of its failure to comply with 
applicable law and to secure remediation of the violations cited in the USDA’s Interim 
Report, as well as to remind the Seaquarium of its contractual obligations in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement.  

Please note that remediation of these violations is required within forty-five (45) days from 
receipt of this Notice.   The County retains the option to exercise all available remedies 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, 
and reserves all its rights under the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement. 

Please do not hesitate to contact me at (305) 755-5459 or via email at 
perry.perez@miamidade.gov with any questions you may have.  Thank you in advance 
for your immediate attention to this matter. 

Sincerely, 

Perry I. Perez 
Chief, Contracts & Procurement Division 

cc:  Jimmy Morales, Chief Operations Officer, Office of the Mayor 
  Johanna Cervone, Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 
  Rachel Johnson, Deputy Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 
  Maria I. Nardi, Director, PROS 
  Christina Salinas-Cotter, Assistant Director, PROS 
  Melanie Spencer, County Attorney’s Office 

encl:   USDA Inspection Report dated September 23, 2022 
  USDA Appeal Response Letter dated September 16, 2022 
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 United States Department of Agriculture EGONZALEZ 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000814970 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: E GONZALEZ Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 23-SEP-2022 

Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
OFFICER 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
23-SEP-2022 

Page 1 of 9 

MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

9600 N. Oceanshore Boulevard
St Augustine, FL 32080

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: FOCUSED INSPECTION 

Date: 06-JUL-2022 

2.40(a)(2) Critical
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
The Assistant Director of Animal Training (ADAT) consulted with corporate trainers and the Animal Care Specialists 

Manager (ACSM) to decrease the diets for 9 out of 12 dolphins at Dolphin Harbor and did not consult the attending 

veterinarian of the facility. This was a 60% cut to the dolphins’ daily food rations and resulted in very thin animals. For 

example, Star, a 23yr old female dolphin was being fed approximately 12lbs daily in January 2022 and her diet was cut 

abruptly on March 31st to 4lbs daily. The full changes are listed below.

• Star, a 23yr old female dolphin: January 2022 (12lbs daily) to March 31st (4lbs daily)

• Gemini, a 7yr old female dolphin: January 2022 (13lbs daily) to April 1st (6lbs daily)

• Skye, a 24yr old female dolphin: January 2022 (11lbs daily) to April 1st (7.5lbs daily)

• Cobalt, a 12yr old male dolphin: March 2022 (18lbs daily) to April 1st (5lbs daily) 

• Ringo, a 12yr old male dolphin: January 2022 (15lbs daily) to April 1st (8lbs daily)

• Squirt, a 12yr old female dolphin: January 2022 (13lbs daily) to March 31st (4lbs daily)

• JJ, a 46yr old male dolphin: January 2022 (10lbs daily) to April 1st (6.5lbs daily) 

• Calypso, an 8yr female dolphin: March 2022 (15lbs daily) to April 1st (9lbs daily)

• Aries, a 20yr old male dolphin: January 2022 (13lbs daily) to March 31st (3lbs daily)
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 United States Department of Agriculture EGONZALEZ 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000814970 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: E GONZALEZ Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 23-SEP-2022 

Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
OFFICER 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
23-SEP-2022 

Page 2 of 9 

Medical notes from a visual examination performed by the AV on June 26th, 2022, specifically identified 3 thin animals. 

Cobalt was noted having prominent scapula and ribs with an overall thin Body Condition Score (BCS). His Body Blubber 

Index (BBI) was down to 31 and his weight was 45lbs under his target weight range. Aries was noted having prominent 

and palpable scapula and ribs with a slight post-nuchal indention. His BBI was low at 34 and he was 35lbs below his goal 

weight. Squirt was noted having slightly prominent scapula and ribs with a low BBI of 33. She was below her weight 

range. On July 2nd, 2022, the AV noted that Star’s shoulder/scapula were fairly prominent. With a BBI of 36 and overall 

thin appearing BCS, Star was approximately 25lbs below her target range.

Photos taken by facility staff, social media photos and an examination by APHIS Marine Mammal Specialist during the 

inspection identify the following concerns for each dolphin affected:

• Aries: He weighed 375lbs on March 5th and 312lbs on June 25th (a loss of 63 lbs.) The facility records his goal weight 

was between 355-365lbs. With a BCS of 3/10, Aries was described as a very thin dolphin with weight loss in his neck, an 

indentation in his nuchal area, prominent scapula, rib shadowing, decreased muscle mass in his peduncle, and visible 

lateral spinous processes. 

• Calypso: She weighed 373lbs on May 25th. There is no current weight on Calypso and no ideal weight range noted on 

the facilities Departmental Baseboard. With a BCS of 4/10, Calypso was described as a thin dolphin with an indentation 

on her post nuchal area behind her blowhole, a visible scapula and loss of weight in her thorax. Additionally, her lateral 

spinous processes in her peduncle are pronounced as well as a loss of muscle mass in the peduncle.

• Cayman: He weighed 307lbs on March 5th and 298lbs on April 16th (a loss of 9lbs.) The facility records his goal weight 

between 310-320lbs. With a BCS of 5/10, Cayman looked to be in good body condition at the time of inspection. 

However, photos of Cayman provided by the facility show a very lean animal with prominent lateral spinous processes. 

• Cobalt: He weighed 615lbs on March 5th and 511lbs on July 2nd (a loss of 104lbs.) The facility records his goal weight 
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Inspection Report 

Prepared By: E GONZALEZ Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 23-SEP-2022 

Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
OFFICER 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
23-SEP-2022 

Page 3 of 9 

between 560-570lbs. With a BCS of 3.5/10, Cobalt was described as a thin and lean dolphin with a slender neck, 

pronounced scapula and shoulders, rib shadowing and pronounced lateral spinous processes.

• Gemini: With a BCS of 3.5/10, Gemini was described as a thin dolphin with weight loss in her neck, visible lateral 

spinous processes and loss of mass in her peduncle. 

• Ringo: He weighed 336lbs on March 5th and 299lbs on June 25th (a loss of 37lbs.) The facility records his goal weight 

between 315-325lbs. With a BCS of 4/10, pictures posted to social media show a very thin animal with a “neck”, 

noticeable scapula, with weight loss in the back and peduncle area. At the time of inspection, Ringo had regained some 

weight since those photos; however, he was still described as lean with visible lateral spinous processes.

• Skye: She weighed 377lbs on March 5th and 362lbs on July 2nd (a loss of 15lbs.) The facility records her goal weight 

between 370-380lbs. With a BCS of 4/10, Skye was described as a thin dolphin with a pronounced scapula, visible lateral 

spinous processes and weight loss visible in both upper body and peduncle areas. 

• Squirt: She weighed 331lbs on March 5th and 289lbs on July 2nd (a loss of 42lbs.) The facility records her goal weight 

between 320-330lbs. With a BCS of 3.5/10, Squirt was described as a lean dolphin with muscle loss in the peduncle area 

and neck with some lateral spinous processes still visible.

• Star: She weighed 345lbs on March 5th and 315lbs on July 2nd (a loss of 30lbs.) The facility records her goal weight 

between 340-350lbs. With a BCS of 3.5/10, Star was described as a thin dolphin, with visible lateral spinous processes of 

the peduncle as well as muscle mass loss in the peduncle area.

This reduction in diet was not approved by the facility’s AV. The AV was not consulted prior to the diet changes and was 

not alerted by the ADAT when these changes were implemented. After the major cuts, the diets were gradually increased 

over the next few days; however, the diets never reached appropriate levels to maintain each animal’s appropriate weight 

and the animals continued to lose weight.  When both veterinarians were questioned directly by APHIS officials, they 
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confirmed they would not have approved the diet cuts. Upon the AV’s examination findings in late June/early July, she 

recommended a gradual increase in diets to return the animals to their target weight ranges. The staff complied and 

began increasing the animals’ diets as instructed.

Additionally, the layout of the guest interactions was changed without the AV’s guidance. The previous guest interactions, 

in conjunction with the AV’s guidance, were coordinated under the protection of the umbrellas to avoid the animals looking 

directly into the sun for their feedings and directions. The new guest interactions position the dolphins in areas away from 

the shade and, depending on the time of the day, do not offer protection from looking into the sun. These program 

changes were not reviewed prior to implementation by the facility’s attending veterinarian. The guest interactions have 

also changed by increasing the number of guests in attendance per session without veterinary input. 

The Attending Veterinarian must have the appropriate authority to ensure adequate veterinary care is provided and that 

they have the authority to oversee the adequacy of other aspects of animal care.

Correct from this day forward. 

2.40(b)(3) Critical
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
There was an increase in frequency of abnormal behaviors such as regurgitation, mouthing, refusing control etc. that were 

not communicated in a timely manner to the Attending Veterinarian. Documents tracking weekly overall health parameters 

for the 12 animals at Dolphin Harbor (DH) were created by the Assistant Director of Animal Training and the area 

supervisor for DH with the purpose of updating the animals’ progress to the Animal Care Specialists Manager after recent 

diet changes. This PowerPoint included photos of each animal that were updated weekly. The AV had not been sent 

these routine weekly updates on the animal health parameters, and therefore could not identify the weight loss trends 

these animals experienced earlier than June 26th, 2022.

Furthermore, an examination of training records for the dolphins at DH noted increased instances of regurgitation from 
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animals that have not historically had this problem. For example, between February 23rd–July 6th, 2022, there were 88 

days where trainers recorded episodes of regurgitation for Aries. Thirty of those days, he regurgitated during two sessions 

and 6 of those days he regurgitated during three sessions. Over the 88-day period, he regurgitated during 137 sessions. 

Thirty-five of those sessions, he was noted as regurgitating throughout the session or excessively. 135 out of 137 

sessions were during public encounters. Two dates of particular concern are March 23rd and 24th, when he was noted to 

have sessions with approximately 60 and 67 guests, respectively. Three regurgitations were during training sessions, and 

one was during a husbandry session. Not only did the incidence of these abnormalities increase, but the occurrence of 

these problems was also not communicated in a timely manner to the AV. When questioned by APHIS Officials, the AV 

admitted that she was not aware of the severity of Aries’ regurgitation concerns until late June. 

The facility failed to provide direct and frequent communications regarding animal health and well-being to the AV. The 

documents tracking the weights, diets and pictures of the Dolphin Harbor animals should have been communicated to the 

AV. This delayed the animals’ access to appropriate and timely medical care. The abnormal behaviors expressed by Aries 

could have been associated with diet cuts or other medical concerns. The facility must ensure that a mechanism of direct 

and frequent communication is required so that timely and accurate information on problems of animal health, behavior, 

and well-being is conveyed to the attending veterinarian. 

Correct from this day forward.

2.131(b)(2)(ii) Critical
Handling of animals.
The diets of 9 dolphins at Dolphin Harbor were cut for the purpose of ensuring the animals performed for the guest 

interactions. The Assistant Director of Animal Training (ADAT) and the area supervisor for Dolphin Harbor (DH) created 

documents to track the weights and Body Blubber Index (BBI) for the 12 dolphins living at this location; these documents 

were sent for review by the Animal Care Specialists Manager (ACSM) who is not a veterinarian. After observing that 
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several dolphins were behaving abnormally and looked thin, the Director/Zoological Curator stepped in to increase the 

diets gradually by one pound of fish beginning mid-June. She was met with resistance from the ACSM and ADAT.  

Communications from the ACSM stated his concerns regarding the Program dolphins’ satiation and what would be the 

plan if the animals “dropped operation” as they had done before. Additionally, the ACSM referred to an incident with 

Cobalt, a male dolphin, that was triggered by his satiation. He insisted that he would not approve diet increases until the 

Director had provided him with the answers to these questions.

Furthermore, a review of trainer records noted that in many cases, the limited pounds of fish were only offered during the 

guest interactions and not during any training or husbandry sessions the animals participated in. All 9 animals decreased 

in weight over the course of two months – some of them significantly. On or about March 31st, multiple animals had their 

daily food intake markedly reduced. For example, on March 31st Aries was fed 12 pounds of fish for the day and on April 

1st, he was abruptly reduced to 3 pounds daily. He was slowly increased to 7 pounds daily where he remained until May 

4th when another incremental adjustment was made to 8.5 pounds. At that point, Aries’ weight had decreased by 29 

pounds in one month. Overall, he lost 63 pounds between April and June.

The food deprivation these dolphins were subjected to also led to increased incidents of unwanted behaviors such as 

splitting or breaking from sessions, swimming over ledges where guests may stand, sinking during line-ups and 

aggressing against trainers. For example, prior to the new company taking ownership of the facility, Calypso had an 

average 18 incidents of unwanted behavior during the months of January and February 2022. These ranged from sinking 

during the session, terminating behaviors, poor attention to swimming over the ledge at a trainer to bite a target pole. After 

the transition in March 2022, Calypso’s unwanted behaviors drastically increased to 38 separate incidents in the month of 

April. The severity and frequency of these behaviors increased; on April 1st, 6th, 13th, 14th, 17th, and 21st, Calypso 

mouthed at least one of her trainers. May 29th and June 16th, she repeated these behaviors.
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During the months of January 2022 and February 2022, Cobalt had virtually no aggressive incidents recorded on his 

training charts. Beginning end of March 2022, the incidents of inappropriate behaviors steadily increased. Cobalt began 

sinking during sessions and focusing on Star (a female dolphin). He routinely split from session and began swimming over 

to guests during an encounter. On March 26th, he open-mouthed a trainer’s foot during an interaction. On April 3rd, he sat 

up on the catwalk towards a trainer. On June 30th, he attempted to mouth a target pole several times. He then mouthed 

two trainers on July 4th.

During a land encounter on June 5th, Cayman exhibited poor control and refused primary reinforcement (fish). He 

attempted to mouth a trainer’s hand and pumped up at the trainer. On July 7th, during a training session, Cayman 

rammed a trainer in deep water. The 3-trainer team attempted multiple redirections to help the trainer in the water get out; 

however, Cayman ignored the recalls and mouthed the trainer several times while they swam to the stairs. The trainers 

gave him a break of about 10 minutes and then reattempted the training session. Cayman attempted to ram the ADAT in 

the water several times but never made contact. He ignored the ADAT’s attempt to regain control and fast swam over the 

ledge multiple times. The ADAT presented a plastic “aversion” shield to attempt to reestablish control, but Cayman 

showed no change in behavior.

Depriving these dolphins of their full dietary and nutrition requirements to ensure compliance during public encounters 

directly affected their health and well-being. The facility must provide each animal its full dietary requirements for each 

day. Deprivation of food or water shall not be used to train, work or otherwise handle animals.

Correct from this day forward. 

2.131(c)(1) Critical
Handling of animals.
A review of trainer records for the dolphins at Dolphin Harbor identified multiple aggressive incidents when a dolphin 

“mouthed” a member of the public during an in-water interaction. The records show that the animals exhibited warning 
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behaviors prior to mouthing such as sinking after performing behaviors, swimming over the ledge of the pools without 

specific direction to do so, fast swimming, terminating control (refusing to participate) during sessions, ignoring signals for

behaviors and splitting from the session. The facility staff elected to continue guest interactions with animals that were 

exhibiting aggressive warning behaviors. Examples are listed below:

• Calypso, an 8yr female dolphin, mouthed a guest on six different occasions during the months of April 2022 – July 2022. 

On April 1st, 2022, the trainer records noted that the trainers “worked through” the inappropriate behavior during that 

incident instead of stopping the session. 

• Cobalt, 12yr old male dolphin, mouth a guest on six different occasions during the months of April 2022 – July 2022. On 

June 6th, his fluke hit a guest during an encounter. On June 30th, Cobalt mouthed a guest twice on the hand during the 

third encounter of the day and was then used in another encounter later that day. Before all mouthing incidents, Cobalt 

exhibited warning behaviors such as splitting from control and swimming towards guests in deep water. Also, he would 

sink during sessions and watch guests underwater. Additionally, at the end of sessions, he would sink underwater and 

follow guests out of the pool. Since early April, his level of aggression during encounters has steadily increased – to the 

point where almost every day he terminates control from sessions. 

The facility failed to handle their animals in a manner that minimized the risk of harm to the public and continued guest 

interactions even when dolphins were demonstrating aggressive behaviors earlier in training sessions.  Mouthing any 

portion of an individual’s body (hand or foot) can be considered a precursor to more aggressive behaviors that ultimately 

may lead to serious injuries to the public. During public exhibition, any animal must be handled so there is minimal risk of 

harm to the animal and to the public. The facility’s guest interactions must assure the safety of the animals and the public.

Correct from this day forward.

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with several facility representatives.
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Additional Inspectors: 

Laurie Gage, Zoological Species Specialist 

Charles Palmer, VETERINARY MEDICAL OFFICER n
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Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 06-JUL-2022 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000020 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000002 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 
000009 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000013 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 

000044 Total
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RECIPIENT

             
             

November 1, 2023      NOTICE OF DEFAULT
              via electronic and certified mail

Mr. Eduardo Albor
President
The Dolphin Company
MS Leisure Company, Inc.
The Miami Seaquarium
4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33149

RE:  Notice of Default  

Dear Mr. Albor: 

As you are aware, the terms of the assigned and assumed “Amended and Restated Lease 
Between Miami-Dade County [the “County”] and Marine Exhibition Corporation, d/b/a The 
Miami Seaquarium dated July 25, 2000, as amended by a First Amendment dated 
November 16, 2001, a Second Amendment dated August 7, 2003, a Third Amendment 
dated September 9, 2022, and by three (3) Lease Extension Agreements dated July 7, 
2006, October 6, 2006, and March 9, 2020, respectively (collectively, the “Amended and 
Restated Lease Agreement”), set forth the obligations between the Seaquarium and the 
County, including the Seaquarium’s responsibilities regarding the health and welfare of 
the marine animals in its care.

Pursuant to the findings of the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”)’s
Inspection Report dated July 17, 2023, a copy of which is attached hereto, the County 
has determined that the Seaquarium is in violation of the terms of the Amended and 
Restated Lease Agreement as set forth at Section 11, Premises To Be Kept in Repair (as 
amended by the Third Amendment), and Section 29, Applicable Laws. 

Section 11, as amended, states in relevant part that “[d]uring the term of the Amended 
and Restated Lease, as same may be extended, Lessee and its Sublessee(s), as 
applicable, shall keep the Demised Premises and all improvements and personal property 
thereon, exclusive of animals, in a good state of repair and in a clean condition, subject 
to damage or destruction by fire or other elements, similar to other facilities maintained 
by Lessee and shall maintain animals in accordance with federal laws and regulations, 
including the Marine Mammal Protection Act and the Animal Welfare Act as applicable.” 

Section 29 states in its entirety that “[a]ll provisions of this Amended and Restated Lease 
are subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances and statutes and 
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Notice of Default 
The Dolphin Company/MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

November 1, 2023 
Page 2 of 2

the Amended and Restated Lease shall not be deemed to permit Lessee to violate the 
same or to limit Lessor’s authority to enforce same.” 

The USDA, through its Animal Inspection and Plant Health Inspection Service, has 
jurisdiction under the federal Animal Welfare Act concerning the humane handling, care, 
treatment, and transportation of marine mammals in captivity.  The USDA’s Inspection 
Report cites specific violations of the Code of Federal Regulations by the Seaquarium, 
which correspondingly are violations of the Seaquarium’s contractual obligations to 
maintain animals in accordance with federal laws and regulations and applicable law 
under Section 11 (as amended) and Section 29, respectively, of the Amended and 
Restated Lease Agreement. 

Therefore, in accordance with Section 16, Default, subsection A, General Provisions, of 
the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, we are issuing this Notice of Default (the 
“Notice”) to formally advise the Seaquarium of its failure to comply with applicable law 
and to secure immediate remediation of the violations cited in the USDA’s Inspection 
Report dated July 17, 2023, as well as to remind the Seaquarium of its contractual 
obligations in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated 
Lease Agreement.  

Please note that remediation of these violations is required within forty-five (45) days from 
receipt of this Notice.   The County retains the option to exercise all available remedies 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, 
and reserves all its rights under the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement. 

Please do not hesitate to contact me at (305) 755-5459 or via email at 
perry.perez@miamidade.gov with any questions you may have.  Thank you in advance 
for your immediate attention to this matter. 

Sincerely, 

Perry I. Perez 
Chief, Contracts & Procurement Division 

cc:  Jimmy Morales, Chief Operations Officer, Office of the Mayor 
  Johanna Cervone, Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 
  Rachel Johnson, Deputy Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 
  Maria I. Nardi, Director, PROS 
  Christina Salinas-Cotter, Assistant Director, PROS 
  Melanie Spencer, County Attorney’s Office 

encl:   USDA Inspection Report dated July 17, 2023  
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MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: ROUTINE INSPECTION 

Date: 17-JUL-2023 

2.40(a)(2) 
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
The facility failed to recognize veterinary authority. Records indicate that on numerous occasions, the attending 
veterinarian (AV) made the determination that certain actions needed to be taken, these determinations were not 
followed, or her authority was ignored.  
 
• On January 3,2023, after treatment for foreign body ingestion, the AV determined that the current enclosure was 
no longer suitable for the pacific white-sided dolphin “Elelo” and recommended that he be transferred to another facility. 
The transfer had not yet happened at the time of inspection.  
• On July 6, 2023, after noting continued foreign body ingestion by “Elelo”, the AV determined that the facility did not have
the equipment to keep this animal in the current pool as the pool needs to undergo a significant amount of maintenance 
and there is a repeat risk of foreign body ingestion. The AV stated that she contacted the administration to try and 
expedite the process and plan to ship the animal to another facility as mentioned six months earlier. 
• It was reported by several employees that a newly appointed corporate trainer, in charge of dolphin training, was 
instructing other employees not to contact the AV and undermining her authority, which created a very stressful 
environment. A Chain of Command chart was displayed in the trainer’s office at Top Deck. This chart showed him at the 
top of the chain and did not include the AV. When asked, he stated that he did not report to facility management but 
instead answered to two corporate personnel. Numerous other employees reached out anonymously but hesitated to give 
formal statements for fear of retaliation. 
 
Failure to ensure that the attending veterinarian has appropriate authority over the veterinary care of the animals can lead 
to unnecessary stress, discomfort, and suffering of the animals. 
 
Each dealer and exhibitor shall assure that the attending veterinarian has appropriate authority to ensure the provisions of 
adequate veterinary care and to oversee the adequacy of other aspects of animal care and use. To be corrected from this 
day, (date of finalized report), forward. 

2.40(b)(1) 
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
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The facility failed to provide proper equipment or services to ensure adequate veterinary care.  
• On July 5, 2023, the AV noted that the gastroscope was very outdated and not working properly. She recommended 
purchasing a new system. This was not yet approved at the time of inspection. 
• The facility does not own scales that can be routinely used at all enclosures. As a result, the three adult manatees held 
at the facility, have not been weighed in more than 5 years. 
 
Properly functioning equipment is necessary for diagnosing, treating and maintaining the health of the animal. Accurate 
weights are essential for dosing medications and providing adequate routine care. 
 
The facility shall ensure the availability of appropriate equipment and/or services to provide adequate veterinary care. To 
be corrected by August 25, 2023. 

2.131(c)(1) 
Handling of animals.
On March 19, 2023, a member of the public was bitten on the hand by “Gemini”, a dolphin housed at Dolphin Harbor, 
during a “Meet and Greet” interaction with another dolphin. “Gemini” broke from station and swam towards the group of 
guests as they had their hands on the surface of the water, waiting to touch the other dolphin as she swam by. As trainers 
instructed the guests to withdraw their limbs, “Gemini” popped up and grabbed one of the guest’s hand. The girl pulled her 
hand back with “Gemini’s” mouth still closed. “Gemini” let go but stayed in front of the guests as they stood up. 
 
Inadequate handling or control of animals during public interactions can lead to injury of the public and the animals. 
 
During public exhibition, any animal must be handled so there is minimal risk of harm to the animal and to the public. To 
be corrected from this day, (Date of finalized report), forward. 

3.101(a)(1) Repeat
Facilities, general.
The facility failed to maintain a marine mammal enclosure in good repair and protect the animals from injury. On January 
3, 2023, “Elelo”, a five-year-old pacific white-sided dolphin housed in Pompano pool 3, underwent a gastroscopy 
procedure to identify and remove foreign material from his digestive tract. The procedure successfully removed a plastic 
zip tie, a piece of broken plastic, and what was described as a large piece of cement. Zip ties are used to secure the 
fencing around the sides of the pool, the broken plastic was determined to likely be from a target pole, and divers noted 
that the floor of the pool has a layer of broken, flaking cement. On July 5, 2023, “Elelo” was once again suspected to have 
a foreign body. He was made to regurgitate, producing sand and glass filtration media. 
 
Enclosures that fall into states of disrepair may no longer be able to safely contain the animals and may produce foreign 
material which could be ingested and become injurious to the animals. 
 
Indoor and outdoor housing facilities for marine mammals must be structurally sound and must be maintained in good 
repair to protect the animals from injury. 
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3.103(b) 
Facilities, outdoor.
The facility failed to provide protection from the weather or direct sunlight. At Pompano Pool 1, housing an adult male 
manatee, records indicated the overhead tarp was removed for 10 days in March of 2023 and for an unspecified number 
of days in April of 2023. This left no natural or artificial shade to protect the animal from direct sunlight. 
 
Direct sunlight can adversely affect the animal’s health, especially skin and eye health. 
 
Natural or artificial shelter shall be provided for all marine mammals kept outdoors to afford them protection from the 
weather or from direct sunlight. Corrected by the time of inspection. 

3.108(a) 
Employees or attendants. 
The facility failed to maintain a sufficient number of adequately trained employees. The termination of employment of an 
associate veterinarian on March 27, 2023, resulted in a single veterinarian to care for the 46 marine mammals and 
hundreds of birds, fish, sharks and rays housed at the facility. As a result, all routine samples were placed on hold so that 
non-routine/unwell animals could be prioritized. By June 17, 2023, three veterinary technicians resigned leaving a single 
veterinarian and zero full time support staff. At the time of inspection, only one of four, open technician positions was filled
and two associate veterinarian positions remained vacant, resulting in the continued prioritization of sick and/or urgent 
cases until additional staff can be obtained. 
 
Insufficient staffing can result in poor husbandry practices and the inability of the veterinary team to provide routine care 
and maintenance of the animals. 
 
A sufficient number of adequately trained employees or attendants, responsible to management and working in concert 
with the attending veterinarian, must be utilized to maintain the prescribed level of husbandry practices. To be corrected 
by October 25, 2023. 

3.109 Critical
Separation.
On February 27, 2023, a CT scan conducted on “Bimini”, revealed the 23-year-old female dolphin, housed at Dolphin 
Harbor, had multiple bilateral rib fractures in various stages of healing. These injuries were incidental findings and 
determined to likely be caused by conspecific aggression. Once the injuries were known, the facility placed the animal in a 
safer group. Housing incompatible animals together can negatively impact their health and welfare and may cause 
serious injury and even death. Marine mammals must not be housed in the same enclosure nor be housed near other 
animals that cause them unreasonable stress, discomfort or interfere with their good health. Corrected by the time of 
inspection.  
 
“Romeo”, an adult male manatee has been housed alone in Pompano Pool 1 since the 3 juvenile manatees he was 
housed with were released back to the wild in the Spring of 2023. Although numerous attempts have been made to 
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acquire another manatee, it was determined that the facility did not yet meet the requirements to receive another animal. 

Manatees are semi-social animals and do better medically and psychologically when they are housed in pairs or groups. 
Marine mammals, whenever known to be primarily social in the wild, must be housed in their primary enclosure with at 
least one compatible animal of the same or biologically related species. To be completed in two phases; Phase 1: 
Develop a written plan approved by the attending veterinarian, developed in consultation with the husbandry/training staff, 
that includes the justification for the length of time the animal will be kept separated or isolated, information on the type 
and frequency of enrichment and interaction, if appropriate, and provisions for periodic review of the plan by the attending 
veterinarian. Phase 2: Implement the plan and return to compliance. Phase 1 to be corrected by August 8, 2023. Phase 2 
to be corrected by October 25, 2023. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with facility representatives. 

Additional Inspectors: 

KRISTIN NAPOLI, SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE SPECIALIST n
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 United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 17-Jul-2023 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 17-JUL-2023 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000013 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000020 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000003 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 
000002 Lagenorhynchus obliquidens PACIFIC WHITE-SIDED DOLPHIN 

000046 Total
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MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: ROUTINE INSPECTION 

Date: 17-JUL-2023 

2.40(a)(2) 
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
The facility failed to recognize veterinary authority. Records indicate that on numerous occasions, the attending 
veterinarian (AV) made the determination that certain actions needed to be taken, these determinations were not 
followed, or her authority was ignored.  
 
• On January 3,2023, after treatment for foreign body ingestion, the AV determined that the current enclosure was 
no longer suitable for the pacific white-sided dolphin “Elelo” and recommended that he be transferred to another facility. 
The transfer had not yet happened at the time of inspection.  
• On July 6, 2023, after noting continued foreign body ingestion by “Elelo”, the AV determined that the facility did not have
the equipment to keep this animal in the current pool as the pool needs to undergo a significant amount of maintenance 
and there is a repeat risk of foreign body ingestion. The AV stated that she contacted the administration to try and 
expedite the process and plan to ship the animal to another facility as mentioned six months earlier. 
• It was reported by several employees that a newly appointed corporate trainer, in charge of dolphin training, was 
instructing other employees not to contact the AV and undermining her authority, which created a very stressful 
environment. A Chain of Command chart was displayed in the trainer’s office at Top Deck. This chart showed him at the 
top of the chain and did not include the AV. When asked, he stated that he did not report to facility management but 
instead answered to two corporate personnel. Numerous other employees reached out anonymously but hesitated to give 
formal statements for fear of retaliation. 
 
Failure to ensure that the attending veterinarian has appropriate authority over the veterinary care of the animals can lead 
to unnecessary stress, discomfort, and suffering of the animals. 
 
Each dealer and exhibitor shall assure that the attending veterinarian has appropriate authority to ensure the provisions of 
adequate veterinary care and to oversee the adequacy of other aspects of animal care and use. To be corrected from this 
day, (date of finalized report), forward. 

2.40(b)(1) 
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
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The facility failed to provide proper equipment or services to ensure adequate veterinary care.  
• On July 5, 2023, the AV noted that the gastroscope was very outdated and not working properly. She recommended 
purchasing a new system. This was not yet approved at the time of inspection. 
• The facility does not own scales that can be routinely used at all enclosures. As a result, the three adult manatees held 
at the facility, have not been weighed in more than 5 years. 
 
Properly functioning equipment is necessary for diagnosing, treating and maintaining the health of the animal. Accurate 
weights are essential for dosing medications and providing adequate routine care. 
 
The facility shall ensure the availability of appropriate equipment and/or services to provide adequate veterinary care. To 
be corrected by August 25, 2023. 

2.131(c)(1) 
Handling of animals.
On March 19, 2023, a member of the public was bitten on the hand by “Gemini”, a dolphin housed at Dolphin Harbor, 
during a “Meet and Greet” interaction with another dolphin. “Gemini” broke from station and swam towards the group of 
guests as they had their hands on the surface of the water, waiting to touch the other dolphin as she swam by. As trainers 
instructed the guests to withdraw their limbs, “Gemini” popped up and grabbed one of the guest’s hand. The girl pulled her 
hand back with “Gemini’s” mouth still closed. “Gemini” let go but stayed in front of the guests as they stood up. 
 
Inadequate handling or control of animals during public interactions can lead to injury of the public and the animals. 
 
During public exhibition, any animal must be handled so there is minimal risk of harm to the animal and to the public. To 
be corrected from this day, (Date of finalized report), forward. 

3.101(a)(1) Repeat
Facilities, general.
The facility failed to maintain a marine mammal enclosure in good repair and protect the animals from injury. On January 
3, 2023, “Elelo”, a five-year-old pacific white-sided dolphin housed in Pompano pool 3, underwent a gastroscopy 
procedure to identify and remove foreign material from his digestive tract. The procedure successfully removed a plastic 
zip tie, a piece of broken plastic, and what was described as a large piece of cement. Zip ties are used to secure the 
fencing around the sides of the pool, the broken plastic was determined to likely be from a target pole, and divers noted 
that the floor of the pool has a layer of broken, flaking cement. On July 5, 2023, “Elelo” was once again suspected to have 
a foreign body. He was made to regurgitate, producing sand and glass filtration media. 
 
Enclosures that fall into states of disrepair may no longer be able to safely contain the animals and may produce foreign 
material which could be ingested and become injurious to the animals. 
 
Indoor and outdoor housing facilities for marine mammals must be structurally sound and must be maintained in good 
repair to protect the animals from injury. 
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3.103(b) 
Facilities, outdoor.
The facility failed to provide protection from the weather or direct sunlight. At Pompano Pool 1, housing an adult male 
manatee, records indicated the overhead tarp was removed for 10 days in March of 2023 and for an unspecified number 
of days in April of 2023. This left no natural or artificial shade to protect the animal from direct sunlight. 
 
Direct sunlight can adversely affect the animal’s health, especially skin and eye health. 
 
Natural or artificial shelter shall be provided for all marine mammals kept outdoors to afford them protection from the 
weather or from direct sunlight. Corrected by the time of inspection. 

3.108(a) 
Employees or attendants. 
The facility failed to maintain a sufficient number of adequately trained employees. The termination of employment of an 
associate veterinarian on March 27, 2023, resulted in a single veterinarian to care for the 46 marine mammals and 
hundreds of birds, fish, sharks and rays housed at the facility. As a result, all routine samples were placed on hold so that 
non-routine/unwell animals could be prioritized. By June 17, 2023, three veterinary technicians resigned leaving a single 
veterinarian and zero full time support staff. At the time of inspection, only one of four, open technician positions was filled
and two associate veterinarian positions remained vacant, resulting in the continued prioritization of sick and/or urgent 
cases until additional staff can be obtained. 
 
Insufficient staffing can result in poor husbandry practices and the inability of the veterinary team to provide routine care 
and maintenance of the animals. 
 
A sufficient number of adequately trained employees or attendants, responsible to management and working in concert 
with the attending veterinarian, must be utilized to maintain the prescribed level of husbandry practices. To be corrected 
by October 25, 2023. 

3.109 Critical
Separation.
On February 27, 2023, a CT scan conducted on “Bimini”, revealed the 23-year-old female dolphin, housed at Dolphin 
Harbor, had multiple bilateral rib fractures in various stages of healing. These injuries were incidental findings and 
determined to likely be caused by conspecific aggression. Once the injuries were known, the facility placed the animal in a 
safer group. Housing incompatible animals together can negatively impact their health and welfare and may cause 
serious injury and even death. Marine mammals must not be housed in the same enclosure nor be housed near other 
animals that cause them unreasonable stress, discomfort or interfere with their good health. Corrected by the time of 
inspection.  
 
“Romeo”, an adult male manatee has been housed alone in Pompano Pool 1 since the 3 juvenile manatees he was 
housed with were released back to the wild in the Spring of 2023. Although numerous attempts have been made to 
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acquire another manatee, it was determined that the facility did not yet meet the requirements to receive another animal. 

Manatees are semi-social animals and do better medically and psychologically when they are housed in pairs or groups. 
Marine mammals, whenever known to be primarily social in the wild, must be housed in their primary enclosure with at 
least one compatible animal of the same or biologically related species. To be completed in two phases; Phase 1: 
Develop a written plan approved by the attending veterinarian, developed in consultation with the husbandry/training staff, 
that includes the justification for the length of time the animal will be kept separated or isolated, information on the type 
and frequency of enrichment and interaction, if appropriate, and provisions for periodic review of the plan by the attending 
veterinarian. Phase 2: Implement the plan and return to compliance. Phase 1 to be corrected by August 8, 2023. Phase 2 
to be corrected by October 25, 2023. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with facility representatives. 

Additional Inspectors: 

KRISTIN NAPOLI, SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE SPECIALIST n
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 United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 17-Jul-2023 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 17-JUL-2023 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000013 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000020 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000003 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 
000002 Lagenorhynchus obliquidens PACIFIC WHITE-SIDED DOLPHIN 

000046 Total
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RECIPIENT

             
             

December 22, 2023      NOTICE OF DEFAULT
              via electronic and certified mail

Mr. Eduardo Albor
President
The Dolphin Company
MS Leisure Company, Inc.
The Miami Seaquarium
4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33149

RE:  Notice of Default:  1) USDA Focused Inspection Report (11/2/23)
2) RER Notices of Violation (multiple)
3) Late Payments (multiple)

Dear Mr. Albor: 

Please be advised that we are issuing this Notice of Default (the “Notice”) to formally 
advise the Seaquarium of its failure to comply with its contractual obligations as set forth
below, and to secure its immediate remediation of 1) the violations cited in the USDA’s 
Focused Inspection Report dated November 2, 2023; 2) the violations cited in RER’s 
Notices of Violation dated December 11, 2023 and December 13, 2023; and 3) 
compliance with its rental payment obligations as set forth Section 6, Rent, of the 
Amended and Restated Lease Agreement.  

Remediation of these violations is required within forty-five (45) days from receipt of this 
Notice.  In the event of non-compliance, the County retains the right to exercise all 
available remedies pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated 
Lease Agreement, and will take all necessary steps to seek termination of same. 

The terms of the assigned and assumed “Amended and Restated Lease Between Miami-
Dade County [the “County”] and Marine Exhibition Corporation, d/b/a The Miami 
Seaquarium dated July 25, 2000, as amended by a First Amendment dated November 
16, 2001, a Second Amendment dated August 7, 2003, a Third Amendment dated 
September 9, 2022, and by three (3) Lease Extension Agreements dated July 7, 2006, 
October 6, 2006, and March 9, 2020, respectively (collectively, the “Amended and 
Restated Lease Agreement”), set forth the obligations between the Seaquarium and the 
County, including: 1) the Seaquarium’s responsibilities regarding the health and welfare 
of the marine animals in its care; 2) the Seaquarium’s responsibility to keep the premises 
in a good state of repair; and 3) the Seaquarium’s responsibility to timely make its monthly 

miamidade.gov

Parks, Recreation and Open Spaces
275 NW 2nd Street

Miami, Florida 33128
T 305-755-7800

Every Great Community has
a Great Park System.

2013 Governor’ Sustained
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rental payments.  The details of the Seaquarium’s violations of the above obligations are 
as set forth below: 

1) USDA Focused Inspection Report (11/2/23)
Pursuant to the findings of the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”)’s 
Focused Inspection Report of November 2, 2023, a copy of which is attached hereto, 
the County has determined that the Seaquarium is in violation of the terms of the 
Amended and Restated Lease Agreement as set forth at Section 11, Premises To Be 
Kept in Repair (as amended by the Third Amendment), and Section 29, Applicable 
Laws. 

Section 11, as amended, states in relevant part that “[d]uring the term of the Amended 
and Restated Lease, as same may be extended, Lessee and its Sublessee(s), as 
applicable, shall keep the Demised Premises and all improvements and personal 
property thereon, exclusive of animals, in a good state of repair and in a clean 
condition, subject to damage or destruction by fire or other elements, similar to other 
facilities maintained by Lessee and shall maintain animals in accordance with federal 
laws and regulations, including the Marine Mammal Protection Act and the Animal 
Welfare Act as applicable.” 

Section 29 states in its entirety that “[a]ll provisions of this Amended and Restated 
Lease are subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances and 
statutes and the Amended and Restated Lease shall not be deemed to permit Lessee 
to violate the same or to limit Lessor’s authority to enforce same.” 

The USDA, through its Animal Inspection and Plant Health Inspection Service, has 
jurisdiction under the federal Animal Welfare Act concerning the humane handling, 
care, treatment, and transportation of marine mammals in captivity.  The USDA’s 
Focused Inspection Report specifically cites violation of Section 3.108(a) the Code of 
Federal Regulations by the Seaquarium, which correspondingly is a violation of the 
Seaquarium’s contractual obligations to maintain animals in accordance with federal 
laws and regulations and applicable law under Section 11 (as amended) and Section 
29, respectively, of the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement as detailed above. 

2) RER Notices of Violation (multiple)
Pursuant to the findings of the Miami-Dade County Department of Regulatory and 
Economic Resources (“RER”) as enumerated in its Notices of Violation dated 
December 11, 2023 and December 13, 2023, copies of which are attached hereto, the 
County has determined that the Seaquarium is in violation of the terms of the 
Amended and Restated Lease Agreement as set forth at Section 11, Premises To Be 
Kept in Repair (as amended by the Third Amendment), and Section 29, Applicable 
Laws. 
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Section 11, as amended, states in relevant part that “[d]uring the term of the Amended 
and Restated Lease, as same may be extended, Lessee and its Sublessee(s), as 
applicable, shall keep the Demised Premises and all improvements and personal 
property thereon, exclusive of animals, in a good state of repair and in a clean 
condition, subject to damage or destruction by fire or other elements, similar to other 
facilities maintained by Lessee and shall maintain animals in accordance with federal 
laws and regulations, including the Marine Mammal Protection Act and the Animal 
Welfare Act as applicable.” 

Section 29 states in its entirety that “[a]ll provisions of this Amended and Restated 
Lease are subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances and 
statutes and the Amended and Restated Lease shall not be deemed to permit Lessee 
to violate the same or to limit Lessor’s authority to enforce same.” 

RER’s Notices of Violation cite multiple violations of Section 8-5 of the Code of Miami-
Dade County and the Florida Building Code by the Seaquarium, which 
correspondingly are violations of the Seaquarium’s contractual obligations to maintain 
animals in accordance with federal laws and regulations and applicable law and to 
maintain the Demised Premises in a good state of repair, as set forth under Section 
11 (as amended) and Section 29, respectively, of the Amended and Restated Lease 
Agreement as detailed above.  A copy of RER’s aerial map noting the locations of 
these violations is also attached hereto. 

3) Late Payments (multiple)
As of this writing, according to our records, the Seaquarium is in arrears to the County 
in the minimum amount of $87,916.66, representing the past due November 2023 
base rent payment plus applicable sales tax, which was due and owing to the County 
on December 15, 2023.  The methodology utilized for the calculation of payments 
owed by the Seaquarium to the County is set forth in the Amended and Restated 
Lease Agreement at Section 6, Rent.  Please also note that this amount is in addition 
to Seaquarium’s past due October 2023 rent payment which was due on November 
15, 2023, and for which the County is still awaiting payment, as noted in the County’s 
prior Notice of Non-Compliance dated November 17, 2023, a copy of which is attached 
hereto. 

Our calculations are based on the obligations set forth in the Amended and Restated 
Lease Agreement, as follows: 

x Section 6, Rent, subsection A, Annual Rent, subsubsection (1) Guaranteed Rent, 
“[t]he Guaranteed Rent shall be One Million Dollars ($1,000,000).” 

x Section 6, Rent, subsection A, Annual Rent, subsubsection (4), Monthly 
Calculation of Guaranteed Rent and Percentage Rent, which states in relevant part 
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that “[m]onthly payment of Annual Rent shall be…made no later than the fifteenth 
day of the calendar month following the applicable Fiscal Month” and that 
“Guaranteed Rent Shall be paid in twelve (12) equal monthly installments of the 
Guaranteed Rent amount for each Lease Year.” 
 

x Calculation of the twelve (12) equal monthly installments of the Guaranteed Rent 
yields a monthly installment amount of $83,333.3333 ($1,000,000 / 12).  This 
monthly amount is subject to applicable sales tax as noted above. 

Again, we emphasize that remediation of these violations is required within forty-five (45) 
days from receipt of this Notice, and that in the event of non-compliance, the County 
retains the right to exercise all available remedies pursuant to the terms and conditions 
of the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, and will take all necessary steps to seek 
termination of same. 

Please do not hesitate to contact me at (305) 755-5459 or via email at 
perry.perez@miamidade.gov with any questions you may have.  Thank you in advance 
for your immediate attention to this matter. 

Sincerely, 

Perry I. Perez 
Chief, Contracts & Procurement Division 

cc:  Jimmy Morales, Chief Operations Officer, Office of the Mayor 
  Johanna Cervone, Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 
  Rachel Johnson, Deputy Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 
  Maria I. Nardi, Director, PROS 
  Christina Salinas-Cotter, Assistant Director, PROS 
  Melanie Spencer, County Attorney’s Office 
  Erik Austin, Special Projects Administrator, PROS 

encl:   USDA’s Focused Inspection Report dated November 2, 2023 
  RER’s Notices of Violation dated December 11, 2023 and December 13, 2023 
  RER’s Seaquarium Aerial Map dated December 5, 2023 
  Miami-Dade County’s Notice of Non-Compliance dated November 17, 2023  
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MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: FOCUSED INSPECTION 

Date: 02-NOV-2023 

3.108(a) 
Employees or attendants.
At the time of inspection, the facility still lacks a sufficient number of adequately trained employees. The resignation of the
only veterinary technician has left two veterinarians responsible for the care of 46 marine mammals, hundreds of birds, 
fish, sharks, and rays housed at the facility. Consequently, there is no full-time support staff available. At the time of 
inspection, none of the open veterinary technician positions had been filled. The veterinarians are still unable to perform 
routine/preventive exams and continue to prioritize sick and urgent cases until additional staff can be hired. Insufficient 
staffing can lead to poor husbandry practices and hinder the veterinary staff’s ability to provide routine care and 
maintenance for the animals. 
 
A sufficient number of adequately trained employees or attendants, responsible to management and working in concert 
with the attending veterinarian, must be utilized to maintain the prescribed level of husbandry practices. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with several facility representatives. 

Additional Inspectors: 

Charles Palmer, VETERINARY MEDICAL OFFICER n
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 United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 02-Nov-2023 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 02-NOV-2023 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000001 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000003 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 

000004 Total
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OFFICE OF THE MAYOR
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

STEPHEN P. CLARK CENTER  •  111 N.W. FIRST STREET  •  29TH FLOOR  •  MIAMI, FLORIDA 33128-1930  • (305) 375-1880  •  (305) 375-2099

via electronic and certified mail

March 7, 2024

Mr. Eduardo Albor
President
The Dolphin Company
MS Leisure Company, Inc.
The Miami Seaquarium
4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33149

RE: Notice of Termination of Lease and Additional Notice of Defaults
Property Address:  4400 Rickenbacker Causeway, Key Biscayne, Florida 33149
Folio No.:  30-4220-000-0010 (the “Property”)

Dear Mr. Albor:

This Notice of Termination serves to notify MS Leisure Company, Inc. (“Lessee”) of Miami-
Dade County’s (“Lessor”) decision to terminate the Lease as a result of Lessee’s numerous 
and significant violations and defaults of the assigned and assumed “Amended and Restated 
Lease Between Miami-Dade County and Marine Exhibition Corporation, d/b/a The Miami 
Seaquarium” dated July 25, 2000, as amended by a First Amendment dated November 16, 
2001, a Second Amendment dated August 7, 2003, a Third Amendment dated September 9, 
2022, and by three (3) Lease Extension Agreements dated July 7, 2006, October 6, 2006, and 
March 9, 2020, respectively (collectively, the “Amended and Restated Lease Agreement” or 
“Lease”).

Lessee’s long and troubling history of violations constitute repeated, continuous and 
longstanding violations of Lessee’s contractual obligations to keep the Property in a good state 
of repair, maintain animals in accordance with applicable law, and comply with all laws as set 
forth in Section 11 (as amended) and Section 29 of the Amended and Restated Lease
Agreement. 

I. DEFAULTS AND NOTIFICATIONS OF DEFAULTS BY LESSOR

Although Lessor herein details Lessee’s extensive history of defaults, each and every material 
default constitutes an independent basis on which Lessor seeks to terminate the Lease. 
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STEPHEN P. CLARK CENTER  •  111 N.W. FIRST STREET  •  29TH FLOOR  •  MIAMI, FLORIDA 33128-1930  • (305) 375-1880  •  (305) 375-1262 

As a consequence of these violations and defaults of the Lessee’s obligations, this letter serves 
to notify Lessee of Miami-Dade County’s decision to terminate the Lease. Commensurate with 
this Notice of Termination we hereby demand that Lessee vacate and surrender the Property 
by April 21, 2024 (“Date of Termination”).

a. Maintenance of Animals

First, the Lease requires MS Leisure Company, Inc. to “maintain animals in accordance with 
federal laws and regulations, including the Marine Mammal Protection Act and the Animal 
Welfare Act as applicable.” See Section 11. Additionally, the Lessee is required to comply with 
“all applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances and statutes.” See Section 29.    

On November 28, 2022, Lessor issued a Notice of Non-Compliance related to MS Leisure 
Company Inc.’s failure to comply with applicable law in accordance with Section 29 of the 
Lease.  The default was a result of several violations found related to animal care by the United 
States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”).  Another Notice of Default was issued on 
November 1, 2023, for violations of Sections 11 and 29 of the Lease again as related to failure 
to comply with applicable law as related to animal care. Again, on December 22, 2023, Lessor 
sent a Notice of Default for violations of Section 11 and 29 of the Lease as related to animal 
care.

These Notices were the result of the Lessee failing to provide for the safe and adequate 
maintenance of the animals in its care in violation of applicable federal law on countless 
occasions, as set forth in the alarming observations and conclusions documented by the USDA 
in its many reports. For example, between July 6, 2022, and January 9, 2024, Lessee has been 
cited by the USDA seven times for failing to adequately maintain facilities, seven times related 
to inadequate veterinary care, two times for inadequate handling of animals (in one instance 
resulting in a patron being bitten during a dolphin encounter), three times for failure to maintain 
outdoor facilities, three times for failing to have adequate staff, two times for failure to maintain 
indoor facilities, and three times for inadequate water quality. These continuous, repeated and 
ongoing violations represent not just a default under the terms of the Lease that requires 
termination, but a complete disregard for the safety of the animals housed on the premises.   

b. Maintenance of the Premises 

Second, the Lease requires MS Leisure Company, Inc. to “keep the Demised Premises and 
all improvements and personal property thereon … in a good state of repair and in a clean 
condition … similar to other facilities maintained by Lessee”. See Section 11. Additionally, as 
previously noted, the Lessee is required to comply with “all applicable laws, rules, regulations, 
ordinances and statutes”. See Section 29.    

On December 22, 2023, Lessor issued a Notice of Default related to Lessee’s violation of the 
Miami-Dade County Building Code (Case No. 20240226206). The Property has been the 
subject of numerous Notices of Violations issued by the Building Official finding that structures 
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on the Property are unsafe and structurally deficient. Specifically, on December 13, 2023, 
Lessee and Lessor were notified of several violations on numerous structures, including failure 
to maintain Flipper Stadium, failure to maintain Manatee Tank Area, and failure to maintain 
Dolphin Stadium, among other things. These violations represent Lessee’s failure and refusal 
to maintain the Property and its improvements in a good state of repair. 

Additionally, the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) inspected the Property and 
noted the Property’s structural deficiencies posed serious risks to the animals. As noted above, 
on November 1, 2023, Lessor provided Notice of Default for Lessee’s violations of Sections 11 
and 29 of the Lease because, among other things, the USDA’s July 17, 2023 inspection found 
that Lessee “failed to maintain marine mammal enclosure in good repair and protect the 
animals from injury.”  
 

II. ADDITIONAL NOTICE OF DEFAULTS 

 Additionally, the Lessor hereby provides notice of the following defaults that were not 
the subject of prior Notices to Lessee:  
 

x Lessee has been the subject of numerous Notices of Violations issued by the Building 
Official dating as far back as 2022 finding that structures on the Property are unsafe and 
structurally deficient, including the Whale Bowl (Case No. 20210211387-U), the  Golden 
Dome (Case No. 20210211348-U), and Corridor A (20230218376-U), and Building U 
(Case No. 20240226206). Lessee is currently in noncompliance with the Building 
Official’s safety requirements on these three (3) Unsafe Structures Cases (Whale Bowl, 
Golden Dome, and Corridor A). 

 
x On several occasions the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) inspected 

the Property and noted the structural deficiencies that posed serious risks to the animals. 
For example, on November 28, 2023, USDA reported the deficient condition of the 
penguin building, parrot trailer, dolphin pools, sea lion holding, and perimeter fencing. 
On November 14, 2023, USDA reported the deficient condition of the Golden Dome 
stadium, sealion housing and perimeter fencing. On October 16, 2023, USDA reported 
the deficient condition of the parrot trailer, dolphin pools, perimeter fencing, penguin 
building, flamingo enclosure, and Tropical Wings building. The USDA’s reports describe 
the deficient and dangerous conditions that Lessee has allowed to persist on the 
Property, which in many instances has resulted in injury to the animals and the animals’ 
ingestion of foreign materials degrading from the poorly maintained Property 
improvements.  

x According to our records, as of this writing, the Seaquarium has not submitted its 
evidence of certifications with the Alliance of Marine Mammal Parks and Aquariums 
(“AMMPA”) and the American Humane Association (or similar third-party validated 
program). The Seaquarium must also commit to using reasonable efforts to seek 
Association of Zoos & Aquariums (“AZA”) accreditation, in accordance with Section 5 of 
the Third Amendment adding new Amended and Restated Lease Agreement Section 
27, subsection R, Certifications.  
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x The Seaquarium has not submitted to the County its annual report on the 
implementation of conservation and education programs, and awareness campaigns for 
the community, including the development of a classroom curriculum for routine and 
periodic instruction and education to the public and students that incorporates 
environmental protection, science conservation, and other educational programs. Such 
programming shall also include programming for neurodivergent children and adults, in 
accordance with Section 5 of the Third Amendment adding new Amended and Restated 
Lease Agreement Section 27, subsection S, Conservation, Educational, and 
Environmental Awareness Programs.  

III. TERMINATION

Accordingly, Lessor hereby provides this Notice of Termination and Notice of Default in 
accordance with Section 16, Default, due to Lessee’s ongoing failure to timely cure its non-
monetary default under the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, despite being afforded 
such additional time as was reasonably necessary to cure any curable events of default.    

Please sign and date indicated below, acknowledging that Lessee will surrender and 
deliver possession of the Property back to the Lessor effective no later than April 21, 
2024, and return this signed and dated document by March 11, 2024 via certified 
mail.  Please be advised that should Lessee fail to sign and return this document to 
Lessor on or before March 11, 2024, Lessor shall avail itself of any and all legal means 
to enforce its rights and remedies.  

The Lessor reserves all of its rights under the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement at law 
and in equity and nothing herein waives or shall be deemed to waive those rights. Lessor 
specifically reserves all rights to pursue termination on the basis of any defaults specified herein 
or any other defaults that merit termination.

Should you have any questions regarding this matter, please contact me at: (305)375-2448, or 
by email at: jimmy.morales2@miamidade.gov . 

Thank you for your time and attention to this matter.

Sincerely,  

 c:     Geri Bonzon-Keenan, County Attorney
Maria Nardi, Director, Parks, Recreation and Open Spaces

Certified Mail Number: 70001670000482035469
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Acknowledgment of termination and surrender of possession:  
 
 

By: ____________________________________   
 

Dated:___________________________  
 

Name and position: ____________________________  
 
 

Witnesses:  
 

Name: ______________________________  
 

Name:______________________________  
 

 Signature:___________________________   
 

Signature:_______________________________  
 

____________________________________________________________________  
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Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
OFFICER 
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MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: ROUTINE INSPECTION 

Date: 28-NOV-2023 

3.150(a) Repeat
Facilities, general.
**The penguin building, and indoor enclosure have multiple problems that require attention. The metal frame around the 
glass, both on the outside and inside of the door, is rusted and breaking off, causing sharp edges that could pose a 
hazard to the penguins. Inside the enclosure, there are several areas where paint is peeling away from the walls and 
ceiling, and sections of the drywall are breaking off in different corners near the water feature and rock outcrops. Rust 
marks are running down the walls from rusty screws, and the main door frame is also rusted all the way around. This 
indoor area has multiple issues that need prompt addressing and maintenance for the safety of the penguins.  
 
**In the remaining parrot trailer in use, there are still areas of the wall behind one of the cages that are damaged from a 
parrot chewing through the metal bars, and strips of paint are peeling off the ceiling. Staff stated that cages are usually 
pulled away from the wall to prevent this from happening. Allowing access to surfaces and materials that are not safe or 
appropriate for birds to chew or ingest can lead to illness or injury. All housing facilities for birds must be designed and 
constructed to be structurally sound for the species housed in them. Additionally, al l housing facilities for birds must be 
kept in good repair and protect the birds from injury. 

2.40(b)(1) Critical Repeat
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
**At the time of the inspection, Clarity, the manatee, showed evidence of a progressive skin condition. She is currently 
covered with a thick layer of algae and has patchy white discolorations around her nostrils, mouth, and face, extending to 
the axillary region, both front flippers, with numerous large white patchy lesions on the ventral abdomen. According to the 
care staff and AV, these white patches have grown in size and spread over the last several weeks. Due to a lack of 
appropriate facilities and the inability to drop the pool, coupled with the absence of necessary equipment, the AV has 
been unable to thoroughly examine Clarity. A comprehensive examination is essential for diagnosis and to formulate a 
treatment plan. The lack of appropriate facilities and equipment is affecting the AV’s ability to provide proper care for this 
animal. Although the facility has arranged for Clarity to be moved to another facility capable of ensuring care, all pre-
shipment bloodwork expense were covered by the receiving facility. This facility needs to meet the requirements o f this 
subpart to ensure the attending veterinarian has the necessary equipment and facilities to conduct the diagnostics 
required for an appropriate treatment plan for all animals in need of veterinary attention.  
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**The attending veterinarian has concerns that several dolphins (Ripley, Panama, Onyx, and Sundance) are showing 
signs of gastric distress and abnormal samples from these animals continue to be found. Ripley is known to consume and 
regurgitate non-food items. The AV suspects that several dolphins may have ulcers and possibly foreign bodies, 
necessitating an endoscope for confirmation of diagnosis and to proceed with a more targeted treatment plan.  
 
To ensure adequate veterinary care, the AV will require appropriate facilities, personnel, equipment, and services deemed 
necessary to perform the diagnostic tests essential for proper diagnosis and treatment, aligning with subpart sub part E 
3.110 (f). At the time of inspection, the facility still has not acquired an endoscope.  

3.101(a) Repeat
Facilities, general. 
**Two dolphin pools in Dolphin Harbor are in disrepair. The medical pool has a section of concrete near the slide -out that 
is broken, causing rough edges that could potentially injure the dolphins in that pool. Additionally, the steps in pool A are 
also in similar disrepair, with sections of concrete missing, and needs to be repaired. A facility work order for both these 
areas was submitted on August 21, 2023, but neither area has been addressed and there is no timeline stating when they 
will be fixed. Enclosures must be maintained in good repair for the safety of the animals and the facility needs to make 
corrective actions in a timely manner once work orders are submitted to ensure the safety of the marine mammals.  
 
**In sea lion holding, a metal grate that covers a pit, which is an access point to the filtration system, was not secured 
after recent work and the inspector noted the grate was slightly shifted. This grate, if left unsecured, can be a potential 
hazard to the sea lions in the holding as they can easily move the metal grate giving them access to the pit and 
equipment, which could cause injury to the animals. This grate needs to be secured after every time it is opened for the 
safety of the animals. 

3.103(c) Repeat
Facilities, outdoor. 
**The facility’s perimeter fence has multiple areas that require attention due to disrepair. On the bay side, several support
beams were rusted at the base to the point the were no longer connected to the concrete, making it easy to move the 
fencing significantly when pushed. These areas need prompt attention to maintain the structural integrity of the fencing in 
this section.  
 
**The perimeter fencing along the east side of the facility had several sections where razor wire was hanging down low 
over the fence, posing a potential hazard and affecting the strength of the barbed wire that ensures the fencing is 6 feet 
high. Defects in the perimeter fence can allow animals and unauthorized people to enter and exit the area, gaining access 
to the animals at the facility. Stay cats were observed entering the facility, and a few employees mentioned seeing foxes 
on the grounds. Perimeter fencing must be regularly checked and maintained to ensure it protects marine mammals by 
restricting animals and unauthorized persons from having contact with the marine mammals.  

3.106(b)(1) 
Water quality.
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From the last week in October throughout all of November, the coliform counts for sea lion holding GD 4 have been 
excessively high, well over 1,000 Most Probable Number (MPN). While the pool was dropped and cleaned a few times 
during that time, there were periods of time where the total coliform counts were excessively high without mitigation, the 
longest being over one week, from November 1 - 7. Coliform counts were documented below: 
25Oct23- >24,190.6 MPN 
01Nov23- 9,200.8 MPN.  
02Nov23->24,190.6 MPN 
03Nov23->24,190.6 MPN 
06Nov23->24,190.6 MPN 
14Nov23 - 17,320.9 MPN.  
17Nov23- 3,070.6 MPN.  
20Nov23- >24,190.6 MPN 
24Nov23- >24,190.6 MPN 
28Nov23- 6,860.7 MPN 
 
High counts of coliform bacteria in the environments of marine mammals pose a risk to the health of these animals. The 
facility must maintain water quality which is not detrimental to the health and the well -being of the animals and must 
ensure that appropriate and effective corrective and preventive actions are taken when high coliform counts, or other 
water quality concerns are detected. 
Correct by: Dec 13, 2023 

3.108(a) Repeat
Employees or attendants.
The facility continues to have an inadequate number of trained employees in the Veterinary Care department. Currently a 
single veterinarian is employed to care for the 46 marine mammals, 50 birds, and hundreds of fish, sharks and rays 
housed at the facility. Without veterinary technicians, the veterinarian has had to postpone routine physical exams since 
March, to allow for the continued prioritization of sick and/or urgent cases until additional staff can be hired. Insufficient 
staffing can lead to poor husbandry practices and hinder the veterinary staff’s ability to provide routine care and 
maintenance for the animals. A sufficient number of adequately trained employees or attendants, responsible to 
management and working in concert with the attending veterinarian, must be utilized to maintain the prescribed level of 
husbandry practices. 

3.150(c)(2) Repeat
Facilities, general.
In the Tropical Wings section, there are still multiple indoor and outdoor metal enclosures that showed evidence of 
excessive rust. There are areas of bubbling and flaking paint due to rust and areas where the metal is rusted through. 
Excessive rust can compromise structural strength, present roughened and jagged surfaces where it is possible for the 
birds to injure themselves and prevent proper cleaning and sanitization of a surface. Any surfac es that come in contact 
with the birds must be free of rust or damage that affects the structural integrity of the surface or prevents cleaning.  

3.151(b) Repeat
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Facilities, indoor 
*The ventilation problem within the penguin indoor enclosure, housing 9 penguins, has not been addressed since the last 
inspection. There is still an excessive accumulation of moisture condensation on the ceiling, leading to numerous spots of 
black mold growth and areas of bubbling and peeling paint that are still visibly hanging down into the enclosure.  
 
*The air filter in the ventilation duct for the penguin enclosure was removed in August and has not been replaced. 
Consequently, there is excess dust and debris blowing directly into the exhibit area. A mechanism is required to reduce 
the amount of aerosolized debris entering the enclosure.  
 
*While one of the bird trailers is in the process of being refurbished, the remaining trailer housing several parrots still has 
a strong noxious odor permeating the air. This odor is consistently present, and no windows were open at the time of the 
inspection to aid in air flow. The facility has placed two air purifiers in this area; however, there is still insufficient 
ventilation.  
 
Mold, mildew, poor air quality, and noxious odors can cause illness in birds. Indoor housing facilities must be sufficiently 
and consistently ventilated when birds are present to ensure their health, to prevent discomfort or distress, and minimize 
accumulations of moisture condensation, odors, and levels of ammonia, chlorine, and other noxious gases. 

3.152(b) 
Facilities, outdoor
There is no shelter from inclement weather in the flamingo yard. This yard houses 29 flamingos and is a large area 
located near the entrance of the park. Storms and high wind events are a frequent occurrence in this area. Outdoor 
housing facilities must provide adequate shelter that is adequately ventilated in hot weather and that is large enough to 
comfortably contain all the birds to prevent discomfort from direct sunlight, and offer effective protection from excessive 
rain, hail, or wind. This needs to be corrected for the welfare of the birds.  
Correct by February 5, 2024. 

3.153(a)(2) 
Primary enclosures.
In the Tropical Wings section for the parrots, most of the perching needs to be replaced. Many of the wood perches have 
been chewed excessively shortening their length and limiting the parrot’s movement around the area. Some of the 
perches have been stripped and are so smooth that there is less grip for the birds as they move around. Perches that 
enrich a bird’s environment must be maintained in good condition. A sufficient number of perches must be available that 
vary in size, shape, strength, texture and placement to comfortably hold all the birds. The manager for the area states that 
she has tried unsuccessfully to order additional enrichment and perching for these birds. The perching for these birds 
needs to be addressed for their psychological and physiological well -being.  
Correct by January 10,2024. 

3.154(c)(2) 
Environment enhancement to promote psychological well -being. 
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The facility has created an avian enrichment plan, but the plan does not consider the special needs of the birds that show 
signs of being in psychological distress through behavior or appearance. The facility houses a bonded pair of macaws 
that has feather plucked each other extensively and a third parrot that has self-plucked and is housed alone. These birds 
have been identified but their additional enrichment needs have not been documented. This needs to be addressed for 
their psychological wellbeing.  
Correct by: Dec 16, 2023 

3.157(a)(2) Repeat
Water quality.
* In the enclosure housing 29 flamingos, there is still an area of poor drainage along the water feature where the ground 
has eroded. There is also a trough that is part of the cement pond that does not connect to a functional drain. The staff 
has started to add material to the area to reduce the amount of water but at the time of the inspection, this project was not 
completed, and the size of this area is large. Stagnant water can attract pests, produce noxious odors, and could lead to 
disease or illness in the animals.  
 
*The coliform counts in flamingo pools have been well over 1,00 MPN for the month of November and are a current 
concern by the AV. She has stated that she wants the coliform counts to be within industry standards for the birds which 
is at or below 1,000 MPN. Counts documented:  
01Nov23- >24,190.6 MPN 
08Nov23- >24,190.6 MPN 
14Nov23- >24,190.6 MPN 
24Nov23- >24,190.6 MPN 
 
Pools or other aquatic areas without drainage systems must be aerated and have an incoming low of fresh water or be 
managed in a manner that maintains appropriate water quality in accordance with current professionally accepted 
standards appropriate for the species. 

3.159 
Employees
Based on the number of non-compliant items identified in this report, this facility does not have enough adequately trained 
employees that can maintain the professional acceptable level of husbandry and handling practices for the animals in 
their collection. Extensive maintenance is required for all bird areas to maintain enclosures in good repair for the safety 
and health of the birds.  
Correct by January 10, 2024. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with facility representatives.  
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Additional Inspectors: 

Laurie Gage, Field Zoological Species Specialist  

ANDREA D AMBROSIO, ANIMAL CARE INSPECTOR n
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 United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 28-Nov-2023 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 28-NOV-2023 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000013 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000019 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000003 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 
000009 Spheniscus demersus AFRICAN PENGUIN / CAPE PENGUIN 
000029 Phoenicopterus ruber AMERICAN FLAMINGO 
000004 Ara chloropterus RED-AND-GREEN MACAW / GREEN-WINGED MACAW 
000002 Ara macao SCARLET MACAW 
000001 Ara militaris MILITARY MACAW 
000005 Ara ararauna BLUE-AND-YELLOW MACAW / BLUE-AND-GOLD MACAW 

000001
Ara, Anodorhynchus, Primolius, Diopsittaca 
spp hybrid MACAW HYBRID

000002 Amazona autumnalis RED-LORED PARROT / RED-LORED AMAZON 

000001 Cacatua galerita SULPHUR-CRESTED COCKATOO / GREATER SULPHUR-
CRESTED COCKATOO 

000003 Cacatua alba WHITE COCKATOO / UMBRELLA COCKATOO 
000001 Cacatua moluccensis SALMON-CRESTED COCKATOO / MOLUCCAN COCKATOO 
000001 Psittacus erithacus CONGO AFRICAN GREY PARROT / GRAY PARROT 

000102 Total

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. K 0012
Case 25-10606-LSS    Doc 357-11    Filed 07/17/25    Page 13 of 72





 United States Department of Agriculture KPRICE 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000915349 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: KATIE PRICE Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 09-JAN-2024 

Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
OFFICER 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
09-JAN-2024 

Page 1 of 5 

MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: ROUTINE INSPECTION 

Date: 16-OCT-2023 

3.150(a) 
Facilities, general.
In the trailer that provides indoor housing for 11 parrots, there are two areas of wall behind one of the cages that are 
damaged from a parrot chewing on it through the metal bars. Staff stated that cages are usually pulled away from the wall 
to prevent this from happening.  
Allowing access to surfaces and materials that are not safe or appropriate for birds to chew or ingest can lead to illness or 
injury. All housing facilities for birds must be designed and constructed so that they are structurally sound for the species 
of bird housed in them. All housing facilities for birds must be kept in good repair and protect the birds from injury.  
To be corrected by November 1, 2023. 

2.40(a)(2) Direct Repeat
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors). 
The facility failed to assure the attending veterinarian had appropriate authority. Records indicate that on numerous 
occasions, the attending veterinarian (AV) made the determination that certain actions needed to be taken, however the 
facility did not follow through with these actions.  
- On 9/26/23, the medical record for “Sushi”, an adult female California sealion, stated that she had been holding her right 
eye closed and rubbing both eyes. The veterinary plan in the record involved stressing the importance of getting her 
cataract surgery scheduled soon with an external specialist; however, the facility did not take initial steps to schedule the 
procedure. On 9/28/23, the medical record stated that “Sushi” was slow to eat and the plan again stressed the importance 
of scheduling cataract surgery. Starting on 10/11/23, “Sushi” began variably refusing food. By 10/15/23 and throughout 
the 3-day USDA inspection, she was completely refusing food, due to eye pain, per the medical records. At the time of 
inspection, cataract surgery still has not been scheduled. 
-On 9/11/23, the medical records for multiple animals state that the veterinarian is unable to perform necessary 
diagnostics as the facility no longer has access to an ultrasound, radiography, or endoscopy. It is also noted that there is 
no access to a functioning anesthesia machine for emergencies. 
- On 10/10/23 and 10/12/23, in the medical records for “Onyx”, a male bottlenose dolphin, the attending veterinarian 
states she needs to perform an ultrasound exam but there is no ultrasound available. 
- On 10/11/23, in the medical records for “Ringo” and “Cayman”, two male bottlenose dolphins, the veterinarian states she 
needs to perform radiographs or a CT scan to confirm that they have no active infection but no imaging was available. 
- On 7/5/2023, and again on 10/11/23, the AV notes that she does not have access to a functioning gastroscope, which 
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she calls essential for adequate diagnostics and treatment of the animals at the facility. 
- The attending veterinarian has been unable to perform a full annual physical exam, which includes weights, on the three 
adult manatees held at the facility in more than 5 years, because the facility has not provided scales that can be used in 
these enclosures.  
 
Failure to ensure that the attending veterinarian has appropriate authority over the veterinary care, including prevention, 
diagnostics, and treatment of the animals, can lead to unnecessary stress, discomfort, and suffering of the animals. Each 
dealer and exhibitor shall assure that the attending veterinarian has appropriate authority to ensure the provisions of 
adequate veterinary care and to oversee the adequacy of other aspects of animal care and use. 

2.131(c)(1) Repeat
Handling of animals.
On August 1, 2023, “Zo”, a dolphin housed at Flipper Stadium, was kicked in the mouth by a member of the public during 
an animal encounter. This resulted in a superficial cut to the guest’s ankle. During the interaction, the guest did not grab 
on to the dolphin, and “Zo” sank and circled the guest with his mouth open. “Zo” ignored two hand slaps from trainers to 
call him back from the guest. The guest was kicking frantically in the water which led to “Zo” being kicked in the mouth.  
Inadequate handling or control of animals during public interactions can lead to injury of the public and the animals. 
During public exhibition, any animal must be handled so there is minimal risk of harm to the animal and to the public. 

3.101(a)(1) Repeat
Facilities, general.
On the morning of 9/22/23, one dolphin “Ripley” housed at Flipper Stadium presented to trainers with a two-inch nail, 
mangrove pods, and small pieces of shell in his throat. On the morning of 10/14/23, one dolphin “Bimini” in Dolphin 
Harbor presented to trainers with a broken bolt in her mouth.  
On 7/6/23, 7/10/23, and 8/22/23, one dolphin “Onyx” at Dolphin Harbor jumped the barrier between pools to join another 
social group.  
Enclosures that are not kept in good repair may produce foreign material which could be ingested and become injurious to 
the animals. Enclosures that are not structurally sound or constructed in a way that is appropriate for the species may not 
properly contain the animals which could lead to injury of the animal or conspecifics. Indoor and outdoor housing facilities 
for marine mammals must be structurally sound and must be maintained in good repair to protect the animals from injury 
and to contain the animals within the facility. 

3.103(c) Repeat
Facilities, outdoor.
The facility’s perimeter fence has multiple areas where the bottom of the chain link fence or gate is not flush with the 
substrate on the ground. There is also a section of the perimeter fence where the barbed wire on top is drooping to the 
point that it has become perpendicular to the fence and is no longer 6 feet in height. 
Defects in the perimeter fence can allow animals and unauthorized people to enter and exit the area and gain access to 
the animals behind it. The perimeter fence must be at least 6 feet high and constructed so that it protects marine 
mammals by restricting animals and unauthorized persons from going through it or under it and having contact with the 
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marine mammals, and so that it can function as a secondary containment system for the animals in the facility when 
appropriate. 

3.107(d) 
Sanitation.
At the time of inspection at the facility’s vet clinic, there was a large number of ants present on and inside the cabinet 
housing vitamins and supplements that can be used for the marine mammals. The staff stated that they had arrived that 
morning to ants all over the front room of the clinic which they cleaned to the best of their abilities.  
Ants can contaminate or damage medications, supplements, and vitamins that are meant for the animals. The facility 
must establish and maintain a safe and effective program for the control of insects, ectoparasites, and avian and 
mammalian pests. 
To be corrected by November 1, 2023. 

3.109 Repeat
Separation.
“Romeo”, an adult male manatee is still being housed alone in Pompano Pool 1. The facility has implemented in-pool 
social interactions between “Romeo” and keepers and have an enrichment schedule; however, there is not a written plan 
approved by the attending veterinarian, and developed in consultation with the husbandry/training staff that includes the 
justification for the length of time the animal will be kept separated or isolated or provisions for periodic review of the plan
by the attending veterinarian.  
Manatees are semi-social animals and do better medically and psychologically when they are housed in pairs or groups. 
Marine mammals, whenever known to be primarily social in the wild, must be housed in their primary enclosure with at 
least one compatible animal of the same or biologically related species. 
Animals housed separately must have a written plan, approved by the attending veterinarian, developed in consultation 
with the husbandry/training staff, that includes the justification for the length of time the animal will be kept separated or 
isolated, information on the type and frequency of enrichment and interaction, if appropriate, and provisions for periodic 
review of the plan by the attending veterinarian. 

3.150(c)(2) 
Facilities, general.
In the Tropical Wings section, there are multiple indoor and outdoor metal enclosures that showed evidence of excessive 
rust. There are areas of bubbling and flaking paint due to rust and areas where the metal is rusted through.  
Excessive rust can compromise structural strength, present roughened and jagged surfaces where it is possible for the 
birds to injure themselves and prevent proper cleaning and sanitization of a surface. Any surfaces that come in contact 
with the birds must be free of rust or damage that affects the structural integrity of the surface or prevents cleaning.  
To be corrected by November 15, 2023. 

3.151(b) 
Facilities, indoor
In the indoor enclosure housing 9 penguins, there is an excessive accumulation of moisture condensation on the ceiling. 
This has led to numerous spots of black growth as well as areas of bubbling and peeling paint that is starting to droop 
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down into the enclosure.  
In the trailer that provides indoor housing for 11 parrots, there is a strong noxious odor permeating the air. This odor is 
present even after the trailer has been cleaned and with no birds present. The facility previously had issues with air quality 
in these bird trailers that contributed to air sacculitis in one macaw. The facility has placed two air purifiers in each indoor
parrot area; however, there is still not enough ventilation.  
Mold, mildew, poor air quality, and noxious odors can cause illness in birds. Peeling paint can fall into the enclosure and 
be ingested by the penguins. Indoor housing facilities must be sufficiently ventilated at all times when birds are present to 
provide for their health, to prevent their discomfort or distress, and to minimize accumulations of moisture condensation, 
odors, and levels of ammonia, chlorine, and other noxious gases. The ventilation system must minimize drafts.  
To be corrected by November 1, 2023. 

3.154 
Environment enhancement to promote psychological well-being. 
At the time of inspection, the facility has not established a complete environment enhancement plan (EEP) to promote the 
psychological well-being of the birds. There is an enrichment schedule and outline for the parrots housed in Tropical 
Wings; however, there is no plan in place for the penguins and flamingos at the facility. There are also no special 
considerations listed for birds that show signs of psychological distress, including three parrots that have evidence of 
feather destructive behavior.  
Failure to establish and maintain an EEP can result in birds not receiving adequate enrichment which can lead to 
behavioral, social, health, and other psychological problems. The plan must address at a minimum social grouping, 
environmental enrichment, special considerations, restraint devices, and any birds that are exempted by the attending 
veterinarian because of health issues or other conditions. The plan must be approved by the attending veterinarian. The 
licensee must establish and maintain an EEP for the birds. 
To be corrected by November 1, 2023. 

3.157(a)(2) 
Water quality.
In the enclosure housing 29 flamingos, there is an area of poor drainage along the water feature where the ground has 
eroded. There is also a trough that is part of the cement pond that does not connect to a functional drain. Both areas 
contain stagnant, murky water with green algae growing in it. Bugs were also seen gathered along the edges of this 
muddy area. The staff stated that they try to flush these spaces out once a week; however, the spaces never completely 
dry and always contain water. At the time of inspection, it had been one week since these areas had been flushed out.  
Stagnant water can attract pests, permeate noxious odors, and lead to disease or illness in the animals. Pools or other 
aquatic areas without drainage systems must be aerated and have an incoming flow of fresh water or be managed in a 
manner that maintains appropriate water quality in accordance with current professionally accepted standards appropriate 
for the species.  
To be corrected by November 15, 2023. 

3.158(d) 
Cleaning, sanitization, housekeeping, and pest control.
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At the time of inspection at the facility’s vet clinic, there was a large number of ants present on and inside the cabinet 
housing vitamins and supplements that can be used for the birds. The staff stated that they had arrived that morning to 
ants all over the front room of the clinic which they cleaned to the best of their abilities.  
Ants can contaminate or damage medications, supplements, and vitamins that are meant for the animals. The facility 
must establish and maintain a safe and effective program for the control of insects, ectoparasites, and avian and 
mammalian pests so as to promote the health and well-being of the birds and reduce contamination by pests.  
To be corrected by November 1, 2023. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with facility representatives. 

Additional Inspectors: 

E GONZALEZ, VETERINARY MEDICAL OFFICER n
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 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 16-Oct-2023 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 16-OCT-2023 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000013 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000019 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000003 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 
000009 Spheniscus demersus AFRICAN PENGUIN / CAPE PENGUIN 
000029 Phoenicopterus ruber AMERICAN FLAMINGO 
000004 Ara chloropterus RED-AND-GREEN MACAW / GREEN-WINGED MACAW 
000002 Ara macao SCARLET MACAW 
000001 Ara militaris MILITARY MACAW 
000005 Ara ararauna BLUE-AND-YELLOW MACAW / BLUE-AND-GOLD MACAW 

000001
Ara, Anodorhynchus, Primolius, Diopsittaca 
spp hybrid MACAW HYBRID

000002 Amazona autumnalis RED-LORED PARROT / RED-LORED AMAZON 

000001 Cacatua galerita SULPHUR-CRESTED COCKATOO / GREATER SULPHUR-
CRESTED COCKATOO 

000003 Cacatua alba WHITE COCKATOO / UMBRELLA COCKATOO 
000001 Cacatua moluccensis SALMON-CRESTED COCKATOO / MOLUCCAN COCKATOO 
000001 Psittacus erithacus CONGO AFRICAN GREY PARROT / GRAY PARROT 

000102 Total
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MIAMI-DADE COUNTY REGULATORY AND ECONOMIC
RESOURCES DEPARTMENT

Building Support Section
11805 S.W. 26 Street (Coral Way), Room 230

Miami, FL 33175-2474
Phone: (786) 315-2424

Fax: (786) 315-2548

NOTICE OF VIOLATIONS
FOR FULL INFORMATION, PLEASE READ THIS NOTICE IN ITS ENTIRETY

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY DATE:   12/11/2023

PARKS AND RECREATION CASE NUMBER:  20240226206

275 NW 2ND ST 4FL

MIAMI , FL 33128-1794

VIOLATION ADDRESS: 3400 RICKENBACKER CSWY BLDG-U

BUILDING DESCRIPTION BUILDING OFFICIAL'S ORDER SECURING METHOD ENGINEER
CERTIFICATION

[A]  1-STORY  WOOD FRAME   STRUCTURE REPAIR OR DEMOLISH BOARDING, FENCING REQUIRED 

dotnet:Miami-Dade County Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources Unsafe Structures Case Number = 20240226206, Total Structures = 1

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. K 0037
Case 25-10606-LSS    Doc 357-11    Filed 07/17/25    Page 38 of 72





The above described structure(s) has/have been inspected by this department and found to be unsafe as defined in the provisions of
Section 8-5 of the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code. The defects listed on the attached Explanation of Violations
have rendered the above structure(s) to be unsafe. The specific details concerning the violations can be obtained in writing from the
Building Official on request. In accordance with the provisions of Section 8-5(h) of the Code of Miami-Dade County, you are directed to
correct the violations as ordered by the Building Official and further described on the attached Explanation. Unless there is compliance with
the instructions in the Notice of Violation, an appeal is filed or an extension of the time to comply is requested in writing to the Building
Official and granted, a public hearing before the Unsafe Structures Board will be initiated by the Building Official after the time for
compliance has expired, or the Building Official's order will be enforced in accordance with the provisions of Section 8-5(h) without further
notice to you.

If you want to appeal the decision of the Building Official as detailed in this Notice of Violation and Explanation of Violations, such appeal
shall be in writing, addressed to the Secretary of the Unsafe Structures Board, , Miami-Dade Department of Regulatory and Economic
Resources, Permitting and Inspection Center, Board Administration Section, 11805 SW 26 St. (Coral Way), Room 230, Miami, Florida
33175-2474. The appeal should be in the form of a statement, indicating the reason(s) for such an appeal and stating wherein you consider
the Building Official to be in error. Appeals based on personal or economic hardship will not be considered proper unless the appellant also
states wherein the Building Official is believed to be in error. The appeal must be received by the Unsafe Structures Board no later than
thirty (30) days from the date this Notice of Violations is posted on the property. No demolition work can be performed without first obtaining
the correct permit through the Unsafe Structures Unit of the Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources.

If you want to request an extension of time to comply with this Notice of Violations, such request shall be made in writing by owner or duly
authorized representative prior to the expiration of the period allowed for compliance and addressed to the Building Official, Miami-Dade
County Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources, Permitting and Inspection Center, Unsafe Structures Unit, 11805 S.W. 26
Street, Miami, Florida 33175. The request must be in the form of a statement indicating the reason(s) an extension is needed. Such
request must satisfy the Building Official that the extension is warranted by one or more of the circumstances stated in Section 8-5(h)(8) of
the Code of Miami-Dade County and must contain a statement that the building or structure is and has at all times been in full compliance
with all of the conditions of Section 8-5(h).

dotnet:Miami-Dade County Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources Unsafe Structures Case Number = 20240226206
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Under the provisions of Section 8-5(k) of the Code of Miami-Dade County, you are responsible for all of the enforcement costs, including
appellate processing costs incurred by Miami-Dade County. The issuance of this Notice of Violation will result in the Department assessing
applicable costs against this property which may exceed Six Hundred and Fifty Dollars ($650.00) even though you corrected the violations
prior the case being closed. Your property will also be subject to a lien for those costs, if payment is not made upon request by the
Department. Pursuant to Section 8-5 (k) (4), "The enforcing agency may institute a suit to cover such expenses against any liable person
or may cause such expenses to be charged against the property on which the violation occurred as a lien or as a special assessment
collectible according to established procedures." A lien accruing interest at Twelve Percent (12%) per annum will be recorded against the
property in the public records of Miami-Dade County if administrative costs are not paid on demand, typically when the case is closed and
in compliance. Further, the County may also institute foreclosure proceedings.

Attachments: Explanation of Violations, Required Corrective Action. This instrument is filed pursuant to Section 8-5(g)(h)(7) of the Code of
Miami-Dade County, and all persons having or acquiring any interest in the above described property are hereby notified of the existence of
said violations, penalties and monetary fees or fines as prescribed by law.

Seal

dotnet:Miami-Dade County Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources Unsafe Structures Case Number = 20240226206
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VIOLATION ADDRESS:  3400 RICKENBACKER CSWY BLDG-U CASE NUMBER: 20240226206

OWNER NAME: MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

LEGAL:  20 54 42 300 AC M/L' BEG AT NE COR SEC 20 TH W TO NW' COR OF SEC TH S2300FT TH ELY TO' X N/S C/L OF SEC
TH S ALG C/L TO' S/L OF SEC TH NELY TO SE COR OF' N1/4 TH N ALG E/L OF SEC TO POB' BEING PARCEL 3 PER PB 3069-248'
WHICH INCLUDES GOUT LOTS 1 -2 & 3' IN SAID SEC 20 TOGETHER WITH' FILLED LANDS & SUBMERGED LANDS' ADJ THERETO
LESS DEEDS 4165-257' & 4175-743 TO USA&LESS DEED 5709' -584 TO UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI INC' & LESS PORT LEASED TO
MARINE' EXCEPTING THEREFROM LESS OUT PORT' OF LEASE & LESS RESO R384-72 TO' UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI & LESS' RES
R-81-68 & LESS BEG NE COR OF' SEC TH N 89 DEG W 125.20FT SELY' AD 303.27FT SWLY AD 517.03FT SELY' AD 381.58FT S 45
DEG E 630FT N TO' POB & LESS COMM ATX OF C/L OF' RICKENBACKER CSWY & S/L OF SEC 17' TH S 45 DEG E 251.67FT N 64
DEG E' 930.84FT S 45 DEG G 328.66FT FOR' POB TH S 89 DEG E 516.35FT SWLY' SELY AD 441.95FT N 45 DEG W' 642.48FT TO
POB'

Structure
ID Violation Description

A
9003 THERE IS A FALLING AWAY, HANGING LOOSE OR LOOSENING OF SIDING, BLOCK, BRICK, OR OTHER
BUILDING MATERIAL: SEC. 8-5 (b)(2)(i) CODE OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY AND THE FLORIDA BUILDING CODE

A
9004 DETERIORATED STRUCTURE OR STRUCTURAL PARTS: SEC. 8-5 (b)(2)(ii) CODE OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY
AND THE FLORIDA BUILDING CODE

A
9009 FIRE OR WINDSTORM HAZARD: SEC. 8-5 (a)(2) CODE OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY AND THE FLORIDA BUILDING
CODE

A
9015 DANGEROUS TO HUMAN LIFE AND WELFARE: SEC. 8-5 (a)(2) CODE OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY AND THE
FLORIDA BUILDING CODE

dotnetMiami-Dade County Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources Unsafe Structures Case Number = 20240226206
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REQUIRED CORRECTIVE ACTION AND COMPLIANCE PERIODS

DATE:  December 9, 2023
CASE NUMBER: 20240226206

TO REPAIR OR COMPLETE THE BUILDING OR STRUCTURE

For structure(s) A, you must secure and maintain secure the building(s) or structure(s) at all openings, to include maintaining the premises
clean and sanitary, free of debris, overgrown grass is not to exceed 36 inches, free of discoloration of graffiti by 12/31/2023. The following
securing methods are approved for securing the structure from unauthorized entry: boarding, concrete blocks, shutters, fencing or any
combination thereof. The Building official has pre-approved the following securing methods: X Boarding     Concrete Blocks     Shutters X or
Fencing.

For structure(s) A, you must obtain a building permit through the Unsafe Structures Unit prior to commencing work on securing the
structures or building and all work must be completed by the date noted above as evidenced by final inspection approval.

For structure(s) A, the building(s) or structure(s) shall at all times be maintained structurally sound and not in imminent of collapse and you
must obtain a certified letter from a Florida registered professional engineer or architect proficient in structural design, certifying that the
structures' integrity is sound. The letter must be received by the Unsafe Structures Unit by 1/20/2024.

For structure(s) A, you must obtain or renew the master building permit through the Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources by
3/20/2024. If a master building permit is not required, then all required permits must be obtained by 3/20/2024. The building(s) or
structure(s) shall be repaired or completed and brought into full compliance with the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building
Code by 7/18/2024. Completion shall be evidenced by final inspection approval. Full compliance shall be determined by the Unsafe
Structures Unit.

TO DEMOLISH THE BUILDING OR STRUCTURE

For structure(s) A, you must obtain a demolition permit from the Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources, Unsafe Structures
Unit by 1/20/2024.

For structure(s) A, you must complete the demolition by 2/9/2024, to include removal of all demolition debris from the premises as
evidenced by final inspection approval having been obtained by 2/9/2024.

dotnet:Miami-Dade County Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources Unsafe Structures Case Number = 20240226206
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Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
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16-NOV-2022 

Page 1 of 2 

MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

9600 N. Oceanshore Boulevard
St Augustine, FL 32080

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: ROUTINE INSPECTION 

Date: 14-NOV-2022 

3.101(a)(1) 
Facilities, general.
In Golden Dome stadium, there are areas that are not being maintained in good repair.  On stage, there are areas with 

rough edges and chipping paint that animals may come into contact with; The ramp and staircase leading to the dive 

platform has two areas of exposed foam with rough edges of chipped paint. The front edge of the center stage has an 

area approximately 12 inches wide and 10 inches back with missing paint and exposed cement. During the sealion 

performances, animals slide across the stage, climb up this ramp and may come in contact with these areas of concern. 

At the concrete audience barrier, there is concrete pitting and paint flecking which sealions may also come into contact 

with throughout the shows.  In sealion housing, there is flecking paint over sealion enclosures. The back of the dome’s 

stage has large areas of paint chipping and concrete cracks that are above sealion enclosures. Flakes of chipped paint 

and concrete may fall into enclosures and be ingested by the animals.  Indoor and outdoor housing facilities for marine 

mammals must be structurally sound and must be maintained in good repair to protect the animals from injury. To be 

corrected by December 16, 2022.

3.103(c) 
Facilities, outdoor.
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The facility’s perimeter fence has a section, near the western side of the Miami Seaquarium dock, where the bottom of the 

chain link fence is not flush with the ground substrate.  There is a gap approximately 12 inches wide and 14 inches deep 

under this section of fence.  Animals and unauthorized people can use these gaps to enter and exit the area and gain 

access to the animals behind it. The perimeter fence must be constructed so that it protects marine mammals by 

restricting animals and unauthorized persons from going through it or under it and having contact with the marine 

mammals, and so that it can function as a secondary containment system for the animals in the facility when appropriate. 

To be corrected by November 30, 2022. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with a facility representative.

Additional Inspectors: 

KRISTIN NAPOLI, SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE SPECIALIST n
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 United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 14-Nov-2022 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 14-NOV-2022 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000020 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000013 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000006 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 
000002 Lagenorhynchus obliquidens PACIFIC WHITE-SIDED DOLPHIN 

000049 Total
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OFFICE OF THE MAYOR
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

STEPHEN P. CLARK CENTER  •  111 N.W. FIRST STREET  •  29TH FLOOR  •  MIAMI, FLORIDA 33128-1930  • (305) 375-1880  •  (305) 375-2099

via electronic and certified mail

April 11, 2024

Mr. Eduardo Albor
President
The Dolphin Company
MS Leisure Company, Inc.
The Miami Seaquarium
4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33149

RE: Second Notice of Additional Defaults
Property Address:  4400 Rickenbacker Causeway, Key Biscayne, Florida 33149
Folio No.:  30-4220-000-0010 (the “Property”)

Dear Mr. Albor:

By letter dated March 7, 2024, Miami-Dade County (“Lessor”) provided you, MS Leisure 
Company, Inc. (“Lessee”), with notice of (1) the Lessor’s termination of the Amended and 
Restated Lease Agreement (as defined therein) and (2) certain additional defaults that were 
also of great concern to Lessor.

It is apparent that Lessee has also violated its obligations under the Lease in additional ways. 
The circumstances indicate an ongoing pattern of the Lessee’s failure and refusal to maintain 
the Seaquarium’s premises and animals in a safe condition that complies with all applicable 
laws and with the unambiguous terms of the Lease.

As has been noted in the extensive history of Lessor’s notifications of Lessor’s defaults, the 
Lease requires MS Leisure Company, Inc. to:
x “maintain animals in accordance with federal laws and regulations, including the Marine 

Mammal Protection Act and the Animal Welfare Act as applicable.” See Section 11. 
x “keep the Demised Premises and all improvements and personal property thereon … 

in a good state of repair and in a clean condition … similar to other facilities maintained 
by Lessee”. See Section 11. 

x comply with “all applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances and statutes”. See
6HFWLRQ����ௗௗௗ
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This Second Notice of Additional Defaults serves to notify you, Lessee, of the following 
DGGLWLRQDO�GHIDXOWV�WKDW�GHPRQVWUDWH�D�FRQWLQXLQJ�SDWWHUQ�RI�PDWHULDO�EUHDFKHV�RI�WKH�/HDVH�ௗ
ௗ

x On January 30, 2024, the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) 
inspected the Property and noted the significant deficiencies in the facilities that 
posed serious risks to the animals. Critically, all such deficiencies were noted as 
“Repeat” violations.  For example, USDA once again reported the deficient condition 
of the penguin building and indoor enclosure that continues to have sagging, peeling 
paint, rust-like stains on walls, and mold-like substances on ceilings. Additionally, 
USDA reported that the Golden Dome was not kept in good repair. Further, the 
USDA reported that the Tropical Wings section of deficiencies in the conditions of 
the cones that provide shelter to the birds, noting flaking paint and rusty surfaces. 
As noted by the USDA, “excessive rust can compromise structural strength, present 
roughened and jagged surfaces where it is possible for the birds to injure 
themselves”. 

x On February 7, 2024, Lessor requested a copy of the USDA exit interview report 
for the inspection conducted from 1/30/24 through 2/1/24 in accordance with the 
Third Amendment to the Lease.  Section 27(U) requires Lessee to “upon request by 
Lessor to provide Lessor with copies of any reports, letter, or correspondence, from 
or to any state or federal agency related to the management or operation of the 
Demised Premises and the improvements thereon immediately upon receipt or 
generation of such by Lesse.” Importantly, there is no limitation to the types of reports 
or correspondence, even if such reports are not “final.” To date, Lessee has failed 
and refused to comply with this requirement and provide the requested 
documentation to Lessor. 

x On March 5, 2024, USDA inspected the Property and again noted the significant 
deficiencies in the facilities that continue to be “Repeat” violations – specifically, the 
penguin building and indoor enclosure and the Tropical Wings Section. USDA also 
noted defects in the perimeter fence and inadequate veterinary care.    

x By letter dated March 6, 2024, Lessee was notified of significant violations of the 
County Code in connection with a deficient sanitary sewer pump station and 
collection system (“Sewer System”) at the Property. Among other things, Lessee’s 
Sewer System does not have two functional sanitary sewer pumps, and is missing 
vents, an emergency generator connection, and an emergency pump connection.  

x On March 19, 2024, a representative from PROS was not allowed to accompany 
USDA inspectors to concurrently conduct an inspection of the site as provided under 
Section 27(J) of the Third Amendment to the Lease.  Under this section, the County 
has the “right at any time to make unannounced site and operational inspections…” 
Instead, the PROS representative was only allowed to independently inspect the 
premises accompanied by Seaquarium management, Seaquarium counsel, and a 
Seaquarium camera operator.  Importantly, there are no restrictions on the time or 
manner of these site and operational inspections.  Lessee has violated this provision 
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of the Third Amendment by placing restrictions on the visit that are not present in the 
contract the parties negotiated. 

The Lessor reserves all of its rights under the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement at law 
DQG� LQ� HTXLW\� DQG� QRWKLQJ� KHUHLQ�ZDLYHV� RU� VKDOO� EH� GHHPHG� WR�ZDLYH� WKRVH� ULJKWV�ௗLessor 
specifically reserves all rights to pursue termination on the basis of any defaults specified 
herein. Each and every material default constitutes an independent basis on which Lessor can 
terminate the Lease.

Should you have any questions regarding this matter, please contact Jimmy Morales at: 305-
375-2448 or by email at: mailto: Jimmy.Morales2@miamidade.gov.

7KDQN�\RX�IRU�\RXU�WLPH�DQG�DWWHQWLRQ�WR�WKLV�PDWWHU�ௗ

6LQFHUHO\�ௗ

Jimmy Morales
Chief Operations Officer

c: Geri Bonzon-Keenan, County Attorney
Maria I. Nardi, Director, Parks, Recreation and Open Spaces

Certified Mail Number: 7017268000070840813
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United States Department of Agriculture CPALMER 

Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000923643 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: CHARLES PALMER Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 08-FEB-2024

Title: SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE 
SPECIALIST 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
08-FEB-2024

Page 1 of 2 

MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: ROUTINE INSPECTION 

Date: 30-JAN-2024 

3.150(a) Repeat
Facilities, general.
The penguin building and indoor enclosure has not been kept in good repair. The ceiling, Inside the enclosure, has 
multiple areas of sagging, peeling paint. Rust like stains run down the walls from numerous screws and several patches of 
round, black, mold-like substance can be observed diffusely across the ceiling. Keeping these facilities in good repair 
protects the animals from harm or injury. Housing facilities for birds must be designed so that they are structurally sound 
for the species of bird housed in them and must be kept in good repair. 

3.101(a)(1) Repeat
Facilities, general.
The Golden Dome stage was not kept in good repair. At the time of inspection, a heart shaped section, approximately 
3”X3” wide and .5” deep, was missing from the top coating of the stage floor. This missing section was located to the left 
of center stage and created a rough surface for the animals to slide across. Rough surfaces can cause harm or injury to 
the animals as they slide or scoot across them. Outdoor housing facilities for marine mammals must be structurally sound 
and must be maintained in good repair to protect the animals from injury. The defect in the surface of the stage floor was 
corrected at the time of inspection. 

3.150(c)(2) Repeat
Facilities, general.
In the Tropical Wings section, there are multiple surfaces with rust or damage. The outdoor perches have colorful metal 
cones that can be used as shade and shelter for the birds being exhibited outdoors. Several of these cones have areas 
around the bottom lip with flaking paint and rusty surfaces. Most of the metal enclosures used to house the birds when 
they are off display, have areas of bubbling and flaking paint due to rust and areas where the metal is rusted through. 
Excessive rust can compromise structural strength, present roughened and jagged surfaces where it is possible for the 
birds to injure themselves and prevent proper cleaning and sanitization of a surface. Any surfaces, that come in contact 
with the birds, must be free of rust or damage that affects the structural integrity of the surface or prevents cleaning. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with facility representatives. 
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United States Department of Agriculture CPALMER 

Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000923643 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: CHARLES PALMER Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 08-FEB-2024

Title: SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE 
SPECIALIST 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
08-FEB-2024

Page 2 of 2 

Additional Inspectors: 

KRISTIN NAPOLI, SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE SPECIALIST n
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United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 30-Jan-2024 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009 58-C-1252 001 Miami Seaquarium 30-JAN-2024

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000012 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000018 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000009 Spheniscus demersus AFRICAN PENGUIN / CAPE PENGUIN 
000029 Phoenicopterus ruber AMERICAN FLAMINGO 
000004 Ara chloropterus RED-AND-GREEN MACAW / GREEN-WINGED MACAW 
000002 Ara macao SCARLET MACAW 
000001 Ara militaris MILITARY MACAW 
000005 Ara ararauna BLUE-AND-YELLOW MACAW / BLUE-AND-GOLD MACAW 

000001
Ara, Anodorhynchus, Primolius, Diopsittaca 
spp hybrid MACAW HYBRID

000002 Amazona autumnalis RED-LORED PARROT / RED-LORED AMAZON 

000001 Cacatua galerita SULPHUR-CRESTED COCKATOO / GREATER SULPHUR-
CRESTED COCKATOO 

000003 Cacatua alba WHITE COCKATOO / UMBRELLA COCKATOO 
000001 Cacatua moluccensis SALMON-CRESTED COCKATOO / MOLUCCAN COCKATOO 
000001 Psittacus erithacus CONGO AFRICAN GREY PARROT / GRAY PARROT 

000097 Total
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United States Department of Agriculture CPALMER 

Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000943681 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: CHARLES PALMER Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 07-MAR-2024

Title: SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE 
SPECIALIST 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
07-MAR-2024

Page 1 of 2 

MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: FOCUSED INSPECTION 

Date: 05-MAR-2024 

3.150(a) Repeat
Facilities, general.
The penguin building and indoor enclosure are still not in good repair. The ceiling inside the enclosure has multiple areas 
of sagging, peeling paint. Rust like stains run down the walls from numerous screws and several patches of round, black, 
mold-like substance can be observed diffusely across the ceiling.  

Keeping these facilities in good repair protects the animals from harm or injury. 

Housing facilities for birds must be designed so that they are structurally sound for the species of bird housed in them and 
must be kept in good repair. 

2.40(b)(2) Direct
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
The facility failed to use appropriate methods to control disease. On February 23, 2024, Monty, a blue and gold macaw 
was confirmed positive for Pacheco’s disease via serology and choanal/cloacal swab. At the time of inspection, Monty 
was observed on exhibit with other birds in the facilities flock.  

Pacheco’s disease is a highly infectious and deadly bird disease. Exposure to infected birds can lead to the spread of the 
disease to other birds.  

Each exhibitor shall establish and maintain programs of adequate veterinary care that include appropriate methods to 
prevent, control, diagnose, and treat diseases. To be corrected immediately, March, 7, 2024. 

3.103(c)(1) 
Facilities, outdoor.
The facility still needs to make repairs to the perimeter fence. Many support beams are still rusted through at the base and 
are no longer connected to the concrete and require prompt attention to maintain the structural integrity of the fencing in 
this section. Areas at the base of the fence have gaps and are not continuous with the floor.  
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 United States Department of Agriculture CPALMER 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000943681 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: CHARLES PALMER Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 07-MAR-2024 

Title: SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE 
SPECIALIST 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
07-MAR-2024 

Page 2 of 2 

Defects in the perimeter fence can allow animals and unauthorized people to enter and exit the area, gaining access to 
the animals at the facility. Stray cats were still observed at the facility.  
 
Perimeter fencing must be regularly checked and maintained to ensure it protects marine mammals by restricting animals 
and unauthorized persons from having contact with the marine mammals. 

3.150(c)(2) Repeat
Facilities, general.
In the Tropical Wings section, there are areas of flaking paint under metal cone shade structures where birds have 
pecked. The higher placed perches allow larger birds to have access to the bottom lip of the painted cones. Additionally, 
about six of the metal enclosures used to house the birds when they are off display have areas of bubbling and flaking 
paint due to rust and areas where the metal is rusted through.  
 
Excessive rust can compromise structural strength, present roughened and jagged surfaces where it is possible for the 
birds to injure themselves and prevent proper cleaning and sanitization of a surface.  
 
Any surfaces, that come in contact with the birds, must be free of rust or damage that affects the structural integrity of the 
surface or prevents cleaning. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with facility representatives. 

Additional Inspectors: 

MARIO MERCADO, VETERINARY MEDICAL OFFICER 

KRISTIN NAPOLI, SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE SPECIALIST n
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United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 05-Mar-2024 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009 58-C-1252 001 Miami Seaquarium 05-MAR-2024

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000012 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000018 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000009 Spheniscus demersus AFRICAN PENGUIN / CAPE PENGUIN 
000028 Phoenicopterus ruber AMERICAN FLAMINGO 
000003 Ara chloropterus RED-AND-GREEN MACAW / GREEN-WINGED MACAW 
000002 Ara macao SCARLET MACAW 
000001 Ara militaris MILITARY MACAW 
000005 Ara ararauna BLUE-AND-YELLOW MACAW / BLUE-AND-GOLD MACAW 

000001
Ara, Anodorhynchus, Primolius, Diopsittaca 
spp hybrid MACAW HYBRID

000002 Amazona autumnalis RED-LORED PARROT / RED-LORED AMAZON 

000001 Cacatua galerita SULPHUR-CRESTED COCKATOO / GREATER SULPHUR-
CRESTED COCKATOO 

000003 Cacatua alba WHITE COCKATOO / UMBRELLA COCKATOO 
000001 Cacatua moluccensis SALMON-CRESTED COCKATOO / MOLUCCAN COCKATOO 
000001 Psittacus erithacus CONGO AFRICAN GREY PARROT / GRAY PARROT 

000095 Total
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OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ATTORNEY, MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

TELEPHONE 305.375.5151 

IN THE COUNTY COURT IN AND FOR 
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 
CIVIL DIVISION 

 
CASE NO: 

 
 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,    
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
MS LEISURE COMPANY, INC., 
and All Others in Possession, 
 
  Defendant. 
 
_________________________/ 
 

COMPLAINT  
 

 Plaintiff, Miami-Dade County (the “County”), by and through its undersigned counsel sues 

Defendant, MS Leisure Company, Inc.  (“MS Leisure”), and alleges:  

Parties, Jurisdiction, Venue and Conditions Precedent 

1. This is an action for removal of a commercial tenant from real property located in 

Miami-Dade County, Florida, as authorized by Chapter 83 of the Florida Statutes. This action is 

filed in accordance with Sections 83.21, 51.011, and 86.011, Florida Statutes. 

2. The County owns the following real property in Miami-Dade County: 4400 

Rickenbacker Causeway, Key Biscayne, Florida, identified by Folio No.: 30-4220-000-0010 (the 

“Premises”). 

3. The Premises is the location of, and the tenant is the operator and controller of, the 

Miami Seaquarium.  

Filing # 201290646 E-Filed 06/25/2024 01:19:49 PM
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OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ATTORNEY, MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

TELEPHONE 305.375.5151 

4. MS Leisure is a Florida corporation, with its principal address in Miami-Dade 

County, and conducts business in Miami-Dade County. 

5. All conditions precedent to the bringing of this action have occurred, have been 

waived, or have been excused, and all acts alleged in this Complaint occurred within the applicable 

limitations periods. 

Factual Background 

I. The Lease Agreement 

6. On October 19, 2021, the Miami-Dade County Board of County Commissioners 

(the “Board”) approved Resolution No. R-991-21 which authorized the assignment of a written 

lease agreement, the “Amended and Restated Lease Between Miami-Dade County and Marine 

Exhibition Corporation, d/b/a The Miami Seaquarium” dated July 25, 2000, as amended by a First 

Amendment dated November 16, 2001, a Second Amendment dated August 7, 2003, a Third 

Amendment dated September 9, 2022, and three Lease Extension Agreements dated July 7, 2006, 

October 6, 2006, and March 9, 2020, (collectively, the “Lease Agreement” or “Lease”), to MS 

Leisure, attached as Composite Exhibit “A,” and incorporated herein by reference. The Lease 

Agreement was originally approved by the Board on July 25, 2000, pursuant to Resolution No. R-

825-00.  

6. MS Leisure began operating the Miami Seaquarium in March 2022. Pursuant to the 

terms of the Lease Agreement, MS Leisure is required to operate the Miami Seaquarium “by 

providing a family oriented tourist attraction which includes, but is not limited to, an Aquarium 

. . . and related facilities.” Lease, Section 3.  

7. The Lease Agreement bound MS Leisure to certain obligations, including but not 

limited to the requirement to “keep the Demised Premises and all improvements and personal 
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OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ATTORNEY, MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

TELEPHONE 305.375.5151 

property thereon, exclusive of animals, in a good state of repair and in a clean condition, subject 

to damage or destruction by fire or other elements, similar to other facilities maintained by Lessee.” 

Lease, Section 11 (as set forth in the Third Amendment), excerpt attached hereto as Exhibit “A1.”    

8. Critically, pursuant to the Lease Agreement, MS Leisure was also required to 

“maintain animals in accordance with federal laws and regulations, including the Marine Mammal 

Protection Act and the Animal Welfare Act as applicable.” Id. 

9. Further, the Lease specifically provided that the parties “are subject to all applicable 

laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances, and statutes and the [Lease] shall not be deemed to 

permit Lessee to violate the same or to limit Lessor’s authority to enforce same.” Lease, Section 

29, excerpt attached hereto as Exhibit “A2.” 

10. The Lease also required MS Leisure to “secure and maintain all applicable 

certifications necessary to ensure the proper maintenance and oversight of the Demised Premises 

and all improvements thereon, including but not limited to, certifications by the Alliance of Marine 

Mammal Parks and Aquariums (“AMMPA”), and the American Humane Association (or similar 

third-party validated program). The Lessee shall also commit to using reasonable efforts to seek 

Association of Zoos & Aquariums (“AZA”) accreditation.” Lease, Section 27, subsection R (as 

set forth in the Third Amendment), excerpt attached hereto as Exhibit “A3.”   

11. All of the aforementioned terms of the Lease were material terms of the Lease 

Agreement. 

II. MS Leisure’s Breaches of the Lease Agreement 

12. MS Leisure failed to comply with the material obligations of the Lease Agreement, 

including (a) failing to keep the Premises and all improvements and personal property thereon, 

exclusive of animals, in a good state of repair and in a clean condition, (b) failing to maintain 
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OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ATTORNEY, MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

TELEPHONE 305.375.5151 

animals in accordance with federal laws and regulations, including the Marine Mammal Protection 

Act and the Animal Welfare Act, (c) failing to comply and abide by all applicable laws, rules, 

regulations, codes, ordinances, and statutes, such as applicable building codes, County ordinances, 

and laws governing the handling, treatment and care of animals, and (d) failing to secure and 

maintain all applicable certifications necessary to ensure the proper maintenance and oversight of 

the Premises and using reasonable efforts to seek AZA accreditation. 

13. MS Leisure’s continued failure to keep the Premises and all improvements and 

personal property thereon, exclusive of animals, in a good state of repair and in a clean condition, 

is well documented.  The volume of issues identified by the County’s Building Official, along with 

the continuous and ongoing failures to adequately maintain the Premises during the years MS 

Leisure has managed the Seaquarium, amounts to a continuous breach of its obligations under the 

Lease. 

14. MS Leisure’s continued failure to maintain the animals in their care in accordance 

with federal laws and regulations is also well documented. The volume of inspection reports 

outlining Seaquarium’s failures issued by the United States Department of Agriculture, along with 

the continuous and ongoing failures to adequately handle and care for the Seaquarium’s animals 

in accordance with federal laws and regulations during the years MS Leisure has managed the 

Seaquarium, amounts to a continuous breach of its obligations under the Lease.     

A. The First Notice of Breach – Lack of Veterinary Care of Dolphins 

15. On or about October 28, 2022, the County sent a Notice of Non-Compliance to MS 

Leisure (“10/28/22 Notice”), attached hereto as Exhibit “B,” setting forth defaults by MS Leisure 

in violation of the Lease Agreement and providing MS Leisure an opportunity to cure the defaults. 

Specifically, the 10/28/22 Notice referenced failures to maintain animals in accordance with the 
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OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ATTORNEY, MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

TELEPHONE 305.375.5151 

Animal Welfare Act (“AWA”) and its mandatory regulations specified in Title 9, Section 2.40, of 

the Code of Federal Regulations1 governing attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care 

(Section 2.40 “Veterinary Care”).  

16. As referenced in the 10/28/22 Notice (Ex. B), MS Leisure violated Section 2.40 

“Veterinary Care” by cutting the dolphins’ diets by 60% resulting in “very thin animals.” See 

USDA Inspection Report dated September 23, 2022 from its July 6, 2022 inspection (“09/23/22 

Inspection Report”), attached hereto as Exhibit “B1.” 

B.  The Second Notice of Breach – Numerous Breaches 

17. On or about November 1, 2023, the County sent a Notice of Default to MS Leisure 

(“11/01/23 Notice”), attached hereto as Exhibit “C,” setting forth defaults by MS Leisure in 

violation of the Lease Agreement and providing MS Leisure an opportunity to cure the defaults. 

Specifically, the 11/01/23 Notice referenced failures to maintain animals in accordance with the 

AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards specified in: Section 2.40 “Veterinary Care”; 

Section 2.131 “Handling of Animals”; and also in Subpart E, Specifications for the Humane 

Handling, Care, Treatment, and Transportation of Marine Mammals (Section 3.101 “Facilities”; 

Section 3.103 “Outdoor Facilities”; Section 3.108 “Employees or Attendants”; and Section 3.109 

“Separation”).    

i. Lack of Veterinary Care of Dolphins, Again 

18. As referenced in the 11/01/23 Notice (Ex. C), MS Leisure failed to maintain 

animals in accordance with Section 2.40 “Veterinary Care” by failing to follow, and ignoring, the 

determinations and authority of the attending veterinarian (“AV”), including the AV’s 

determination in January 2023 that a dolphin named Elelo should be transferred because his 

 
1 All references to code “Sections” herein refer to Title 9 of the Code of Federal Regulations. 
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enclosure was no longer suitable after treatment for foreign body ingestion, and her subsequent 

determination six months later in July 2023, after continued foreign body ingestion, that the facility 

did not have the equipment to keep the dolphin in the current pool that needed significant 

maintenance and posed repeated risk of foreign body ingestion. Additionally, MS Leisure 

appointed a corporate trainer in charge of dolphin training, instructed employees not to 

communicate with the AV, and excluded the AV from the chain of command. A copy of the 

USDA’s Inspection Report dated September 27, 2023 from its July 17, 2023 inspection (“09/27/23 

Inspection Report”) is attached hereto as Exhibit “C1.” 

19. The 11/01/23 Notice is the County’s second notice to MS Leisure of its failure to 

maintain animals in accordance with Section 2.40 “Veterinary Care,” relating to the inadequate 

veterinary care of dolphins. This failure is a default that dates back to at least July 2022. 

ii. Improper Handling of Animals (Dolphins) 

20. As further referenced in the 11/01/23 Notice (Ex. C) and set forth in the 09/27/23 

Inspection Report (Ex. C1), MS Leisure also failed to maintain animals in accordance with Section 

2.131(c)(1) “Handling of Animals” by inadequately handling or controlling dolphins as 

demonstrated by the fact that a dolphin named Gemini broke away and grabbed and bit the hand 

of a child spectator. 

iii. Improper Maintenance of Facilities 

21. Additionally, as also referenced in the 11/01/23 Notice (Ex. C) and set forth in the 

09/27/23 Inspection report (Ex. C1), MS Leisure also failed to maintain animals in accordance 

with:  

a. Section 3.101(a) “Facilities” by failing to maintain a marine mammal enclosure in 

good repair and protect animals from injury as demonstrated by fact that a dolphin named Elelo 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000006
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in January 2023 ingested a plastic zip tie, a piece of broken plastic, and a large piece of cement 

(all of which had been consumed from the deficient facilities in the dolphin’s pool), and again in 

July 2023 ingested sand and glass filtration media from the deficient facilities. 

b. Section 3.103(b) “Outdoor Facilities” by failing to provide protection from weather 

or direct sunlight for a manatee housed in a pool with no natural or artificial shade. 

iv. Improper Staffing 

22. Additionally, as also referenced in the 11/01/23 Notice (Ex. C) and set forth in the 

09/27/23 Inspection Report (Ex. C1), MS Leisure failed to maintain animals in accordance with 

Section 3.108(a) “Employees or Attendants” by failing to maintain a sufficient number of 

employees as demonstrated by the fact that the facility had a single veterinarian after an associate 

veterinarian was terminated and three veterinary techs resigned, and the single veterinarian could 

only prioritize non-routine, sick, and urgent cases and could not perform routine samples and care. 

v. Improper Separation of Animals (Dolphins and Manatees) 

23. Additionally, as also referenced in the 11/01/23 Notice (Ex. C) and set forth in the 

09/27/23 Inspection Report (Ex. C1), MS Leisure failed to maintain animals in accordance with 

Section 3.109 “Separation” by failing to separate a dolphin named Bimini from noncompatible 

animals as demonstrated by the fact that in February 2023 Bimini had multiple bilateral rib 

fractures. Moreover, MS Leisure also failed to maintain animals in accordance with Section 3.109 

“Separation” by keeping a manatee named Romeo alone after releasing three manatees to the wild 

in the spring of 2023 and failing to meet the requirements to receive another manatee, even though 

manatees must be housed with at least one other compatible animal of the same or biologically 

related species. 

vi. Failure to Maintain the Premises in a Good State of Repair and Clean Condition 
 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000007
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24. As referenced in the 11/01/23 Notice (Ex. C) and set forth in the 09/27/23

Inspection Report (Ex. C1), MS Leisure failed to maintain the Premises in a good state of repair 

and clean condition by failing to keep Elelo’s dolphin pool area free of the debris that he ingested 

and as demonstrated by the fact that the pool had a layer of broken flaking cement. 

C. The Third Notice of Breach – Multiple Breaches

25. On or about December 22, 2023, the County sent another Notice of Default to MS

Leisure (“12/22/23 Notice”), attached hereto as Exhibit “D,” setting forth defaults by MS Leisure 

in violation of the Lease Agreement and providing MS Leisure an opportunity to cure the defaults. 

i. Improper Staffing, Again

26. Specifically, as set forth in the 12/22/23 Notice, MS Leisure failed to maintain

animals in accordance with the AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards specified in 

Section 3.108(a) “Employees or Attendants” by failing to have a sufficient number of adequately 

trained employees as demonstrated by the fact that the facility had no veterinary technicians and 

no full-time support staff, with only two veterinarians who were unable to perform routine and 

preventative exams and “continue to prioritize sick and urgent cases.” A copy of the USDA’s 

Inspection Report dated November 7, 2023 from its November 2, 2023 inspection (“11/07/23 

Inspection Report”) is attached hereto as Exhibit “D1.” 

27. The 12/22/23 Notice is the County’s second notice to MS Leisure of its failure to

maintain animals in accordance with Section 3.108 “Employees or Attendants,” relating to the 

inadequate staffing resulting in inadequate veterinary care that could only prioritize urgent cases 

and could not provide routine care of animals. This failure is a default that dated back to at least 

September 2023. 

ii. Failure to Maintain the Premises in a Good State of Repair and Clean Condition

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000008
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28. Additionally, as set forth in the 12/22/23 Notice, MS Leisure failed to maintain the 

Premises in a good state of repair and in a clean condition and in compliance with all applicable 

laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances, and statutes, as required by Sections 11 (as set forth in 

the Third Amendment) and 29 of the Lease Agreement. Specifically, the 12/22/23 Notice 

referenced Notices of Violation dated December 11, 2023 through December 14, 2023 (Composite 

Exhibit “D2”) documenting violations of the Florida Building Code and the Code of Miami-Dade 

County related to at least fourteen (14) buildings or areas located on the Premises and ordering the 

repair or demolition of Unsafe Structures. The violations include: 

a. Case No. 20240226026 (Building U): Falling away, hanging loose, or loosening of 

siding, block, brick, or other building material in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-

5(b)(2)(i), of the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code; 

deterioration of structure or structural parts in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-

5(b)(2)(ii), of the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code; fire 

or windstorm hazard in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-5(a)(2) of the Miami-Dade 

County Code and the Florida Building Code; and conditions dangerous to human 

life and welfare in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-5(a)(2) of the Miami-Dade 

County Code and the Florida Building Code. As a result of these conditions, the 

Miami-Dade County Regulatory and Economic Resources Department has found 

Building U to be an unsafe structure. This Unsafe Structure case remains open. The 

conditions have not been remedied and continue to violate the Code of Miami-Dade 

County and the Florida Building Code. 

b. Case No. 20240226350-B (Common Areas): Failure to obtain 

required permit(s) for various detached structures throughout the Premises, 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000009
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including shipping containers, an upside-down gazebo, plastic, metal, and wood 

sheds, a tent, and canopies with metal roofs, in violation of Chapter 1, Section 

105.1, of the Florida Building Code. Some containers and sheds installed without 

permits have electrical connections, and several open electrical boxes and exposed 

wiring were observed throughout the Premises.  

c. Case No. 20240226294-B (Building D): Failure to maintain the 

whale trailer, as demonstrated by missing pieces of skirt, as well as improperly 

anchored tiedown straps, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-11(a), of the Code of 

Miami-Dade County.  

d. Case No. 20240226287-B (Building N): Failure to obtain required 

permit(s) for the structure over the freezer at the rear of the Dolphin Harbor building 

in violation of Chapter 1, Section 105.1, of the Florida Building Code, and failure 

to maintain said structure in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-11(a), of the Code of 

Miami-Dade County.  

e. Case No. 20240226310-B (Area O): Failure to maintain Flipper 

Stadium—as demonstrated by: mild to severe corrosion of the steel framing 

supporting the roof; concrete beams and slabs with exposed rebar, spalling, and 

cracks; and railings with corrosion at the bottom connections—in violation of 

Chapter 8, Section 8-11(a), of the Code of Miami-Dade County. 

f. Case No. 20240226378-B (Building R): Failure to obtain required 

permit(s) for the canopy over the penguin chiller area in violation of Chapter 1, 

Section 105.1, of the Florida Building Code.  

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000010
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g. Case No. 20240226359-B (Building T): Failure to obtain required 

permit(s) for a detached landscape shed, built to no known code, in violation of 

Chapter 1, Section 105.1, of the Florida Building Code. 

h. Case No. 20240226312-B (Building V): Failure to obtain required 

permit(s) for west side of a workshop building, “enclosed with plywood and rolling 

doors to no known code,” in violation of Chapter 1, Section 105.1, of the Florida 

Building Code. Composite Exhibit “D2” at 7. 

i. Case No. 20240226315-B (Building W): Failure to maintain the fish 

house building, as demonstrated by double tees with cracks and spalling and an 

exterior metal door that needs replacement, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-

11(a), of the Code of Miami-Dade County. 

j. Case No. 20240226297-B (Area Y): Failure to obtain required 

permit(s) for a wood and canvas canopy covering oxygen tanks, “built to unknown 

code,” in violation of Chapter 1, Section 105.1, of the Florida Building Code. Id. at 

9.  

k. Case No. 20240226322-B (Building DD): Failure to obtain required 

permit(s) for finance building’s canvas canopy and shed in violation of Chapter 1, 

Section 105.1, of the Florida Building Code, and failure to maintain corrugated 

metal panel (with signs of corrosion) and wood siding in repair, in violation of 

Chapter 8, Section 8-11(a), of the Code of Miami-Dade County. 

l. Case No. 20240226329-B (Building FF): Failure to maintain the 

manatee tank area, as demonstrated by empty tanks showing cracks at the bottom 

slab, floor slab at walking area with cracks, and corrosion on tanks and steel 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000011

Case 25-10606-LSS    Doc 357-12    Filed 07/17/25    Page 12 of 331





Page 12 of 30 
OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ATTORNEY, MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

TELEPHONE 305.375.5151 

columns from a previous canopy, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-11(a), of the 

Code of Miami-Dade County.  

m. Case No. 20240226332-B (Building HH): Failure to maintain the 

Manatee Bay Cafe, as demonstrated by ponding water and damaged metal drip 

edge, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-11(a) of the Code of Miami-Dade County.  

n. Case No. 20240226372-B (Building GG): Failure to maintain 

Dolphin Stadium—as demonstrated by: missing, sagging, loose, or broken upper 

deck tension cables; medium to severe corrosion on steel beams supporting tensile 

structure; cracks and surface deterioration at top surface deck; severe corrosion at 

the bottom of the steel column supporting the canopy over the reef tank; damage of 

the second level edge of the roof, including the drip edge and gutter; bulging, 

cracking, and spalling at the underside of the upper deck; the soffit hiding the 

electric cables is detached and deflecting; crack on top surface of the second level 

slab; corrosion on steel columns supporting the upper deck; second level storage 

room/air compressor room portion of the exterior wall with cracks and displaced; 

and plywood covering the bottom of the second level, with cracks visible adjacent 

to the plywood—in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-11(a), of the Code of Miami-

Dade County.  

D. The Fourth Notice of Breach – Numerous Breaches 

29. On or about March 7, 2024, the County sent a Notice of Termination of Lease and 

Additional Notice of Defaults (“03/07/24 Notice”), attached hereto as Exhibit “E,” setting forth 

defaults by MS Leisure in violation of the Lease Agreement.  

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000012
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30. As stated in the 03/07/24 Notice (Ex. E), the County terminated the Lease based on 

MS Leisure’s continuous and repeated violations of Sections 11 (as set forth in the Third 

Amendment) and Section 29 of the Lease, specifically: 

a. The numerous instances of failures to maintain animals in accordance with the 

AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards as documented by the County’s 

many notices dating back to 2022 and the repetitive and troubling circumstances 

documented in USDA notices and inspection reports dating back to 2022. 

b. The numerous instances of failure to maintain the Premises in a good state of repair 

and clean condition as documented by the many Notices of Violations issued by 

the Building Official finding that several structures on the Premises are unsafe and 

structurally deficient, as well as the deficient facilities documented in USDA 

notices and inspection reports. 

31. The 03/07/24 Notice (Ex. E) also set forth additional defaults by MS Leisure in 

violation of the Lease Agreement, specifically MS Leisure’s numerous (and ongoing) failures to 

maintain animals in accordance with the AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards 

documented by the USDA’s Inspection Report dated December 7, 2023 from its November 28, 

2023 inspection (“12/07/23 Inspection Report”) attached hereto as Exhibit “E1,” and the USDA’s 

Inspection Report dated January 9, 2024 from its October 16, 2023 inspection (“01/09/24 

Inspection Report”), attached hereto as Exhibit “E2.” 

i. Lack of Veterinary Care, Yet Again 

32. Specifically, as set forth in the 03/07/24 Notice, MS Leisure failed to maintain 

animals in accordance with the AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards specified in 

Section 2.40 “Veterinary Care” by: 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000013
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a. Failing to provide adequate care, facilities, or the necessary equipment, to conduct 

diagnoses for an appropriate treatment plan for animals in need of veterinary 

attention, as demonstrated by MS Leisure’s failure to adequately examine, 

diagnosis, and formulate a treatment plan for a manatee named Clarity. See Ex. E1.  

b. Failing to provide the AV with (1) the authority or equipment to provide the care 

and treatment the AV deemed specifically necessary for Sushi the sealion, three 

dolphins, and three manatees, and (2) the functioning equipment necessary for 

adequate diagnostics and treatment of all the animals. See Ex. E2. 

c. These failures were noted by USDA to be “Critical” and “Repeat.” See Ex. E1, Ex. 

E2. 

33. The 03/07/24 Notice is the County’s third notice to MS Leisure of its failure to 

maintain animals in accordance with Section 2.40 “Veterinary Care,” relating to the inadequate 

veterinary care of animals at the Seaquarium. This failure is a default that dates back to at least 

July 2022. 

34. MS Leisure’s failure to provide adequate veterinary care is a repeated, ongoing 

default and violation of Sections 11 (as set forth in the Third Amendment) and 29 of the Lease. 

The County’s prior Notices also identified MS Leisure’s failures relating to the inadequate staffing 

resulting in inadequate veterinary care that could only prioritize urgent cases and could not provide 

routine care of animals, identified as failures to maintain animals in accordance with Section 3.108 

“Employees or Attendants,” such failures representing defaults that date back to at least September 

2023. 

ii. Improper Maintenance of Facilities, Again 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000014
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35. Specifically, as set forth in the 03/07/24 Notice, MS Leisure failed to maintain 

animals in accordance with the AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards governing 

animal facilities, as specified in: 

Dolphin Facilities 

a. Section 3.101 “Facilities” due to (1) disrepair of dolphin pools that had broken 

concrete and missing cement (Ex. E1), (2) unsecured metal grate in the sealion 

holding posing a potential hazard (Ex. E1), (3) ingestion of foreign material (nail, 

mangrove pod, shell pieces, and broken bolt) by dolphins Ripley and Bimini found 

in dolphin enclosures (Ex. E2), and (4) inadequate dolphin pool barriers allowing 

dolphin Onyx to jump the barrier between pools (Ex. E2). These failures were noted 

by the USDA to be “Repeat.” See Ex. E1, Ex. E2. 

Tropical Wings Bird Facilities 

b. Section 3.150 “Facilities” due to excessive rust on multiple indoor and outdoor 

enclosures in the Tropical Wings section which compromised the structural 

strength of the enclosures and presented dangerous surfaces for the birds to injure 

themselves and prevented proper cleaning and sanitization (Ex. 1); and also due to 

damaged walls in the trailer that provides housing for 11 parrots resulting from 

parrots chewing on walls through the metal bars (Ex. E2). These failures were noted 

by the USDA to be “Repeat.” See Ex. E1. 

Penguin Facilities 

c. Section 3.151 “Facilities, Indoor” due to a ventilation problem, excessive 

accumulation of condensation on the ceiling, black mold growth, areas of bubbling 

and peeling paint, and a missing air filter in the ventilation duct, causing excessive 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000015
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dust and debris to enter the area, in the indoor penguin enclosure; and a strong 

noxious odor and insufficient ventilation in trailer housing parrots. Ex. E1, Ex. E2. 

Flamingo Facilities 

d. Section 3.152 “Outdoor Facilities” due to lack of adequate shelter for 29 flamingoes 

that must be protected from inclement weather by some form of shelter that is also 

ventilated in hot weather to contain the birds and prevent harm from direct sunlight 

and excessive rain, wind, or hail. Ex. E1. 

Perimeter Fences 

e. Section 3.103 “Outdoor Facilities” due to disrepair and defects of perimeter fences 

that is necessary to enclose the premises and prevent entry of stray cats and 

unauthorized animals and persons. These failures were noted by USDA to be 

“Repeat.” See Ex. E1, Ex. E2.  

36. MS Leisure’s failure to adequately maintain the animal facilities is a repeated, 

ongoing default and violation of Sections 11 (as set forth in the Third Amendment) and 29 of the 

Lease. MS Leisure’s failure to provide adequate facilities for the dolphins, as demonstrated by the 

dolphin’s repeated ingestion of dangerous foreign material, is a repeated ongoing default and 

violation of Sections 11 (as set forth in the Third Amendment) and 29 of the Lease. For example, 

the ingestion by dolphins of foreign materials dates back to at least July 2023 and occurred again 

in September 2023 and in October 2023. 

iii. Improper Staffing, Again 

37. The 03/07/24 Notice referenced failures to maintain animals in accordance with the 

AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards specified in: 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000016
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a. Section 3.108 “Employees or Attendants” due to inadequate number of trained 

employees in the Veterinary Care Department because the facility had only one 

veterinarian, and no veterinary technicians, causing the facility to prioritize urgent 

cases and postpone routine animal care. These failures were noted by the USDA to 

be “Repeat.” See Ex. E1.  

b. Section 3.159 “Employees” due to failure to have enough adequately trained 

employees that can maintain an acceptable level of handling and care for the 

animals. 

38. The 03/07/24 Notice is the County’s third notice to MS Leisure of its failure to 

maintain animals in accordance with Section 3.108 “Employees or Attendants.” MS Leisure’s 

failure to have adequate staffing is a repeated, ongoing default and violation of Sections 11 (as set 

forth in the Third Amendment) and 29 of the Lease that dates back to at least September 2023. 

iv. Improper Handling of Animals (Dolphins), Again 

39. As set forth in the 03/07/24 Notice, MS Leisure failed to maintain animals in 

accordance with the AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards specified in Section 2.131 

“Handling of Animals” due to failure to handle and control a dolphin named Zo that resulted in Zo 

being kicked in the mouth by a guest kicking frantically in the water during an animal encounter. 

These failures were noted by the USDA to be “Repeat.” See Ex. E2. 

40. The 03/07/24 Notice is the County’s second notice to MS Leisure of its failure to 

maintain animals in accordance with Section 2.131 “Handling of Animals.” MS Leisure’s failure 

to properly handle the dolphins is a repeated, ongoing default and violation of Sections 11 (as set 

forth in the Third Amendment) and 29 of the Lease that dates back to at least September 2023. 

v. Improper Separation of Animals (Manatees), Again 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000017
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41. As set forth in the 03/07/24 Notice, MS Leisure failed to maintain animals in 

accordance with the AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards specified in Section 3.109 

“Separation” due to the fact that a manatee named Romeo was still being housed alone in a pool 

even though manatees should be housed with at least one compatible animal of the same or 

biologically related species. Ex. E2. 

42. MS Leisure’s failure to properly separate animals, in the manner required by the 

AWA, is a repeated, ongoing default and violation of Sections 11 (as set forth in the Third 

Amendment) and 29 of the Lease that dates back to at least September 2023. 

vi. Improper Water Quality 

43. As set forth in the 03/07/24 Notice, MS Leisure failed to maintain animals in 

accordance with the AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards specified in: 

a. Section 3.106 “Water Quality” due to excessively high counts of coliform bacteria 

that posed a risk to the health of the animals. See  Ex. E1. 

b. Section 3.157 “Water Quality” due to (1) poor drainage and stagnant water and (2) 

high coliform counts in the enclosure housing the 29 flamingos. These failures were 

noted by the USDA to be “Repeat.” See Ex. E1, Ex. E2. 

vii. Improper Primary Enclosures (Birds) 

44. As set forth in the 03/07/24 Notice, MS Leisure failed to maintain animals in 

accordance with the AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards specified in Section 3.153 

“Primary Enclosures” due to insufficient numbers and poor condition of bird perches for the 

parrots in the Tropical Wings section. 

viii. Improper Sanitation 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000018
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45. As set forth in the 03/07/24 Notice, MS Leisure failed to maintain animals in 

accordance with the AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards specified in Section 3.107 

“Sanitation” and 3.158 “Cleaning, Sanitization, Housekeeping, and Pest Control” due to the large 

number of ants present in the vet clinic on and inside the cabinet storing vitamins and supplements. 

Ex. E2. 

ix. Improper Environment, Psychological Well-Being (Birds) 

46. As set forth in the 03/07/24 Notice, MS Leisure failed to maintain animals in 

accordance with the AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards specified in Section 3.154 

“Environment Enhancement to Promote Psychological Wellbeing” due to macaws and parrots 

showing psychological distress with extensive feather plucking and feather destructive behavior.  

Ex. E1, Ex. E2. 

x. Failure to Maintain the Premises in a Good State of Repair and Clean Condition 
 

47. As referenced in the 03/07/24 Notice (Ex. E) and set forth in the 12/07/23 

Inspection Report (Ex. E1) and the 01/09/24 Inspection Report (Ex. E2), MS Leisure failed to 

maintain the Premises in a good state of repair and clean condition by failing to keep the animal 

facilities in good condition. 

48. The 03/07/24 Notice (Ex. E) also referenced the Building Official’s issuance of 

several Notice of Violations dating as far back as 2022 finding that structures on the Premises are 

unsafe and structurally deficient, including the Whale Bowl (Case No. 20210211387-U), 

the  Golden Dome (Case No. 20210211348-U), Corridor A (20230218376-U), and Building U 

(Case No. 20240226206), and ordering the repair or demolition of Unsafe Structures on the 

Premises. See Composite Exhibit “E3.” Specifically, the violations include: 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000019
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a. As to the Whale Bowl: Falling away, hanging loose, or loosening of siding, block, 

brick, or other building material, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-5(b)(2)(i), of 

the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code; deteriorated 

structure or structural parts, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-5(b)(2)(ii), of the 

Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code; and conditions 

dangerous to human like and welfare, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-5(a)(2), 

of the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code. As a result of 

these conditions, the Miami-Dade County Regulatory and Economic Resources 

Department has found the Whale Bowl to be an Unsafe Structure. This Unsafe 

Structure case remains open. The conditions have not been remedied and continue 

to violate the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code.  

b. As to the Golden Dome: Falling away, hanging loose, or loosening 

of siding, block, brick, or other building material, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 

8-5(b)(2)(i), of the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code; 

deteriorated structure or structural parts, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-

5(b)(2)(ii), of the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code; and 

conditions dangerous to human like and welfare, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 

8-5(a)(2), of the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code. As a 

result of these conditions, the Miami-Dade County Regulatory and Economic 

Resources Department has found the Golden Dome to be an Unsafe Structure. The 

conditions have not been remedied and continue to violate the Code of Miami-Dade 

County and the Florida Building Code. 
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c. As to Corridor A: Falling away, hanging loose, or loosening of 

siding, block, brick, or other building material, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 

8-5(b)(2)(i), of the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code; 

deteriorated structure or structural parts, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-

5(b)(2)(ii), of the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code; fire 

or windstorm hazard, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-5(a)(2), of the Code of 

Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code; and conditions dangerous to 

human like and welfare, in violation of Chapter 8, Section 8-5(a)(2), of the Code of 

Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code. As a result of these conditions, 

the Miami-Dade County Regulatory and Economic Resources Department has 

found Corridor A to be an Unsafe Structure. This Unsafe Structure case remains 

open. The conditions have not been remedied and continue to violate the Code of 

Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code. 

d. As to Building U: See supra Paragraph 28a. 

49. Additionally, the 03/07/24 Notice referenced the deficient conditions of numerous 

Seaquarium facilities, buildings, and areas representing violations of Sections 11 (as set forth in 

the Third Amendment) and 29 of the Lease Agreement, as set forth in the USDA Inspection 

Reports dated November 28, 2023 (Ex. E1) and November 14, 2022, attached hereto as Exhibit 

“E4.” 

E.  The Fifth Notice of Breach – Numerous Breaches 

50. On or about April 11, 2024, the County sent a Second Notice of Additional Defaults 

(“04/11/24 Notice”), attached hereto as Exhibit “F,” setting forth additional defaults by MS 

Leisure in violation of the Lease Agreement.  
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51. The 04/11/24 Notice (Ex. F) specifically referenced MS Leisure’s numerous (and 

ongoing) failures to maintain animals in accordance with the AWA and its mandatory regulations 

and standards documented by the USDA’s Inspection Report dated February 8, 2024 from its 

January 30, 2024 inspection (“02/08/24 Inspection Report”), attached hereto as Exhibit “F1,” and 

the USDA’s Inspection Report dated March 7, 2024 from its March 5, 2024 inspection (“03/07/24 

Inspection Report”), attached hereto as Exhibit “F2.” 

i. Lack of Veterinary Care, Yet Again 

52. Specifically, the 04/11/24 Notice referenced failures to maintain animals in 

accordance with the AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards specified in Section 2.40 

“Veterinary Care” by failing to use appropriate methods to control Pacheco’s disease, which is 

highly infectious and deadly among birds. See Ex. F2. The 04/11/24 Notice is the County’s fourth 

notice to MS Leisure of its failure to maintain animals in accordance with Section 2.40 “Veterinary 

Care,” relating to the inadequate veterinary care of animals at the Seaquarium. This failure is a 

default that dates back to at least July 2022. 

53. MS Leisure’s failure to provide adequate veterinary care is a repeated, ongoing 

default and violation of Sections 11 (as set forth in the Third Amendment) and 29 of the Lease.  

ii. Improper Maintenance of Facilities, Again 

54. Additionally, the 04/11/24 Notice referenced ongoing critical failures to maintain 

animals in accordance with the AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards governing 

animal facilities, as specified in: 

Penguin Facilities 

a. Section 3.150 “Facilities” due to continuing disrepair of penguin enclosures 

including ongoing issues with black mold growth, areas of sagging and peeling 
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paint, and rust stains on walls. These failures were noted by the USDA to be 

“Repeat.” See Ex. F1, Ex. F2. 

Golden Dome 

b. Section 3.101 “Facilities” due to disrepair of the Golden Dome facility. See Ex. F1. 

These failures were noted by the USDA to be “Repeat.” See Ex. F1. 

Tropical Wings Bird Facilities 

c. Section 3.150 “Facilities” due to continuing disrepair of the Tropical Wings bird 

facilities including ongoing issues with excessive rust, rusty surfaces, and flaking 

paint. Ex. F1. These failures were noted by the USDA to be “Repeat.” See Ex. F1. 

Perimeter Fences 

d. Section 3.103 “Outdoor Facilities” due to disrepair and defects of perimeter fences 

including rust, lack structural integrity, and gaps in fencing. Ex. F2.  

Sanitary Sewer Pump 

55. The 4/11/24 Notice also referenced a deficient sanitary sewer pump station and 

collection system (“Sewer System”) at the Premises, posing significant issues to the Premises and 

in violation of County Code. See March 6, 2024 Field Notices, attached hereto at Exhibit “F3.” 

56. MS Leisure’s failure to adequately maintain the animal facilities is a repeated, 

ongoing default and violation of Sections 11 (as set forth in the Third Amendment) and 29 of the 

Lease.  

iii. Failure to Provide Reports 

57. The 04/11/24 Notice also referenced MS Leisure’s failure to provide reports 

requested by the County in violation of Section 27 (as set forth in the Third Amendment) of the 

Lease. 
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iv. Failure to Allow Inspection 

58. The 04/11/24 Notice also referenced MS Leisure’s failure to allow inspections of 

the Premises requested by the County in violation of Section 27 (as set forth in the Third 

Amendment) of the Lease. 

III. MS Leisure’s Ongoing Breaches of the Lease Agreement  

59. Despite having received the County’s numerous notices identifying material 

breaches of the Lease Agreement, MS Leisure continues to violate material terms of the Lease 

Agreement. 

60. MS Leisure continues to fail to (1) maintain the animals in accordance with the 

AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards, (2) maintain the Seaquarium’s buildings, 

facilities, and structures in a good state of repair and clean condition, and (3) comply with all 

applicable law, as required by the Lease Agreement.  

61. The Whale Bowl (Case No. 20210211387-U), the Golden Dome (Case No. 

20210211348-U), Corridor A (20230218376-U), and Building U (Case No. 20240226206) remain 

active Unsafe Structure cases and are therefore clearly not in a good state of repair.  

a. At the Whale Bowl, there has been a verbal intent to demolish the structure, but 

there has otherwise been no progress toward demolition or structural repair. One 

permit to install an egress passage has expired. Otherwise, no permits have been 

obtained for repairs.  

b. At the Golden Dome, there is extensive spalling along the perimeter of the structure, 

and the Dome’s connecting joints and supports are corroded and in need of 

immediate repair. Further, there is a brown spot in the pool from algae or debris. 

No permits have been obtained for repairs.  
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c. In Corridor A, there is extensive corrosion on the steel supports, and there is also 

extensive corrosion and spalling on the walls and ceiling. No permits have been 

obtained for repairs.  

d. With respect to Building U, no permits have been obtained for repairs.  

62. Further, the buildings identified in Paragraph 28 above remain in violation of the 

Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code and are therefore not in a good state 

of repair.  

63. MS Leisure continues to fail to maintain the flamingo area in accordance with the 

Animal Welfare Act’s regulations and standards governing outdoor facilities and water quality, 

and also continues to fail to maintain the flamingo area in a good state of repair and clean condition. 

There is not enough shelter to accommodate the number and spatial needs of the flamingos, and 

the pools and water features lack adequate drainage and filtration, resulting in stagnant, murky, 

algae-filled water. 

64. With respect to the Top Deck, MS Leisure continues to fail to maintain the area in 

accordance with the Animal Welfare Act’s regulations and standards governing facilities, and also 

continues to fail to maintain the Top Deck in a good state of repair. There is concrete damage 

around the pool’s perimeter, which has been covered up by paint in an attempted but inadequate 

repair effort, as well as corrosion of steel beams supporting the structure. 

65. With respect to the Tropical Fish Aquarium, MS Leisure continues to fail to 

maintain the area in a good state of repair and clean condition. There is corrosion on the steel 

columns and spalling on the concrete beams and slabs that support the ceiling, which in turn creates 

the floor to the level above. Additionally, the water column inside the tank is visibly dirty. 
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66. MS Leisure continues to fail to maintain the sea lion holding area, which includes 

the Golden Dome, in accordance with the Animal Welfare Act’s regulations and standards 

governing facilities and water quality, and also fails to maintain the sea lion holding area, which 

includes the Golden Dome, in a good state of repair and clean condition. There is rust in the tanks 

holding the sea lions, the water column is cloudy, there is peeling paint near the pools, and at least 

one sea lion has been seen holding its eyes closed.  

67. MS Leisure continues to fail to maintain the penguin enclosure in accordance with 

the Animal Welfare Act’s regulations and standards governing facilities generally and indoor 

facilities specifically, and also fails to maintain the penguin enclosure in a good state of repair and 

clean condition. The penguin enclosure has concrete cracking and spalling, anchor bolts on steel 

columns are corroded, there is mold on the ceiling and peeling paint and rust on the walls, and the 

facility has poor ventilation and a noxious odor.  

68. MS Leisure continues to fail to maintain the fish house in a good state of repair and 

clean condition. The roof of the fish house is being temporarily supported with post shores and 

wood beams, indicating a structural problem with the roof.  

69. MS Leisure continues to fail to maintain Flipper Stadium in accordance with the 

Animal Welfare Act’s regulations and standards governing facilities, and also continues to fail to 

maintain Flipper Stadium in a good state of repair and clean condition. A portion of the boardwalk 

around the medical pool is fully submerged in water and accessible by dolphins, fencing is held 

up by zip ties, the steel beams supporting the canopy structure are corroded to the point of being 

perforated, and there is concrete cracking and spalling throughout the structure.  

70. MS Leisure continues to fail to maintain Dolphin Harbor in accordance with the 

Animal Welfare Act’s regulations and standards governing facilities, and also continues to fail to 
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maintain Dolphin Harbor in a good state of repair and clean condition. There is fencing held up 

with zip ties and algae in the water.  

71. MS Leisure continues to fail to maintain the Tropical Wings section in accordance 

with the Animal Welfare Act’s regulations and standards governing facilities, and also continues 

to fail to maintain the Tropical Wings Section in a good state of repair and clean condition. There 

is a visible vermin trail into and out of the area.  

72. MS Leisure continues to fail to maintain the parrot enclosure in accordance with 

the Animal Welfare Act’s regulations and standards governing facilities and primary enclosures. 

There is a rusted chain inside one of the parrot’s holding cages.  

73. MS Leisure continues to fail to maintain the veterinary clinic in accordance with 

the Animal Welfare Act’s regulations and standards governing adequate veterinary care, and also 

continues to fail to maintain the veterinary clinic in a good state of repair and good condition. The 

veterinary clinic is little more than a shed that lacks the personnel, equipment, and space to 

adequately care for the animals on the Premises. At the County’s most recent site and operational 

inspection, at least one sea lion and two dolphins were holding their eyes closed, and at least one 

dolphin was very thin and acting abnormally.   

74. MS Leisure continues to fail to maintain the perimeter fence in accordance with the 

Animal Welfare Act’s regulations and standards governing outdoor facilities, and also continues 

to fail to maintain the perimeter fence in a good state of repair and clean condition. There are gaps 

along the perimeter fence, a number of fence posts are rusted through, there is evidence of vermin 

trails underneath the fence, and there is razor wire hanging down on the public side of the fence. 

There are invasive species throughout the Premises, including birds, iguanas, and cats.  
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75. MS Leisure has not obtained, or used reasonable efforts to obtain, the Seaquarium’s 

accreditation by the AZA. 

76. As detailed herein, MS Leisure violated Section 11 (as set forth in the Third 

Amendment) of the Lease Agreement by failing and refusing to maintain animals in accordance 

with the AWA and its mandatory regulations and standards. These breaches have been ongoing 

for several months or years. These breaches are material violations of the Lease Agreement. 

77. As detailed herein, MS Leisure violated Section 11 (as set forth in the Third 

Amendment) of the Lease Agreement by failing and refusing to maintain the Seaquarium’s 

buildings, facilities, and structures in a good state of repair and clean condition. These breaches 

have been ongoing for several months or years. These breaches are material violations of the Lease 

Agreement. 

78. As detailed herein, MS Leisure violated Section 29 of the Lease Agreement by 

failing to maintain the Premises and the Seaquarium’s animals in compliance with all applicable 

laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances, and statutes, including but not limited to the County’s 

Building Code and the Animal Welfare Act. These breaches have been ongoing for several months 

or years. These breaches are material violations of the Lease Agreement. 

79. As detailed herein, MS Leisure violated Section 27 (as set forth in the Third 

Amendment) of the Lease Agreement by failing and refusing to provide the County with reports 

upon request, failing to allow for inspections, and failing to use reasonable efforts to seek AZA 

accreditation. 

80. As set forth above, the County provided notice of all defaults to MS Leisure, as 

required by Section 16 of the Lease Agreement.  
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81. To the extent any defaults could be remedied, the County provided MS Leisure 

with more than 45 days and with any and all additional time that was reasonably necessary to 

remedy such defaults. 

82. Additionally, to the extent a 45-day or additional time period for remedying or 

curing defaults was not enjoyed by MS Leisure, it would have been futile to allow MS Leisure 

time to cure violations and breaches that cannot be cured, such as unsafe and unsanitary conditions 

that caused, or may have caused, irreparable or imperceptible harm to animals.  

83. Accordingly, on March 7, 2024, the County provided MS Leisure with a Notice of 

Termination of Lease effective April 21, 2024, pursuant to Section 16(C) of the Lease Agreement, 

which provides: “In the event . . . any violation of the covenants and conditions of this [Lease] is 

not remedied within the cure periods set forth in Section 16(A) above, then, the date upon which 

this [Lease] shall terminate shall be set by Lessor.” 

84. On April 22, 2024, the County provided MS Leisure with notice of its decision to 

evict MS Leisure from the Premises because of the numerous material defaults of the Lease 

Agreement.  

85. As of June 25, 2024, MS Leisure continues to fail and refuse to comply with the 

material terms of the Lease Agreement. 

COUNT I – Eviction from Commercial Property 

86. The County incorporates Paragraphs 1-85 as if fully set forth herein. 

87. This is an action for removal of MS Leisure from the Premises, and for removal of 

MS Leisure’s personal property from the Premises. 

88. Despite several notices and the opportunity to cure its defaults, MS Leisure 

nonetheless remains in breach of the Lease Agreement as set forth in detail herein.  
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89. The County is entitled to possession of the Premises as of the date of termination, 

April 21, 2024, free of any further obligations of the Lease Agreement. 

90. The County is entitled to the Summary Procedure provided in Section 51.011, 

Florida Statutes. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Miami-Dade County, demands a judgment of summary eviction 

against MS Leisure Company, Inc., and a writ placing Miami-Dade County in possession of the 

Premises. Additionally, the County demands such other relief as this Court deems just and 

appropriate.   

Dated: June 25, 2024   
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
     GERALDINE BONZON-KEENAN 
     Miami-Dade County Attorney  
     Stephen P. Clark Center 
     111 NW 1st Street, Suite 2810 
     Miami, Florida 33128 
        
     By:  /s/ Brianna E. Donet     
     Melanie J. Spencer  
     Assistant County Attorney 
     Florida Bar No. 0111786 

Brianna E. Donet  
Assistant County Attorney 

     Florida Bar No. 1018530 
Email:  Melanie.Spencer@miamidade.gov  
  Brianna.Donet@miamidade.gov 

 Yohana.Ramos@miamidade.gov 
Telephone: (305) 375-5151 
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RECIPIENT

October 28, 2022 NOTICE OF NON-COMPLIANCE
              via electronic and certified mail

Mr. Travis Burke
Executive Director, North America
The Dolphin Company
MS Leisure Company, Inc.
The Miami Seaquarium
4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33149

RE: Notice of Non-Compliance

Dear Mr. Burke:

As you are aware, the terms of the assigned and assumed “Amended and Restated Lease 
Between Miami-Dade County [the “County”] and Marine Exhibition Corporation, d/b/a The 
Miami Seaquarium dated July 25, 2000, as amended by a First Amendment dated 
November 16, 2001, a Second Amendment dated August 7, 2003, and by three (3) Lease 
Extension Agreements dated July 7, 2006, October 6, 2006, and March 9, 2020, 
respectively (collectively, the “Amended and Restated Lease Agreement”), set forth the 
obligations between the Seaquarium and the County, including the Seaquarium’s 
responsibilities regarding the health and welfare of the marine animals in its care.

Pursuant to the findings of the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”)’s
Inspection Report dated September 23, 2022 and the USDA’s Appeal Response Letter 
dated September 16, 2022, copies of which are attached hereto, the County has 
determined that the Seaquarium is in violation of the terms of the Amended and Restated 
Lease Agreement as set forth at Section 29, Applicable Laws.

Section 29 states in its entirety that “[a]ll provisions of this Amended and Restated Lease 
are subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances and statutes and 
the Amended and Restated Lease shall not be deemed to permit Lessee to violate the 
same or to limit Lessor’s authority to enforce same.”

The USDA, through its Animal Inspection and Plant Health Inspection Service, has 
jurisdiction under the federal Animal Welfare Act concerning the humane handling, care, 
treatment, and transportation of marine mammals in captivity.  The USDA’s Inspection 
Report cites specific violations of the Code of Federal Regulations by the Seaquarium, 
which correspondingly are violations of applicable law under Section 29 of the Amended 
and Restated Lease Agreement.

miamidade.gov

Parks, Recreation and Open Spaces
275 NW 2nd Street

Miami, Florida 33128
T 305-755-7800

Every Great Community has
a Great Park System.

2013 Governor’ Sustained
Excellence Award
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Notice of Non-Compliance 
The Dolphin Company/MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

October 28, 2022 
Page 2 of 2

Therefore, in accordance with Section 16, Default, subsection A, General Provisions, of 
the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, we are issuing this Notice of Non-
Compliance (the “Notice”) to formally advise the Seaquarium of its failure to comply with 
applicable law and to secure remediation of the violations cited in the USDA’s Interim 
Report, as well as to remind the Seaquarium of its contractual obligations in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement.  

Please note that remediation of these violations is required within forty-five (45) days from 
receipt of this Notice.   The County retains the option to exercise all available remedies 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, 
and reserves all its rights under the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement. 

Please do not hesitate to contact me at (305) 755-5459 or via email at 
perry.perez@miamidade.gov with any questions you may have.  Thank you in advance 
for your immediate attention to this matter. 

Sincerely, 

Perry I. Perez 
Chief, Contracts & Procurement Division 

cc:  Jimmy Morales, Chief Operations Officer, Office of the Mayor 
  Johanna Cervone, Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 
  Rachel Johnson, Deputy Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 
  Maria I. Nardi, Director, PROS 
  Christina Salinas-Cotter, Assistant Director, PROS 
  Melanie Spencer, County Attorney’s Office 

encl:   USDA Inspection Report dated September 23, 2022 
  USDA Appeal Response Letter dated September 16, 2022 
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 United States Department of Agriculture EGONZALEZ 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000814970 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: E GONZALEZ Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 23-SEP-2022 

Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
OFFICER 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
23-SEP-2022 

Page 1 of 9 

MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

9600 N. Oceanshore Boulevard
St Augustine, FL 32080

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: FOCUSED INSPECTION 

Date: 06-JUL-2022 

2.40(a)(2) Critical
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
The Assistant Director of Animal Training (ADAT) consulted with corporate trainers and the Animal Care Specialists 

Manager (ACSM) to decrease the diets for 9 out of 12 dolphins at Dolphin Harbor and did not consult the attending 

veterinarian of the facility. This was a 60% cut to the dolphins’ daily food rations and resulted in very thin animals. For 

example, Star, a 23yr old female dolphin was being fed approximately 12lbs daily in January 2022 and her diet was cut 

abruptly on March 31st to 4lbs daily. The full changes are listed below.

• Star, a 23yr old female dolphin: January 2022 (12lbs daily) to March 31st (4lbs daily)

• Gemini, a 7yr old female dolphin: January 2022 (13lbs daily) to April 1st (6lbs daily)

• Skye, a 24yr old female dolphin: January 2022 (11lbs daily) to April 1st (7.5lbs daily)

• Cobalt, a 12yr old male dolphin: March 2022 (18lbs daily) to April 1st (5lbs daily) 

• Ringo, a 12yr old male dolphin: January 2022 (15lbs daily) to April 1st (8lbs daily)

• Squirt, a 12yr old female dolphin: January 2022 (13lbs daily) to March 31st (4lbs daily)

• JJ, a 46yr old male dolphin: January 2022 (10lbs daily) to April 1st (6.5lbs daily) 

• Calypso, an 8yr female dolphin: March 2022 (15lbs daily) to April 1st (9lbs daily)

• Aries, a 20yr old male dolphin: January 2022 (13lbs daily) to March 31st (3lbs daily)
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 United States Department of Agriculture EGONZALEZ 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000814970 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: E GONZALEZ Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 23-SEP-2022 

Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
OFFICER 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
23-SEP-2022 

Page 2 of 9 

Medical notes from a visual examination performed by the AV on June 26th, 2022, specifically identified 3 thin animals. 

Cobalt was noted having prominent scapula and ribs with an overall thin Body Condition Score (BCS). His Body Blubber 

Index (BBI) was down to 31 and his weight was 45lbs under his target weight range. Aries was noted having prominent 

and palpable scapula and ribs with a slight post-nuchal indention. His BBI was low at 34 and he was 35lbs below his goal 

weight. Squirt was noted having slightly prominent scapula and ribs with a low BBI of 33. She was below her weight 

range. On July 2nd, 2022, the AV noted that Star’s shoulder/scapula were fairly prominent. With a BBI of 36 and overall 

thin appearing BCS, Star was approximately 25lbs below her target range.

Photos taken by facility staff, social media photos and an examination by APHIS Marine Mammal Specialist during the 

inspection identify the following concerns for each dolphin affected:

• Aries: He weighed 375lbs on March 5th and 312lbs on June 25th (a loss of 63 lbs.) The facility records his goal weight 

was between 355-365lbs. With a BCS of 3/10, Aries was described as a very thin dolphin with weight loss in his neck, an 

indentation in his nuchal area, prominent scapula, rib shadowing, decreased muscle mass in his peduncle, and visible 

lateral spinous processes. 

• Calypso: She weighed 373lbs on May 25th. There is no current weight on Calypso and no ideal weight range noted on 

the facilities Departmental Baseboard. With a BCS of 4/10, Calypso was described as a thin dolphin with an indentation 

on her post nuchal area behind her blowhole, a visible scapula and loss of weight in her thorax. Additionally, her lateral 

spinous processes in her peduncle are pronounced as well as a loss of muscle mass in the peduncle.

• Cayman: He weighed 307lbs on March 5th and 298lbs on April 16th (a loss of 9lbs.) The facility records his goal weight 

between 310-320lbs. With a BCS of 5/10, Cayman looked to be in good body condition at the time of inspection. 

However, photos of Cayman provided by the facility show a very lean animal with prominent lateral spinous processes. 

• Cobalt: He weighed 615lbs on March 5th and 511lbs on July 2nd (a loss of 104lbs.) The facility records his goal weight 
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between 560-570lbs. With a BCS of 3.5/10, Cobalt was described as a thin and lean dolphin with a slender neck, 

pronounced scapula and shoulders, rib shadowing and pronounced lateral spinous processes.

• Gemini: With a BCS of 3.5/10, Gemini was described as a thin dolphin with weight loss in her neck, visible lateral 

spinous processes and loss of mass in her peduncle. 

• Ringo: He weighed 336lbs on March 5th and 299lbs on June 25th (a loss of 37lbs.) The facility records his goal weight 

between 315-325lbs. With a BCS of 4/10, pictures posted to social media show a very thin animal with a “neck”, 

noticeable scapula, with weight loss in the back and peduncle area. At the time of inspection, Ringo had regained some 

weight since those photos; however, he was still described as lean with visible lateral spinous processes.

• Skye: She weighed 377lbs on March 5th and 362lbs on July 2nd (a loss of 15lbs.) The facility records her goal weight 

between 370-380lbs. With a BCS of 4/10, Skye was described as a thin dolphin with a pronounced scapula, visible lateral 

spinous processes and weight loss visible in both upper body and peduncle areas. 

• Squirt: She weighed 331lbs on March 5th and 289lbs on July 2nd (a loss of 42lbs.) The facility records her goal weight 

between 320-330lbs. With a BCS of 3.5/10, Squirt was described as a lean dolphin with muscle loss in the peduncle area 

and neck with some lateral spinous processes still visible.

• Star: She weighed 345lbs on March 5th and 315lbs on July 2nd (a loss of 30lbs.) The facility records her goal weight 

between 340-350lbs. With a BCS of 3.5/10, Star was described as a thin dolphin, with visible lateral spinous processes of 

the peduncle as well as muscle mass loss in the peduncle area.

This reduction in diet was not approved by the facility’s AV. The AV was not consulted prior to the diet changes and was 

not alerted by the ADAT when these changes were implemented. After the major cuts, the diets were gradually increased 

over the next few days; however, the diets never reached appropriate levels to maintain each animal’s appropriate weight 

and the animals continued to lose weight.  When both veterinarians were questioned directly by APHIS officials, they 
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confirmed they would not have approved the diet cuts. Upon the AV’s examination findings in late June/early July, she 

recommended a gradual increase in diets to return the animals to their target weight ranges. The staff complied and 

began increasing the animals’ diets as instructed.

Additionally, the layout of the guest interactions was changed without the AV’s guidance. The previous guest interactions, 

in conjunction with the AV’s guidance, were coordinated under the protection of the umbrellas to avoid the animals looking 

directly into the sun for their feedings and directions. The new guest interactions position the dolphins in areas away from 

the shade and, depending on the time of the day, do not offer protection from looking into the sun. These program 

changes were not reviewed prior to implementation by the facility’s attending veterinarian. The guest interactions have 

also changed by increasing the number of guests in attendance per session without veterinary input. 

The Attending Veterinarian must have the appropriate authority to ensure adequate veterinary care is provided and that 

they have the authority to oversee the adequacy of other aspects of animal care.

Correct from this day forward. 

2.40(b)(3) Critical
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
There was an increase in frequency of abnormal behaviors such as regurgitation, mouthing, refusing control etc. that were 

not communicated in a timely manner to the Attending Veterinarian. Documents tracking weekly overall health parameters 

for the 12 animals at Dolphin Harbor (DH) were created by the Assistant Director of Animal Training and the area 

supervisor for DH with the purpose of updating the animals’ progress to the Animal Care Specialists Manager after recent 

diet changes. This PowerPoint included photos of each animal that were updated weekly. The AV had not been sent 

these routine weekly updates on the animal health parameters, and therefore could not identify the weight loss trends 

these animals experienced earlier than June 26th, 2022.

Furthermore, an examination of training records for the dolphins at DH noted increased instances of regurgitation from 
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animals that have not historically had this problem. For example, between February 23rd–July 6th, 2022, there were 88 

days where trainers recorded episodes of regurgitation for Aries. Thirty of those days, he regurgitated during two sessions 

and 6 of those days he regurgitated during three sessions. Over the 88-day period, he regurgitated during 137 sessions. 

Thirty-five of those sessions, he was noted as regurgitating throughout the session or excessively. 135 out of 137 

sessions were during public encounters. Two dates of particular concern are March 23rd and 24th, when he was noted to 

have sessions with approximately 60 and 67 guests, respectively. Three regurgitations were during training sessions, and 

one was during a husbandry session. Not only did the incidence of these abnormalities increase, but the occurrence of 

these problems was also not communicated in a timely manner to the AV. When questioned by APHIS Officials, the AV 

admitted that she was not aware of the severity of Aries’ regurgitation concerns until late June. 

The facility failed to provide direct and frequent communications regarding animal health and well-being to the AV. The 

documents tracking the weights, diets and pictures of the Dolphin Harbor animals should have been communicated to the 

AV. This delayed the animals’ access to appropriate and timely medical care. The abnormal behaviors expressed by Aries 

could have been associated with diet cuts or other medical concerns. The facility must ensure that a mechanism of direct 

and frequent communication is required so that timely and accurate information on problems of animal health, behavior, 

and well-being is conveyed to the attending veterinarian. 

Correct from this day forward.

2.131(b)(2)(ii) Critical
Handling of animals.
The diets of 9 dolphins at Dolphin Harbor were cut for the purpose of ensuring the animals performed for the guest 

interactions. The Assistant Director of Animal Training (ADAT) and the area supervisor for Dolphin Harbor (DH) created 

documents to track the weights and Body Blubber Index (BBI) for the 12 dolphins living at this location; these documents 

were sent for review by the Animal Care Specialists Manager (ACSM) who is not a veterinarian. After observing that 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000203

Case 25-10606-LSS    Doc 357-12    Filed 07/17/25    Page 204 of 331





 United States Department of Agriculture EGONZALEZ 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000814970 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: E GONZALEZ Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 23-SEP-2022 

Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
OFFICER 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
23-SEP-2022 

Page 6 of 9 

several dolphins were behaving abnormally and looked thin, the Director/Zoological Curator stepped in to increase the 

diets gradually by one pound of fish beginning mid-June. She was met with resistance from the ACSM and ADAT.  

Communications from the ACSM stated his concerns regarding the Program dolphins’ satiation and what would be the 

plan if the animals “dropped operation” as they had done before. Additionally, the ACSM referred to an incident with 

Cobalt, a male dolphin, that was triggered by his satiation. He insisted that he would not approve diet increases until the 

Director had provided him with the answers to these questions.

Furthermore, a review of trainer records noted that in many cases, the limited pounds of fish were only offered during the 

guest interactions and not during any training or husbandry sessions the animals participated in. All 9 animals decreased 

in weight over the course of two months – some of them significantly. On or about March 31st, multiple animals had their 

daily food intake markedly reduced. For example, on March 31st Aries was fed 12 pounds of fish for the day and on April 

1st, he was abruptly reduced to 3 pounds daily. He was slowly increased to 7 pounds daily where he remained until May 

4th when another incremental adjustment was made to 8.5 pounds. At that point, Aries’ weight had decreased by 29 

pounds in one month. Overall, he lost 63 pounds between April and June.

The food deprivation these dolphins were subjected to also led to increased incidents of unwanted behaviors such as 

splitting or breaking from sessions, swimming over ledges where guests may stand, sinking during line-ups and 

aggressing against trainers. For example, prior to the new company taking ownership of the facility, Calypso had an 

average 18 incidents of unwanted behavior during the months of January and February 2022. These ranged from sinking 

during the session, terminating behaviors, poor attention to swimming over the ledge at a trainer to bite a target pole. After 

the transition in March 2022, Calypso’s unwanted behaviors drastically increased to 38 separate incidents in the month of 

April. The severity and frequency of these behaviors increased; on April 1st, 6th, 13th, 14th, 17th, and 21st, Calypso 

mouthed at least one of her trainers. May 29th and June 16th, she repeated these behaviors.

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000204

Case 25-10606-LSS    Doc 357-12    Filed 07/17/25    Page 205 of 331





 United States Department of Agriculture EGONZALEZ 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000814970 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: E GONZALEZ Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 23-SEP-2022 

Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
OFFICER 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
23-SEP-2022 

Page 7 of 9 

During the months of January 2022 and February 2022, Cobalt had virtually no aggressive incidents recorded on his 

training charts. Beginning end of March 2022, the incidents of inappropriate behaviors steadily increased. Cobalt began 

sinking during sessions and focusing on Star (a female dolphin). He routinely split from session and began swimming over 

to guests during an encounter. On March 26th, he open-mouthed a trainer’s foot during an interaction. On April 3rd, he sat 

up on the catwalk towards a trainer. On June 30th, he attempted to mouth a target pole several times. He then mouthed 

two trainers on July 4th.

During a land encounter on June 5th, Cayman exhibited poor control and refused primary reinforcement (fish). He 

attempted to mouth a trainer’s hand and pumped up at the trainer. On July 7th, during a training session, Cayman 

rammed a trainer in deep water. The 3-trainer team attempted multiple redirections to help the trainer in the water get out; 

however, Cayman ignored the recalls and mouthed the trainer several times while they swam to the stairs. The trainers 

gave him a break of about 10 minutes and then reattempted the training session. Cayman attempted to ram the ADAT in 

the water several times but never made contact. He ignored the ADAT’s attempt to regain control and fast swam over the 

ledge multiple times. The ADAT presented a plastic “aversion” shield to attempt to reestablish control, but Cayman 

showed no change in behavior.

Depriving these dolphins of their full dietary and nutrition requirements to ensure compliance during public encounters 

directly affected their health and well-being. The facility must provide each animal its full dietary requirements for each 

day. Deprivation of food or water shall not be used to train, work or otherwise handle animals.

Correct from this day forward. 

2.131(c)(1) Critical
Handling of animals.
A review of trainer records for the dolphins at Dolphin Harbor identified multiple aggressive incidents when a dolphin 

“mouthed” a member of the public during an in-water interaction. The records show that the animals exhibited warning 
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behaviors prior to mouthing such as sinking after performing behaviors, swimming over the ledge of the pools without 

specific direction to do so, fast swimming, terminating control (refusing to participate) during sessions, ignoring signals for

behaviors and splitting from the session. The facility staff elected to continue guest interactions with animals that were 

exhibiting aggressive warning behaviors. Examples are listed below:

• Calypso, an 8yr female dolphin, mouthed a guest on six different occasions during the months of April 2022 – July 2022. 

On April 1st, 2022, the trainer records noted that the trainers “worked through” the inappropriate behavior during that 

incident instead of stopping the session. 

• Cobalt, 12yr old male dolphin, mouth a guest on six different occasions during the months of April 2022 – July 2022. On 

June 6th, his fluke hit a guest during an encounter. On June 30th, Cobalt mouthed a guest twice on the hand during the 

third encounter of the day and was then used in another encounter later that day. Before all mouthing incidents, Cobalt 

exhibited warning behaviors such as splitting from control and swimming towards guests in deep water. Also, he would 

sink during sessions and watch guests underwater. Additionally, at the end of sessions, he would sink underwater and 

follow guests out of the pool. Since early April, his level of aggression during encounters has steadily increased – to the 

point where almost every day he terminates control from sessions. 

The facility failed to handle their animals in a manner that minimized the risk of harm to the public and continued guest 

interactions even when dolphins were demonstrating aggressive behaviors earlier in training sessions.  Mouthing any 

portion of an individual’s body (hand or foot) can be considered a precursor to more aggressive behaviors that ultimately 

may lead to serious injuries to the public. During public exhibition, any animal must be handled so there is minimal risk of 

harm to the animal and to the public. The facility’s guest interactions must assure the safety of the animals and the public.

Correct from this day forward.

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with several facility representatives.
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Additional Inspectors: 

Laurie Gage, Zoological Species Specialist 

Charles Palmer, VETERINARY MEDICAL OFFICER n
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Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000020 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000002 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 
000009 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000013 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 

000044 Total
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RECIPIENT

             
             

November 1, 2023      NOTICE OF DEFAULT
              via electronic and certified mail

Mr. Eduardo Albor
President
The Dolphin Company
MS Leisure Company, Inc.
The Miami Seaquarium
4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33149

RE:  Notice of Default  

Dear Mr. Albor: 

As you are aware, the terms of the assigned and assumed “Amended and Restated Lease 
Between Miami-Dade County [the “County”] and Marine Exhibition Corporation, d/b/a The 
Miami Seaquarium dated July 25, 2000, as amended by a First Amendment dated 
November 16, 2001, a Second Amendment dated August 7, 2003, a Third Amendment 
dated September 9, 2022, and by three (3) Lease Extension Agreements dated July 7, 
2006, October 6, 2006, and March 9, 2020, respectively (collectively, the “Amended and 
Restated Lease Agreement”), set forth the obligations between the Seaquarium and the 
County, including the Seaquarium’s responsibilities regarding the health and welfare of 
the marine animals in its care.

Pursuant to the findings of the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”)’s
Inspection Report dated July 17, 2023, a copy of which is attached hereto, the County 
has determined that the Seaquarium is in violation of the terms of the Amended and 
Restated Lease Agreement as set forth at Section 11, Premises To Be Kept in Repair (as 
amended by the Third Amendment), and Section 29, Applicable Laws. 

Section 11, as amended, states in relevant part that “[d]uring the term of the Amended 
and Restated Lease, as same may be extended, Lessee and its Sublessee(s), as 
applicable, shall keep the Demised Premises and all improvements and personal property 
thereon, exclusive of animals, in a good state of repair and in a clean condition, subject 
to damage or destruction by fire or other elements, similar to other facilities maintained 
by Lessee and shall maintain animals in accordance with federal laws and regulations, 
including the Marine Mammal Protection Act and the Animal Welfare Act as applicable.” 

Section 29 states in its entirety that “[a]ll provisions of this Amended and Restated Lease 
are subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances and statutes and 
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Notice of Default 
The Dolphin Company/MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

November 1, 2023 
Page 2 of 2

the Amended and Restated Lease shall not be deemed to permit Lessee to violate the 
same or to limit Lessor’s authority to enforce same.” 

The USDA, through its Animal Inspection and Plant Health Inspection Service, has 
jurisdiction under the federal Animal Welfare Act concerning the humane handling, care, 
treatment, and transportation of marine mammals in captivity.  The USDA’s Inspection 
Report cites specific violations of the Code of Federal Regulations by the Seaquarium, 
which correspondingly are violations of the Seaquarium’s contractual obligations to 
maintain animals in accordance with federal laws and regulations and applicable law 
under Section 11 (as amended) and Section 29, respectively, of the Amended and 
Restated Lease Agreement. 

Therefore, in accordance with Section 16, Default, subsection A, General Provisions, of 
the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, we are issuing this Notice of Default (the 
“Notice”) to formally advise the Seaquarium of its failure to comply with applicable law 
and to secure immediate remediation of the violations cited in the USDA’s Inspection 
Report dated July 17, 2023, as well as to remind the Seaquarium of its contractual 
obligations in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated 
Lease Agreement.  

Please note that remediation of these violations is required within forty-five (45) days from 
receipt of this Notice.   The County retains the option to exercise all available remedies 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, 
and reserves all its rights under the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement. 

Please do not hesitate to contact me at (305) 755-5459 or via email at 
perry.perez@miamidade.gov with any questions you may have.  Thank you in advance 
for your immediate attention to this matter. 

Sincerely, 

Perry I. Perez 
Chief, Contracts & Procurement Division 

cc:  Jimmy Morales, Chief Operations Officer, Office of the Mayor 
  Johanna Cervone, Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 
  Rachel Johnson, Deputy Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 
  Maria I. Nardi, Director, PROS 
  Christina Salinas-Cotter, Assistant Director, PROS 
  Melanie Spencer, County Attorney’s Office 

encl:   USDA Inspection Report dated July 17, 2023  
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MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: ROUTINE INSPECTION 

Date: 17-JUL-2023 

2.40(a)(2) 
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
The facility failed to recognize veterinary authority. Records indicate that on numerous occasions, the attending 
veterinarian (AV) made the determination that certain actions needed to be taken, these determinations were not 
followed, or her authority was ignored.  
 
• On January 3,2023, after treatment for foreign body ingestion, the AV determined that the current enclosure was 
no longer suitable for the pacific white-sided dolphin “Elelo” and recommended that he be transferred to another facility. 
The transfer had not yet happened at the time of inspection.  
• On July 6, 2023, after noting continued foreign body ingestion by “Elelo”, the AV determined that the facility did not have
the equipment to keep this animal in the current pool as the pool needs to undergo a significant amount of maintenance 
and there is a repeat risk of foreign body ingestion. The AV stated that she contacted the administration to try and 
expedite the process and plan to ship the animal to another facility as mentioned six months earlier. 
• It was reported by several employees that a newly appointed corporate trainer, in charge of dolphin training, was 
instructing other employees not to contact the AV and undermining her authority, which created a very stressful 
environment. A Chain of Command chart was displayed in the trainer’s office at Top Deck. This chart showed him at the 
top of the chain and did not include the AV. When asked, he stated that he did not report to facility management but 
instead answered to two corporate personnel. Numerous other employees reached out anonymously but hesitated to give 
formal statements for fear of retaliation. 
 
Failure to ensure that the attending veterinarian has appropriate authority over the veterinary care of the animals can lead 
to unnecessary stress, discomfort, and suffering of the animals. 
 
Each dealer and exhibitor shall assure that the attending veterinarian has appropriate authority to ensure the provisions of 
adequate veterinary care and to oversee the adequacy of other aspects of animal care and use. To be corrected from this 
day, (date of finalized report), forward. 

2.40(b)(1) 
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
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The facility failed to provide proper equipment or services to ensure adequate veterinary care.  
• On July 5, 2023, the AV noted that the gastroscope was very outdated and not working properly. She recommended 
purchasing a new system. This was not yet approved at the time of inspection. 
• The facility does not own scales that can be routinely used at all enclosures. As a result, the three adult manatees held 
at the facility, have not been weighed in more than 5 years. 
 
Properly functioning equipment is necessary for diagnosing, treating and maintaining the health of the animal. Accurate 
weights are essential for dosing medications and providing adequate routine care. 
 
The facility shall ensure the availability of appropriate equipment and/or services to provide adequate veterinary care. To 
be corrected by August 25, 2023. 

2.131(c)(1) 
Handling of animals.
On March 19, 2023, a member of the public was bitten on the hand by “Gemini”, a dolphin housed at Dolphin Harbor, 
during a “Meet and Greet” interaction with another dolphin. “Gemini” broke from station and swam towards the group of 
guests as they had their hands on the surface of the water, waiting to touch the other dolphin as she swam by. As trainers 
instructed the guests to withdraw their limbs, “Gemini” popped up and grabbed one of the guest’s hand. The girl pulled her 
hand back with “Gemini’s” mouth still closed. “Gemini” let go but stayed in front of the guests as they stood up. 
 
Inadequate handling or control of animals during public interactions can lead to injury of the public and the animals. 
 
During public exhibition, any animal must be handled so there is minimal risk of harm to the animal and to the public. To 
be corrected from this day, (Date of finalized report), forward. 

3.101(a)(1) Repeat
Facilities, general.
The facility failed to maintain a marine mammal enclosure in good repair and protect the animals from injury. On January 
3, 2023, “Elelo”, a five-year-old pacific white-sided dolphin housed in Pompano pool 3, underwent a gastroscopy 
procedure to identify and remove foreign material from his digestive tract. The procedure successfully removed a plastic 
zip tie, a piece of broken plastic, and what was described as a large piece of cement. Zip ties are used to secure the 
fencing around the sides of the pool, the broken plastic was determined to likely be from a target pole, and divers noted 
that the floor of the pool has a layer of broken, flaking cement. On July 5, 2023, “Elelo” was once again suspected to have 
a foreign body. He was made to regurgitate, producing sand and glass filtration media. 
 
Enclosures that fall into states of disrepair may no longer be able to safely contain the animals and may produce foreign 
material which could be ingested and become injurious to the animals. 
 
Indoor and outdoor housing facilities for marine mammals must be structurally sound and must be maintained in good 
repair to protect the animals from injury. 
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3.103(b) 
Facilities, outdoor.
The facility failed to provide protection from the weather or direct sunlight. At Pompano Pool 1, housing an adult male 
manatee, records indicated the overhead tarp was removed for 10 days in March of 2023 and for an unspecified number 
of days in April of 2023. This left no natural or artificial shade to protect the animal from direct sunlight. 
 
Direct sunlight can adversely affect the animal’s health, especially skin and eye health. 
 
Natural or artificial shelter shall be provided for all marine mammals kept outdoors to afford them protection from the 
weather or from direct sunlight. Corrected by the time of inspection. 

3.108(a) 
Employees or attendants. 
The facility failed to maintain a sufficient number of adequately trained employees. The termination of employment of an 
associate veterinarian on March 27, 2023, resulted in a single veterinarian to care for the 46 marine mammals and 
hundreds of birds, fish, sharks and rays housed at the facility. As a result, all routine samples were placed on hold so that 
non-routine/unwell animals could be prioritized. By June 17, 2023, three veterinary technicians resigned leaving a single 
veterinarian and zero full time support staff. At the time of inspection, only one of four, open technician positions was filled
and two associate veterinarian positions remained vacant, resulting in the continued prioritization of sick and/or urgent 
cases until additional staff can be obtained. 
 
Insufficient staffing can result in poor husbandry practices and the inability of the veterinary team to provide routine care 
and maintenance of the animals. 
 
A sufficient number of adequately trained employees or attendants, responsible to management and working in concert 
with the attending veterinarian, must be utilized to maintain the prescribed level of husbandry practices. To be corrected 
by October 25, 2023. 

3.109 Critical
Separation.
On February 27, 2023, a CT scan conducted on “Bimini”, revealed the 23-year-old female dolphin, housed at Dolphin 
Harbor, had multiple bilateral rib fractures in various stages of healing. These injuries were incidental findings and 
determined to likely be caused by conspecific aggression. Once the injuries were known, the facility placed the animal in a 
safer group. Housing incompatible animals together can negatively impact their health and welfare and may cause 
serious injury and even death. Marine mammals must not be housed in the same enclosure nor be housed near other 
animals that cause them unreasonable stress, discomfort or interfere with their good health. Corrected by the time of 
inspection.  
 
“Romeo”, an adult male manatee has been housed alone in Pompano Pool 1 since the 3 juvenile manatees he was 
housed with were released back to the wild in the Spring of 2023. Although numerous attempts have been made to 
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acquire another manatee, it was determined that the facility did not yet meet the requirements to receive another animal. 

Manatees are semi-social animals and do better medically and psychologically when they are housed in pairs or groups. 
Marine mammals, whenever known to be primarily social in the wild, must be housed in their primary enclosure with at 
least one compatible animal of the same or biologically related species. To be completed in two phases; Phase 1: 
Develop a written plan approved by the attending veterinarian, developed in consultation with the husbandry/training staff, 
that includes the justification for the length of time the animal will be kept separated or isolated, information on the type 
and frequency of enrichment and interaction, if appropriate, and provisions for periodic review of the plan by the attending 
veterinarian. Phase 2: Implement the plan and return to compliance. Phase 1 to be corrected by August 8, 2023. Phase 2 
to be corrected by October 25, 2023. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with facility representatives. 

Additional Inspectors: 

KRISTIN NAPOLI, SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE SPECIALIST n
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 United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 17-Jul-2023 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 17-JUL-2023 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000013 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000020 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000003 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 
000002 Lagenorhynchus obliquidens PACIFIC WHITE-SIDED DOLPHIN 

000046 Total
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MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: ROUTINE INSPECTION 

Date: 17-JUL-2023 

2.40(a)(2) 
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
The facility failed to recognize veterinary authority. Records indicate that on numerous occasions, the attending 
veterinarian (AV) made the determination that certain actions needed to be taken, these determinations were not 
followed, or her authority was ignored.  
 
• On January 3,2023, after treatment for foreign body ingestion, the AV determined that the current enclosure was 
no longer suitable for the pacific white-sided dolphin “Elelo” and recommended that he be transferred to another facility. 
The transfer had not yet happened at the time of inspection.  
• On July 6, 2023, after noting continued foreign body ingestion by “Elelo”, the AV determined that the facility did not have
the equipment to keep this animal in the current pool as the pool needs to undergo a significant amount of maintenance 
and there is a repeat risk of foreign body ingestion. The AV stated that she contacted the administration to try and 
expedite the process and plan to ship the animal to another facility as mentioned six months earlier. 
• It was reported by several employees that a newly appointed corporate trainer, in charge of dolphin training, was 
instructing other employees not to contact the AV and undermining her authority, which created a very stressful 
environment. A Chain of Command chart was displayed in the trainer’s office at Top Deck. This chart showed him at the 
top of the chain and did not include the AV. When asked, he stated that he did not report to facility management but 
instead answered to two corporate personnel. Numerous other employees reached out anonymously but hesitated to give 
formal statements for fear of retaliation. 
 
Failure to ensure that the attending veterinarian has appropriate authority over the veterinary care of the animals can lead 
to unnecessary stress, discomfort, and suffering of the animals. 
 
Each dealer and exhibitor shall assure that the attending veterinarian has appropriate authority to ensure the provisions of 
adequate veterinary care and to oversee the adequacy of other aspects of animal care and use. To be corrected from this 
day, (date of finalized report), forward. 

2.40(b)(1) 
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
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The facility failed to provide proper equipment or services to ensure adequate veterinary care.  
• On July 5, 2023, the AV noted that the gastroscope was very outdated and not working properly. She recommended 
purchasing a new system. This was not yet approved at the time of inspection. 
• The facility does not own scales that can be routinely used at all enclosures. As a result, the three adult manatees held 
at the facility, have not been weighed in more than 5 years. 
 
Properly functioning equipment is necessary for diagnosing, treating and maintaining the health of the animal. Accurate 
weights are essential for dosing medications and providing adequate routine care. 
 
The facility shall ensure the availability of appropriate equipment and/or services to provide adequate veterinary care. To 
be corrected by August 25, 2023. 

2.131(c)(1) 
Handling of animals.
On March 19, 2023, a member of the public was bitten on the hand by “Gemini”, a dolphin housed at Dolphin Harbor, 
during a “Meet and Greet” interaction with another dolphin. “Gemini” broke from station and swam towards the group of 
guests as they had their hands on the surface of the water, waiting to touch the other dolphin as she swam by. As trainers 
instructed the guests to withdraw their limbs, “Gemini” popped up and grabbed one of the guest’s hand. The girl pulled her 
hand back with “Gemini’s” mouth still closed. “Gemini” let go but stayed in front of the guests as they stood up. 
 
Inadequate handling or control of animals during public interactions can lead to injury of the public and the animals. 
 
During public exhibition, any animal must be handled so there is minimal risk of harm to the animal and to the public. To 
be corrected from this day, (Date of finalized report), forward. 

3.101(a)(1) Repeat
Facilities, general.
The facility failed to maintain a marine mammal enclosure in good repair and protect the animals from injury. On January 
3, 2023, “Elelo”, a five-year-old pacific white-sided dolphin housed in Pompano pool 3, underwent a gastroscopy 
procedure to identify and remove foreign material from his digestive tract. The procedure successfully removed a plastic 
zip tie, a piece of broken plastic, and what was described as a large piece of cement. Zip ties are used to secure the 
fencing around the sides of the pool, the broken plastic was determined to likely be from a target pole, and divers noted 
that the floor of the pool has a layer of broken, flaking cement. On July 5, 2023, “Elelo” was once again suspected to have 
a foreign body. He was made to regurgitate, producing sand and glass filtration media. 
 
Enclosures that fall into states of disrepair may no longer be able to safely contain the animals and may produce foreign 
material which could be ingested and become injurious to the animals. 
 
Indoor and outdoor housing facilities for marine mammals must be structurally sound and must be maintained in good 
repair to protect the animals from injury. 
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3.103(b) 
Facilities, outdoor.
The facility failed to provide protection from the weather or direct sunlight. At Pompano Pool 1, housing an adult male 
manatee, records indicated the overhead tarp was removed for 10 days in March of 2023 and for an unspecified number 
of days in April of 2023. This left no natural or artificial shade to protect the animal from direct sunlight. 
 
Direct sunlight can adversely affect the animal’s health, especially skin and eye health. 
 
Natural or artificial shelter shall be provided for all marine mammals kept outdoors to afford them protection from the 
weather or from direct sunlight. Corrected by the time of inspection. 

3.108(a) 
Employees or attendants. 
The facility failed to maintain a sufficient number of adequately trained employees. The termination of employment of an 
associate veterinarian on March 27, 2023, resulted in a single veterinarian to care for the 46 marine mammals and 
hundreds of birds, fish, sharks and rays housed at the facility. As a result, all routine samples were placed on hold so that 
non-routine/unwell animals could be prioritized. By June 17, 2023, three veterinary technicians resigned leaving a single 
veterinarian and zero full time support staff. At the time of inspection, only one of four, open technician positions was filled
and two associate veterinarian positions remained vacant, resulting in the continued prioritization of sick and/or urgent 
cases until additional staff can be obtained. 
 
Insufficient staffing can result in poor husbandry practices and the inability of the veterinary team to provide routine care 
and maintenance of the animals. 
 
A sufficient number of adequately trained employees or attendants, responsible to management and working in concert 
with the attending veterinarian, must be utilized to maintain the prescribed level of husbandry practices. To be corrected 
by October 25, 2023. 

3.109 Critical
Separation.
On February 27, 2023, a CT scan conducted on “Bimini”, revealed the 23-year-old female dolphin, housed at Dolphin 
Harbor, had multiple bilateral rib fractures in various stages of healing. These injuries were incidental findings and 
determined to likely be caused by conspecific aggression. Once the injuries were known, the facility placed the animal in a 
safer group. Housing incompatible animals together can negatively impact their health and welfare and may cause 
serious injury and even death. Marine mammals must not be housed in the same enclosure nor be housed near other 
animals that cause them unreasonable stress, discomfort or interfere with their good health. Corrected by the time of 
inspection.  
 
“Romeo”, an adult male manatee has been housed alone in Pompano Pool 1 since the 3 juvenile manatees he was 
housed with were released back to the wild in the Spring of 2023. Although numerous attempts have been made to 
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acquire another manatee, it was determined that the facility did not yet meet the requirements to receive another animal. 

Manatees are semi-social animals and do better medically and psychologically when they are housed in pairs or groups. 
Marine mammals, whenever known to be primarily social in the wild, must be housed in their primary enclosure with at 
least one compatible animal of the same or biologically related species. To be completed in two phases; Phase 1: 
Develop a written plan approved by the attending veterinarian, developed in consultation with the husbandry/training staff, 
that includes the justification for the length of time the animal will be kept separated or isolated, information on the type 
and frequency of enrichment and interaction, if appropriate, and provisions for periodic review of the plan by the attending 
veterinarian. Phase 2: Implement the plan and return to compliance. Phase 1 to be corrected by August 8, 2023. Phase 2 
to be corrected by October 25, 2023. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with facility representatives. 

Additional Inspectors: 

KRISTIN NAPOLI, SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE SPECIALIST n
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 United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 17-Jul-2023 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 17-JUL-2023 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000013 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000020 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000003 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 
000002 Lagenorhynchus obliquidens PACIFIC WHITE-SIDED DOLPHIN 

000046 Total
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RECIPIENT

             
             

December 22, 2023      NOTICE OF DEFAULT
              via electronic and certified mail

Mr. Eduardo Albor
President
The Dolphin Company
MS Leisure Company, Inc.
The Miami Seaquarium
4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33149

RE:  Notice of Default:  1) USDA Focused Inspection Report (11/2/23)
2) RER Notices of Violation (multiple)
3) Late Payments (multiple)

Dear Mr. Albor: 

Please be advised that we are issuing this Notice of Default (the “Notice”) to formally 
advise the Seaquarium of its failure to comply with its contractual obligations as set forth
below, and to secure its immediate remediation of 1) the violations cited in the USDA’s 
Focused Inspection Report dated November 2, 2023; 2) the violations cited in RER’s 
Notices of Violation dated December 11, 2023 and December 13, 2023; and 3) 
compliance with its rental payment obligations as set forth Section 6, Rent, of the 
Amended and Restated Lease Agreement.  

Remediation of these violations is required within forty-five (45) days from receipt of this 
Notice.  In the event of non-compliance, the County retains the right to exercise all 
available remedies pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated 
Lease Agreement, and will take all necessary steps to seek termination of same. 

The terms of the assigned and assumed “Amended and Restated Lease Between Miami-
Dade County [the “County”] and Marine Exhibition Corporation, d/b/a The Miami 
Seaquarium dated July 25, 2000, as amended by a First Amendment dated November 
16, 2001, a Second Amendment dated August 7, 2003, a Third Amendment dated 
September 9, 2022, and by three (3) Lease Extension Agreements dated July 7, 2006, 
October 6, 2006, and March 9, 2020, respectively (collectively, the “Amended and 
Restated Lease Agreement”), set forth the obligations between the Seaquarium and the 
County, including: 1) the Seaquarium’s responsibilities regarding the health and welfare 
of the marine animals in its care; 2) the Seaquarium’s responsibility to keep the premises 
in a good state of repair; and 3) the Seaquarium’s responsibility to timely make its monthly 

miamidade.gov

Parks, Recreation and Open Spaces
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T 305-755-7800

Every Great Community has
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2013 Governor’ Sustained
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rental payments.  The details of the Seaquarium’s violations of the above obligations are 
as set forth below: 

1) USDA Focused Inspection Report (11/2/23)
Pursuant to the findings of the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”)’s 
Focused Inspection Report of November 2, 2023, a copy of which is attached hereto, 
the County has determined that the Seaquarium is in violation of the terms of the 
Amended and Restated Lease Agreement as set forth at Section 11, Premises To Be 
Kept in Repair (as amended by the Third Amendment), and Section 29, Applicable 
Laws. 

Section 11, as amended, states in relevant part that “[d]uring the term of the Amended 
and Restated Lease, as same may be extended, Lessee and its Sublessee(s), as 
applicable, shall keep the Demised Premises and all improvements and personal 
property thereon, exclusive of animals, in a good state of repair and in a clean 
condition, subject to damage or destruction by fire or other elements, similar to other 
facilities maintained by Lessee and shall maintain animals in accordance with federal 
laws and regulations, including the Marine Mammal Protection Act and the Animal 
Welfare Act as applicable.” 

Section 29 states in its entirety that “[a]ll provisions of this Amended and Restated 
Lease are subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances and 
statutes and the Amended and Restated Lease shall not be deemed to permit Lessee 
to violate the same or to limit Lessor’s authority to enforce same.” 

The USDA, through its Animal Inspection and Plant Health Inspection Service, has 
jurisdiction under the federal Animal Welfare Act concerning the humane handling, 
care, treatment, and transportation of marine mammals in captivity.  The USDA’s 
Focused Inspection Report specifically cites violation of Section 3.108(a) the Code of 
Federal Regulations by the Seaquarium, which correspondingly is a violation of the 
Seaquarium’s contractual obligations to maintain animals in accordance with federal 
laws and regulations and applicable law under Section 11 (as amended) and Section 
29, respectively, of the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement as detailed above. 

2) RER Notices of Violation (multiple)
Pursuant to the findings of the Miami-Dade County Department of Regulatory and 
Economic Resources (“RER”) as enumerated in its Notices of Violation dated 
December 11, 2023 and December 13, 2023, copies of which are attached hereto, the 
County has determined that the Seaquarium is in violation of the terms of the 
Amended and Restated Lease Agreement as set forth at Section 11, Premises To Be 
Kept in Repair (as amended by the Third Amendment), and Section 29, Applicable 
Laws. 
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Section 11, as amended, states in relevant part that “[d]uring the term of the Amended 
and Restated Lease, as same may be extended, Lessee and its Sublessee(s), as 
applicable, shall keep the Demised Premises and all improvements and personal 
property thereon, exclusive of animals, in a good state of repair and in a clean 
condition, subject to damage or destruction by fire or other elements, similar to other 
facilities maintained by Lessee and shall maintain animals in accordance with federal 
laws and regulations, including the Marine Mammal Protection Act and the Animal 
Welfare Act as applicable.” 

Section 29 states in its entirety that “[a]ll provisions of this Amended and Restated 
Lease are subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances and 
statutes and the Amended and Restated Lease shall not be deemed to permit Lessee 
to violate the same or to limit Lessor’s authority to enforce same.” 

RER’s Notices of Violation cite multiple violations of Section 8-5 of the Code of Miami-
Dade County and the Florida Building Code by the Seaquarium, which 
correspondingly are violations of the Seaquarium’s contractual obligations to maintain 
animals in accordance with federal laws and regulations and applicable law and to 
maintain the Demised Premises in a good state of repair, as set forth under Section 
11 (as amended) and Section 29, respectively, of the Amended and Restated Lease 
Agreement as detailed above.  A copy of RER’s aerial map noting the locations of 
these violations is also attached hereto. 

3) Late Payments (multiple)
As of this writing, according to our records, the Seaquarium is in arrears to the County 
in the minimum amount of $87,916.66, representing the past due November 2023 
base rent payment plus applicable sales tax, which was due and owing to the County 
on December 15, 2023.  The methodology utilized for the calculation of payments 
owed by the Seaquarium to the County is set forth in the Amended and Restated 
Lease Agreement at Section 6, Rent.  Please also note that this amount is in addition 
to Seaquarium’s past due October 2023 rent payment which was due on November 
15, 2023, and for which the County is still awaiting payment, as noted in the County’s 
prior Notice of Non-Compliance dated November 17, 2023, a copy of which is attached 
hereto. 

Our calculations are based on the obligations set forth in the Amended and Restated 
Lease Agreement, as follows: 

x Section 6, Rent, subsection A, Annual Rent, subsubsection (1) Guaranteed Rent, 
“[t]he Guaranteed Rent shall be One Million Dollars ($1,000,000).” 

x Section 6, Rent, subsection A, Annual Rent, subsubsection (4), Monthly 
Calculation of Guaranteed Rent and Percentage Rent, which states in relevant part 
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that “[m]onthly payment of Annual Rent shall be…made no later than the fifteenth 
day of the calendar month following the applicable Fiscal Month” and that 
“Guaranteed Rent Shall be paid in twelve (12) equal monthly installments of the 
Guaranteed Rent amount for each Lease Year.” 
 

x Calculation of the twelve (12) equal monthly installments of the Guaranteed Rent 
yields a monthly installment amount of $83,333.3333 ($1,000,000 / 12).  This 
monthly amount is subject to applicable sales tax as noted above. 

Again, we emphasize that remediation of these violations is required within forty-five (45) 
days from receipt of this Notice, and that in the event of non-compliance, the County 
retains the right to exercise all available remedies pursuant to the terms and conditions 
of the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, and will take all necessary steps to seek 
termination of same. 

Please do not hesitate to contact me at (305) 755-5459 or via email at 
perry.perez@miamidade.gov with any questions you may have.  Thank you in advance 
for your immediate attention to this matter. 

Sincerely, 

Perry I. Perez 
Chief, Contracts & Procurement Division 

cc:  Jimmy Morales, Chief Operations Officer, Office of the Mayor 
  Johanna Cervone, Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 
  Rachel Johnson, Deputy Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 
  Maria I. Nardi, Director, PROS 
  Christina Salinas-Cotter, Assistant Director, PROS 
  Melanie Spencer, County Attorney’s Office 
  Erik Austin, Special Projects Administrator, PROS 

encl:   USDA’s Focused Inspection Report dated November 2, 2023 
  RER’s Notices of Violation dated December 11, 2023 and December 13, 2023 
  RER’s Seaquarium Aerial Map dated December 5, 2023 
  Miami-Dade County’s Notice of Non-Compliance dated November 17, 2023  

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000227

Case 25-10606-LSS    Doc 357-12    Filed 07/17/25    Page 228 of 331





Exhibit “D1” 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. L 000228

Case 25-10606-LSS    Doc 357-12    Filed 07/17/25    Page 229 of 331





 United States Department of Agriculture CKIRK EL-AMIN 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000902901 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: COLETTE KIRK EL-AMIN Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 07-NOV-2023 

Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
OFFICER 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
07-NOV-2023 

Page 1 of 1 

MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: FOCUSED INSPECTION 

Date: 02-NOV-2023 

3.108(a) 
Employees or attendants.
At the time of inspection, the facility still lacks a sufficient number of adequately trained employees. The resignation of the
only veterinary technician has left two veterinarians responsible for the care of 46 marine mammals, hundreds of birds, 
fish, sharks, and rays housed at the facility. Consequently, there is no full-time support staff available. At the time of 
inspection, none of the open veterinary technician positions had been filled. The veterinarians are still unable to perform 
routine/preventive exams and continue to prioritize sick and urgent cases until additional staff can be hired. Insufficient 
staffing can lead to poor husbandry practices and hinder the veterinary staff’s ability to provide routine care and 
maintenance for the animals. 
 
A sufficient number of adequately trained employees or attendants, responsible to management and working in concert 
with the attending veterinarian, must be utilized to maintain the prescribed level of husbandry practices. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with several facility representatives. 

Additional Inspectors: 

Charles Palmer, VETERINARY MEDICAL OFFICER n
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 United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 02-Nov-2023 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 02-NOV-2023 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000001 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000003 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 

000004 Total
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OFFICE OF THE MAYOR
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

STEPHEN P. CLARK CENTER  •  111 N.W. FIRST STREET  •  29TH FLOOR  •  MIAMI, FLORIDA 33128-1930  • (305) 375-1880  •  (305) 375-2099

via electronic and certified mail

March 7, 2024

Mr. Eduardo Albor
President
The Dolphin Company
MS Leisure Company, Inc.
The Miami Seaquarium
4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33149

RE: Notice of Termination of Lease and Additional Notice of Defaults
Property Address:  4400 Rickenbacker Causeway, Key Biscayne, Florida 33149
Folio No.:  30-4220-000-0010 (the “Property”)

Dear Mr. Albor:

This Notice of Termination serves to notify MS Leisure Company, Inc. (“Lessee”) of Miami-
Dade County’s (“Lessor”) decision to terminate the Lease as a result of Lessee’s numerous 
and significant violations and defaults of the assigned and assumed “Amended and Restated 
Lease Between Miami-Dade County and Marine Exhibition Corporation, d/b/a The Miami 
Seaquarium” dated July 25, 2000, as amended by a First Amendment dated November 16, 
2001, a Second Amendment dated August 7, 2003, a Third Amendment dated September 9, 
2022, and by three (3) Lease Extension Agreements dated July 7, 2006, October 6, 2006, and 
March 9, 2020, respectively (collectively, the “Amended and Restated Lease Agreement” or 
“Lease”).

Lessee’s long and troubling history of violations constitute repeated, continuous and 
longstanding violations of Lessee’s contractual obligations to keep the Property in a good state 
of repair, maintain animals in accordance with applicable law, and comply with all laws as set 
forth in Section 11 (as amended) and Section 29 of the Amended and Restated Lease
Agreement. 

I. DEFAULTS AND NOTIFICATIONS OF DEFAULTS BY LESSOR

Although Lessor herein details Lessee’s extensive history of defaults, each and every material 
default constitutes an independent basis on which Lessor seeks to terminate the Lease. 
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STEPHEN P. CLARK CENTER  •  111 N.W. FIRST STREET  •  29TH FLOOR  •  MIAMI, FLORIDA 33128-1930  • (305) 375-1880  •  (305) 375-1262 

As a consequence of these violations and defaults of the Lessee’s obligations, this letter serves 
to notify Lessee of Miami-Dade County’s decision to terminate the Lease. Commensurate with 
this Notice of Termination we hereby demand that Lessee vacate and surrender the Property 
by April 21, 2024 (“Date of Termination”).

a. Maintenance of Animals

First, the Lease requires MS Leisure Company, Inc. to “maintain animals in accordance with 
federal laws and regulations, including the Marine Mammal Protection Act and the Animal 
Welfare Act as applicable.” See Section 11. Additionally, the Lessee is required to comply with 
“all applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances and statutes.” See Section 29.    

On November 28, 2022, Lessor issued a Notice of Non-Compliance related to MS Leisure 
Company Inc.’s failure to comply with applicable law in accordance with Section 29 of the 
Lease.  The default was a result of several violations found related to animal care by the United 
States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”).  Another Notice of Default was issued on 
November 1, 2023, for violations of Sections 11 and 29 of the Lease again as related to failure 
to comply with applicable law as related to animal care. Again, on December 22, 2023, Lessor 
sent a Notice of Default for violations of Section 11 and 29 of the Lease as related to animal 
care.

These Notices were the result of the Lessee failing to provide for the safe and adequate 
maintenance of the animals in its care in violation of applicable federal law on countless 
occasions, as set forth in the alarming observations and conclusions documented by the USDA 
in its many reports. For example, between July 6, 2022, and January 9, 2024, Lessee has been 
cited by the USDA seven times for failing to adequately maintain facilities, seven times related 
to inadequate veterinary care, two times for inadequate handling of animals (in one instance 
resulting in a patron being bitten during a dolphin encounter), three times for failure to maintain 
outdoor facilities, three times for failing to have adequate staff, two times for failure to maintain 
indoor facilities, and three times for inadequate water quality. These continuous, repeated and 
ongoing violations represent not just a default under the terms of the Lease that requires 
termination, but a complete disregard for the safety of the animals housed on the premises.   

b. Maintenance of the Premises 

Second, the Lease requires MS Leisure Company, Inc. to “keep the Demised Premises and 
all improvements and personal property thereon … in a good state of repair and in a clean 
condition … similar to other facilities maintained by Lessee”. See Section 11. Additionally, as 
previously noted, the Lessee is required to comply with “all applicable laws, rules, regulations, 
ordinances and statutes”. See Section 29.    

On December 22, 2023, Lessor issued a Notice of Default related to Lessee’s violation of the 
Miami-Dade County Building Code (Case No. 20240226206). The Property has been the 
subject of numerous Notices of Violations issued by the Building Official finding that structures 
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on the Property are unsafe and structurally deficient. Specifically, on December 13, 2023, 
Lessee and Lessor were notified of several violations on numerous structures, including failure 
to maintain Flipper Stadium, failure to maintain Manatee Tank Area, and failure to maintain 
Dolphin Stadium, among other things. These violations represent Lessee’s failure and refusal 
to maintain the Property and its improvements in a good state of repair. 

Additionally, the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) inspected the Property and 
noted the Property’s structural deficiencies posed serious risks to the animals. As noted above, 
on November 1, 2023, Lessor provided Notice of Default for Lessee’s violations of Sections 11 
and 29 of the Lease because, among other things, the USDA’s July 17, 2023 inspection found 
that Lessee “failed to maintain marine mammal enclosure in good repair and protect the 
animals from injury.”  
 

II. ADDITIONAL NOTICE OF DEFAULTS 

 Additionally, the Lessor hereby provides notice of the following defaults that were not 
the subject of prior Notices to Lessee:  
 

x Lessee has been the subject of numerous Notices of Violations issued by the Building 
Official dating as far back as 2022 finding that structures on the Property are unsafe and 
structurally deficient, including the Whale Bowl (Case No. 20210211387-U), the  Golden 
Dome (Case No. 20210211348-U), and Corridor A (20230218376-U), and Building U 
(Case No. 20240226206). Lessee is currently in noncompliance with the Building 
Official’s safety requirements on these three (3) Unsafe Structures Cases (Whale Bowl, 
Golden Dome, and Corridor A). 

 
x On several occasions the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) inspected 

the Property and noted the structural deficiencies that posed serious risks to the animals. 
For example, on November 28, 2023, USDA reported the deficient condition of the 
penguin building, parrot trailer, dolphin pools, sea lion holding, and perimeter fencing. 
On November 14, 2023, USDA reported the deficient condition of the Golden Dome 
stadium, sealion housing and perimeter fencing. On October 16, 2023, USDA reported 
the deficient condition of the parrot trailer, dolphin pools, perimeter fencing, penguin 
building, flamingo enclosure, and Tropical Wings building. The USDA’s reports describe 
the deficient and dangerous conditions that Lessee has allowed to persist on the 
Property, which in many instances has resulted in injury to the animals and the animals’ 
ingestion of foreign materials degrading from the poorly maintained Property 
improvements.  

x According to our records, as of this writing, the Seaquarium has not submitted its 
evidence of certifications with the Alliance of Marine Mammal Parks and Aquariums 
(“AMMPA”) and the American Humane Association (or similar third-party validated 
program). The Seaquarium must also commit to using reasonable efforts to seek 
Association of Zoos & Aquariums (“AZA”) accreditation, in accordance with Section 5 of 
the Third Amendment adding new Amended and Restated Lease Agreement Section 
27, subsection R, Certifications.  
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x The Seaquarium has not submitted to the County its annual report on the 
implementation of conservation and education programs, and awareness campaigns for 
the community, including the development of a classroom curriculum for routine and 
periodic instruction and education to the public and students that incorporates 
environmental protection, science conservation, and other educational programs. Such 
programming shall also include programming for neurodivergent children and adults, in 
accordance with Section 5 of the Third Amendment adding new Amended and Restated 
Lease Agreement Section 27, subsection S, Conservation, Educational, and 
Environmental Awareness Programs.  

III. TERMINATION

Accordingly, Lessor hereby provides this Notice of Termination and Notice of Default in 
accordance with Section 16, Default, due to Lessee’s ongoing failure to timely cure its non-
monetary default under the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, despite being afforded 
such additional time as was reasonably necessary to cure any curable events of default.    

Please sign and date indicated below, acknowledging that Lessee will surrender and 
deliver possession of the Property back to the Lessor effective no later than April 21, 
2024, and return this signed and dated document by March 11, 2024 via certified 
mail.  Please be advised that should Lessee fail to sign and return this document to 
Lessor on or before March 11, 2024, Lessor shall avail itself of any and all legal means 
to enforce its rights and remedies.  

The Lessor reserves all of its rights under the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement at law 
and in equity and nothing herein waives or shall be deemed to waive those rights. Lessor 
specifically reserves all rights to pursue termination on the basis of any defaults specified herein 
or any other defaults that merit termination.

Should you have any questions regarding this matter, please contact me at: (305)375-2448, or 
by email at: jimmy.morales2@miamidade.gov . 

Thank you for your time and attention to this matter.

Sincerely,  

 c:     Geri Bonzon-Keenan, County Attorney
Maria Nardi, Director, Parks, Recreation and Open Spaces

Certified Mail Number: 70001670000482035469
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Acknowledgment of termination and surrender of possession:  
 
 

By: ____________________________________   
 

Dated:___________________________  
 

Name and position: ____________________________  
 
 

Witnesses:  
 

Name: ______________________________  
 

Name:______________________________  
 

 Signature:___________________________   
 

Signature:_______________________________  
 

____________________________________________________________________  
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 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000906384 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: COLETTE KIRK EL-AMIN Date: 
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 07-DEC-2023 

Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
OFFICER 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date: 
07-DEC-2023 

Page 1 of 6 

MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: ROUTINE INSPECTION 

Date: 28-NOV-2023 

3.150(a) Repeat
Facilities, general.
**The penguin building, and indoor enclosure have multiple problems that require attention. The metal frame around the 
glass, both on the outside and inside of the door, is rusted and breaking off, causing sharp edges that could pose a 
hazard to the penguins. Inside the enclosure, there are several areas where paint is peeling away from the walls and 
ceiling, and sections of the drywall are breaking off in different corners near the water feature and rock outcrops. Rust 
marks are running down the walls from rusty screws, and the main door frame is also rusted all the way around. This 
indoor area has multiple issues that need prompt addressing and maintenance for the safety of the penguins.  
 
**In the remaining parrot trailer in use, there are still areas of the wall behind one of the cages that are damaged from a 
parrot chewing through the metal bars, and strips of paint are peeling off the ceiling. Staff stated that cages are usually 
pulled away from the wall to prevent this from happening. Allowing access to surfaces and materials that are not safe or 
appropriate for birds to chew or ingest can lead to illness or injury. All housing facilities for birds must be designed and 
constructed to be structurally sound for the species housed in them. Additionally, al l housing facilities for birds must be 
kept in good repair and protect the birds from injury. 

2.40(b)(1) Critical Repeat
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
**At the time of the inspection, Clarity, the manatee, showed evidence of a progressive skin condition. She is currently 
covered with a thick layer of algae and has patchy white discolorations around her nostrils, mouth, and face, extending to 
the axillary region, both front flippers, with numerous large white patchy lesions on the ventral abdomen. According to the 
care staff and AV, these white patches have grown in size and spread over the last several weeks. Due to a lack of 
appropriate facilities and the inability to drop the pool, coupled with the absence of necessary equipment, the AV has 
been unable to thoroughly examine Clarity. A comprehensive examination is essential for diagnosis and to formulate a 
treatment plan. The lack of appropriate facilities and equipment is affecting the AV’s ability to provide proper care for this 
animal. Although the facility has arranged for Clarity to be moved to another facility capable of ensuring care, all pre-
shipment bloodwork expense were covered by the receiving facility. This facility needs to meet the requirements o f this 
subpart to ensure the attending veterinarian has the necessary equipment and facilities to conduct the diagnostics 
required for an appropriate treatment plan for all animals in need of veterinary attention.  
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**The attending veterinarian has concerns that several dolphins (Ripley, Panama, Onyx, and Sundance) are showing 
signs of gastric distress and abnormal samples from these animals continue to be found. Ripley is known to consume and 
regurgitate non-food items. The AV suspects that several dolphins may have ulcers and possibly foreign bodies, 
necessitating an endoscope for confirmation of diagnosis and to proceed with a more targeted treatment plan.  
 
To ensure adequate veterinary care, the AV will require appropriate facilities, personnel, equipment, and services deemed 
necessary to perform the diagnostic tests essential for proper diagnosis and treatment, aligning with subpart sub part E 
3.110 (f). At the time of inspection, the facility still has not acquired an endoscope.  

3.101(a) Repeat
Facilities, general. 
**Two dolphin pools in Dolphin Harbor are in disrepair. The medical pool has a section of concrete near the slide -out that 
is broken, causing rough edges that could potentially injure the dolphins in that pool. Additionally, the steps in pool A are 
also in similar disrepair, with sections of concrete missing, and needs to be repaired. A facility work order for both these 
areas was submitted on August 21, 2023, but neither area has been addressed and there is no timeline stating when they 
will be fixed. Enclosures must be maintained in good repair for the safety of the animals and the facility needs to make 
corrective actions in a timely manner once work orders are submitted to ensure the safety of the marine mammals.  
 
**In sea lion holding, a metal grate that covers a pit, which is an access point to the filtration system, was not secured 
after recent work and the inspector noted the grate was slightly shifted. This grate, if left unsecured, can be a potential 
hazard to the sea lions in the holding as they can easily move the metal grate giving them access to the pit and 
equipment, which could cause injury to the animals. This grate needs to be secured after every time it is opened for the 
safety of the animals. 

3.103(c) Repeat
Facilities, outdoor. 
**The facility’s perimeter fence has multiple areas that require attention due to disrepair. On the bay side, several support
beams were rusted at the base to the point the were no longer connected to the concrete, making it easy to move the 
fencing significantly when pushed. These areas need prompt attention to maintain the structural integrity of the fencing in 
this section.  
 
**The perimeter fencing along the east side of the facility had several sections where razor wire was hanging down low 
over the fence, posing a potential hazard and affecting the strength of the barbed wire that ensures the fencing is 6 feet 
high. Defects in the perimeter fence can allow animals and unauthorized people to enter and exit the area, gaining access 
to the animals at the facility. Stay cats were observed entering the facility, and a few employees mentioned seeing foxes 
on the grounds. Perimeter fencing must be regularly checked and maintained to ensure it protects marine mammals by 
restricting animals and unauthorized persons from having contact with the marine mammals.  

3.106(b)(1) 
Water quality.
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From the last week in October throughout all of November, the coliform counts for sea lion holding GD 4 have been 
excessively high, well over 1,000 Most Probable Number (MPN). While the pool was dropped and cleaned a few times 
during that time, there were periods of time where the total coliform counts were excessively high without mitigation, the 
longest being over one week, from November 1 - 7. Coliform counts were documented below: 
25Oct23- >24,190.6 MPN 
01Nov23- 9,200.8 MPN.  
02Nov23->24,190.6 MPN 
03Nov23->24,190.6 MPN 
06Nov23->24,190.6 MPN 
14Nov23 - 17,320.9 MPN.  
17Nov23- 3,070.6 MPN.  
20Nov23- >24,190.6 MPN 
24Nov23- >24,190.6 MPN 
28Nov23- 6,860.7 MPN 
 
High counts of coliform bacteria in the environments of marine mammals pose a risk to the health of these animals. The 
facility must maintain water quality which is not detrimental to the health and the well -being of the animals and must 
ensure that appropriate and effective corrective and preventive actions are taken when high coliform counts, or other 
water quality concerns are detected. 
Correct by: Dec 13, 2023 

3.108(a) Repeat
Employees or attendants.
The facility continues to have an inadequate number of trained employees in the Veterinary Care department. Currently a 
single veterinarian is employed to care for the 46 marine mammals, 50 birds, and hundreds of fish, sharks and rays 
housed at the facility. Without veterinary technicians, the veterinarian has had to postpone routine physical exams since 
March, to allow for the continued prioritization of sick and/or urgent cases until additional staff can be hired. Insufficient 
staffing can lead to poor husbandry practices and hinder the veterinary staff’s ability to provide routine care and 
maintenance for the animals. A sufficient number of adequately trained employees or attendants, responsible to 
management and working in concert with the attending veterinarian, must be utilized to maintain the prescribed level of 
husbandry practices. 

3.150(c)(2) Repeat
Facilities, general.
In the Tropical Wings section, there are still multiple indoor and outdoor metal enclosures that showed evidence of 
excessive rust. There are areas of bubbling and flaking paint due to rust and areas where the metal is rusted through. 
Excessive rust can compromise structural strength, present roughened and jagged surfaces where it is possible for the 
birds to injure themselves and prevent proper cleaning and sanitization of a surface. Any surfac es that come in contact 
with the birds must be free of rust or damage that affects the structural integrity of the surface or prevents cleaning.  

3.151(b) Repeat
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Facilities, indoor 
*The ventilation problem within the penguin indoor enclosure, housing 9 penguins, has not been addressed since the last 
inspection. There is still an excessive accumulation of moisture condensation on the ceiling, leading to numerous spots of 
black mold growth and areas of bubbling and peeling paint that are still visibly hanging down into the enclosure.  
 
*The air filter in the ventilation duct for the penguin enclosure was removed in August and has not been replaced. 
Consequently, there is excess dust and debris blowing directly into the exhibit area. A mechanism is required to reduce 
the amount of aerosolized debris entering the enclosure.  
 
*While one of the bird trailers is in the process of being refurbished, the remaining trailer housing several parrots still has 
a strong noxious odor permeating the air. This odor is consistently present, and no windows were open at the time of the 
inspection to aid in air flow. The facility has placed two air purifiers in this area; however, there is still insufficient 
ventilation.  
 
Mold, mildew, poor air quality, and noxious odors can cause illness in birds. Indoor housing facilities must be sufficiently 
and consistently ventilated when birds are present to ensure their health, to prevent discomfort or distress, and minimize 
accumulations of moisture condensation, odors, and levels of ammonia, chlorine, and other noxious gases. 

3.152(b) 
Facilities, outdoor
There is no shelter from inclement weather in the flamingo yard. This yard houses 29 flamingos and is a large area 
located near the entrance of the park. Storms and high wind events are a frequent occurrence in this area. Outdoor 
housing facilities must provide adequate shelter that is adequately ventilated in hot weather and that is large enough to 
comfortably contain all the birds to prevent discomfort from direct sunlight, and offer effective protection from excessive 
rain, hail, or wind. This needs to be corrected for the welfare of the birds.  
Correct by February 5, 2024. 

3.153(a)(2) 
Primary enclosures.
In the Tropical Wings section for the parrots, most of the perching needs to be replaced. Many of the wood perches have 
been chewed excessively shortening their length and limiting the parrot’s movement around the area. Some of the 
perches have been stripped and are so smooth that there is less grip for the birds as they move around. Perches that 
enrich a bird’s environment must be maintained in good condition. A sufficient number of perches must be available that 
vary in size, shape, strength, texture and placement to comfortably hold all the birds. The manager for the area states that 
she has tried unsuccessfully to order additional enrichment and perching for these birds. The perching for these birds 
needs to be addressed for their psychological and physiological well -being.  
Correct by January 10,2024. 

3.154(c)(2) 
Environment enhancement to promote psychological well -being. 
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The facility has created an avian enrichment plan, but the plan does not consider the special needs of the birds that show 
signs of being in psychological distress through behavior or appearance. The facility houses a bonded pair of macaws 
that has feather plucked each other extensively and a third parrot that has self-plucked and is housed alone. These birds 
have been identified but their additional enrichment needs have not been documented. This needs to be addressed for 
their psychological wellbeing.  
Correct by: Dec 16, 2023 

3.157(a)(2) Repeat
Water quality.
* In the enclosure housing 29 flamingos, there is still an area of poor drainage along the water feature where the ground 
has eroded. There is also a trough that is part of the cement pond that does not connect to a functional drain. The staff 
has started to add material to the area to reduce the amount of water but at the time of the inspection, this project was not 
completed, and the size of this area is large. Stagnant water can attract pests, produce noxious odors, and could lead to 
disease or illness in the animals.  
 
*The coliform counts in flamingo pools have been well over 1,00 MPN for the month of November and are a current 
concern by the AV. She has stated that she wants the coliform counts to be within industry standards for the birds which 
is at or below 1,000 MPN. Counts documented:  
01Nov23- >24,190.6 MPN 
08Nov23- >24,190.6 MPN 
14Nov23- >24,190.6 MPN 
24Nov23- >24,190.6 MPN 
 
Pools or other aquatic areas without drainage systems must be aerated and have an incoming low of fresh water or be 
managed in a manner that maintains appropriate water quality in accordance with current professionally accepted 
standards appropriate for the species. 

3.159 
Employees
Based on the number of non-compliant items identified in this report, this facility does not have enough adequately trained 
employees that can maintain the professional acceptable level of husbandry and handling practices for the animals in 
their collection. Extensive maintenance is required for all bird areas to maintain enclosures in good repair for the safety 
and health of the birds.  
Correct by January 10, 2024. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with facility representatives.  
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Additional Inspectors: 

Laurie Gage, Field Zoological Species Specialist  

ANDREA D AMBROSIO, ANIMAL CARE INSPECTOR n
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 United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 28-Nov-2023 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 28-NOV-2023 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000013 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000019 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000003 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 
000009 Spheniscus demersus AFRICAN PENGUIN / CAPE PENGUIN 
000029 Phoenicopterus ruber AMERICAN FLAMINGO 
000004 Ara chloropterus RED-AND-GREEN MACAW / GREEN-WINGED MACAW 
000002 Ara macao SCARLET MACAW 
000001 Ara militaris MILITARY MACAW 
000005 Ara ararauna BLUE-AND-YELLOW MACAW / BLUE-AND-GOLD MACAW 

000001
Ara, Anodorhynchus, Primolius, Diopsittaca 
spp hybrid MACAW HYBRID

000002 Amazona autumnalis RED-LORED PARROT / RED-LORED AMAZON 

000001 Cacatua galerita SULPHUR-CRESTED COCKATOO / GREATER SULPHUR-
CRESTED COCKATOO 

000003 Cacatua alba WHITE COCKATOO / UMBRELLA COCKATOO 
000001 Cacatua moluccensis SALMON-CRESTED COCKATOO / MOLUCCAN COCKATOO 
000001 Psittacus erithacus CONGO AFRICAN GREY PARROT / GRAY PARROT 

000102 Total
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MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: ROUTINE INSPECTION 

Date: 16-OCT-2023 

3.150(a) 
Facilities, general.
In the trailer that provides indoor housing for 11 parrots, there are two areas of wall behind one of the cages that are 
damaged from a parrot chewing on it through the metal bars. Staff stated that cages are usually pulled away from the wall 
to prevent this from happening.  
Allowing access to surfaces and materials that are not safe or appropriate for birds to chew or ingest can lead to illness or 
injury. All housing facilities for birds must be designed and constructed so that they are structurally sound for the species 
of bird housed in them. All housing facilities for birds must be kept in good repair and protect the birds from injury.  
To be corrected by November 1, 2023. 

2.40(a)(2) Direct Repeat
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors). 
The facility failed to assure the attending veterinarian had appropriate authority. Records indicate that on numerous 
occasions, the attending veterinarian (AV) made the determination that certain actions needed to be taken, however the 
facility did not follow through with these actions.  
- On 9/26/23, the medical record for “Sushi”, an adult female California sealion, stated that she had been holding her right 
eye closed and rubbing both eyes. The veterinary plan in the record involved stressing the importance of getting her 
cataract surgery scheduled soon with an external specialist; however, the facility did not take initial steps to schedule the 
procedure. On 9/28/23, the medical record stated that “Sushi” was slow to eat and the plan again stressed the importance 
of scheduling cataract surgery. Starting on 10/11/23, “Sushi” began variably refusing food. By 10/15/23 and throughout 
the 3-day USDA inspection, she was completely refusing food, due to eye pain, per the medical records. At the time of 
inspection, cataract surgery still has not been scheduled. 
-On 9/11/23, the medical records for multiple animals state that the veterinarian is unable to perform necessary 
diagnostics as the facility no longer has access to an ultrasound, radiography, or endoscopy. It is also noted that there is 
no access to a functioning anesthesia machine for emergencies. 
- On 10/10/23 and 10/12/23, in the medical records for “Onyx”, a male bottlenose dolphin, the attending veterinarian 
states she needs to perform an ultrasound exam but there is no ultrasound available. 
- On 10/11/23, in the medical records for “Ringo” and “Cayman”, two male bottlenose dolphins, the veterinarian states she 
needs to perform radiographs or a CT scan to confirm that they have no active infection but no imaging was available. 
- On 7/5/2023, and again on 10/11/23, the AV notes that she does not have access to a functioning gastroscope, which 
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she calls essential for adequate diagnostics and treatment of the animals at the facility. 
- The attending veterinarian has been unable to perform a full annual physical exam, which includes weights, on the three 
adult manatees held at the facility in more than 5 years, because the facility has not provided scales that can be used in 
these enclosures.  
 
Failure to ensure that the attending veterinarian has appropriate authority over the veterinary care, including prevention, 
diagnostics, and treatment of the animals, can lead to unnecessary stress, discomfort, and suffering of the animals. Each 
dealer and exhibitor shall assure that the attending veterinarian has appropriate authority to ensure the provisions of 
adequate veterinary care and to oversee the adequacy of other aspects of animal care and use. 

2.131(c)(1) Repeat
Handling of animals.
On August 1, 2023, “Zo”, a dolphin housed at Flipper Stadium, was kicked in the mouth by a member of the public during 
an animal encounter. This resulted in a superficial cut to the guest’s ankle. During the interaction, the guest did not grab 
on to the dolphin, and “Zo” sank and circled the guest with his mouth open. “Zo” ignored two hand slaps from trainers to 
call him back from the guest. The guest was kicking frantically in the water which led to “Zo” being kicked in the mouth.  
Inadequate handling or control of animals during public interactions can lead to injury of the public and the animals. 
During public exhibition, any animal must be handled so there is minimal risk of harm to the animal and to the public. 

3.101(a)(1) Repeat
Facilities, general.
On the morning of 9/22/23, one dolphin “Ripley” housed at Flipper Stadium presented to trainers with a two-inch nail, 
mangrove pods, and small pieces of shell in his throat. On the morning of 10/14/23, one dolphin “Bimini” in Dolphin 
Harbor presented to trainers with a broken bolt in her mouth.  
On 7/6/23, 7/10/23, and 8/22/23, one dolphin “Onyx” at Dolphin Harbor jumped the barrier between pools to join another 
social group.  
Enclosures that are not kept in good repair may produce foreign material which could be ingested and become injurious to 
the animals. Enclosures that are not structurally sound or constructed in a way that is appropriate for the species may not 
properly contain the animals which could lead to injury of the animal or conspecifics. Indoor and outdoor housing facilities 
for marine mammals must be structurally sound and must be maintained in good repair to protect the animals from injury 
and to contain the animals within the facility. 

3.103(c) Repeat
Facilities, outdoor.
The facility’s perimeter fence has multiple areas where the bottom of the chain link fence or gate is not flush with the 
substrate on the ground. There is also a section of the perimeter fence where the barbed wire on top is drooping to the 
point that it has become perpendicular to the fence and is no longer 6 feet in height. 
Defects in the perimeter fence can allow animals and unauthorized people to enter and exit the area and gain access to 
the animals behind it. The perimeter fence must be at least 6 feet high and constructed so that it protects marine 
mammals by restricting animals and unauthorized persons from going through it or under it and having contact with the 
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marine mammals, and so that it can function as a secondary containment system for the animals in the facility when 
appropriate. 

3.107(d) 
Sanitation.
At the time of inspection at the facility’s vet clinic, there was a large number of ants present on and inside the cabinet 
housing vitamins and supplements that can be used for the marine mammals. The staff stated that they had arrived that 
morning to ants all over the front room of the clinic which they cleaned to the best of their abilities.  
Ants can contaminate or damage medications, supplements, and vitamins that are meant for the animals. The facility 
must establish and maintain a safe and effective program for the control of insects, ectoparasites, and avian and 
mammalian pests. 
To be corrected by November 1, 2023. 

3.109 Repeat
Separation.
“Romeo”, an adult male manatee is still being housed alone in Pompano Pool 1. The facility has implemented in-pool 
social interactions between “Romeo” and keepers and have an enrichment schedule; however, there is not a written plan 
approved by the attending veterinarian, and developed in consultation with the husbandry/training staff that includes the 
justification for the length of time the animal will be kept separated or isolated or provisions for periodic review of the plan
by the attending veterinarian.  
Manatees are semi-social animals and do better medically and psychologically when they are housed in pairs or groups. 
Marine mammals, whenever known to be primarily social in the wild, must be housed in their primary enclosure with at 
least one compatible animal of the same or biologically related species. 
Animals housed separately must have a written plan, approved by the attending veterinarian, developed in consultation 
with the husbandry/training staff, that includes the justification for the length of time the animal will be kept separated or 
isolated, information on the type and frequency of enrichment and interaction, if appropriate, and provisions for periodic 
review of the plan by the attending veterinarian. 

3.150(c)(2) 
Facilities, general.
In the Tropical Wings section, there are multiple indoor and outdoor metal enclosures that showed evidence of excessive 
rust. There are areas of bubbling and flaking paint due to rust and areas where the metal is rusted through.  
Excessive rust can compromise structural strength, present roughened and jagged surfaces where it is possible for the 
birds to injure themselves and prevent proper cleaning and sanitization of a surface. Any surfaces that come in contact 
with the birds must be free of rust or damage that affects the structural integrity of the surface or prevents cleaning.  
To be corrected by November 15, 2023. 

3.151(b) 
Facilities, indoor
In the indoor enclosure housing 9 penguins, there is an excessive accumulation of moisture condensation on the ceiling. 
This has led to numerous spots of black growth as well as areas of bubbling and peeling paint that is starting to droop 
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down into the enclosure.  
In the trailer that provides indoor housing for 11 parrots, there is a strong noxious odor permeating the air. This odor is 
present even after the trailer has been cleaned and with no birds present. The facility previously had issues with air quality 
in these bird trailers that contributed to air sacculitis in one macaw. The facility has placed two air purifiers in each indoor
parrot area; however, there is still not enough ventilation.  
Mold, mildew, poor air quality, and noxious odors can cause illness in birds. Peeling paint can fall into the enclosure and 
be ingested by the penguins. Indoor housing facilities must be sufficiently ventilated at all times when birds are present to 
provide for their health, to prevent their discomfort or distress, and to minimize accumulations of moisture condensation, 
odors, and levels of ammonia, chlorine, and other noxious gases. The ventilation system must minimize drafts.  
To be corrected by November 1, 2023. 

3.154 
Environment enhancement to promote psychological well-being. 
At the time of inspection, the facility has not established a complete environment enhancement plan (EEP) to promote the 
psychological well-being of the birds. There is an enrichment schedule and outline for the parrots housed in Tropical 
Wings; however, there is no plan in place for the penguins and flamingos at the facility. There are also no special 
considerations listed for birds that show signs of psychological distress, including three parrots that have evidence of 
feather destructive behavior.  
Failure to establish and maintain an EEP can result in birds not receiving adequate enrichment which can lead to 
behavioral, social, health, and other psychological problems. The plan must address at a minimum social grouping, 
environmental enrichment, special considerations, restraint devices, and any birds that are exempted by the attending 
veterinarian because of health issues or other conditions. The plan must be approved by the attending veterinarian. The 
licensee must establish and maintain an EEP for the birds. 
To be corrected by November 1, 2023. 

3.157(a)(2) 
Water quality.
In the enclosure housing 29 flamingos, there is an area of poor drainage along the water feature where the ground has 
eroded. There is also a trough that is part of the cement pond that does not connect to a functional drain. Both areas 
contain stagnant, murky water with green algae growing in it. Bugs were also seen gathered along the edges of this 
muddy area. The staff stated that they try to flush these spaces out once a week; however, the spaces never completely 
dry and always contain water. At the time of inspection, it had been one week since these areas had been flushed out.  
Stagnant water can attract pests, permeate noxious odors, and lead to disease or illness in the animals. Pools or other 
aquatic areas without drainage systems must be aerated and have an incoming flow of fresh water or be managed in a 
manner that maintains appropriate water quality in accordance with current professionally accepted standards appropriate 
for the species.  
To be corrected by November 15, 2023. 

3.158(d) 
Cleaning, sanitization, housekeeping, and pest control.
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At the time of inspection at the facility’s vet clinic, there was a large number of ants present on and inside the cabinet 
housing vitamins and supplements that can be used for the birds. The staff stated that they had arrived that morning to 
ants all over the front room of the clinic which they cleaned to the best of their abilities.  
Ants can contaminate or damage medications, supplements, and vitamins that are meant for the animals. The facility 
must establish and maintain a safe and effective program for the control of insects, ectoparasites, and avian and 
mammalian pests so as to promote the health and well-being of the birds and reduce contamination by pests.  
To be corrected by November 1, 2023. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with facility representatives. 

Additional Inspectors: 

E GONZALEZ, VETERINARY MEDICAL OFFICER n
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 United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 16-Oct-2023 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 16-OCT-2023 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000013 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000019 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000003 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 
000009 Spheniscus demersus AFRICAN PENGUIN / CAPE PENGUIN 
000029 Phoenicopterus ruber AMERICAN FLAMINGO 
000004 Ara chloropterus RED-AND-GREEN MACAW / GREEN-WINGED MACAW 
000002 Ara macao SCARLET MACAW 
000001 Ara militaris MILITARY MACAW 
000005 Ara ararauna BLUE-AND-YELLOW MACAW / BLUE-AND-GOLD MACAW 

000001
Ara, Anodorhynchus, Primolius, Diopsittaca 
spp hybrid MACAW HYBRID

000002 Amazona autumnalis RED-LORED PARROT / RED-LORED AMAZON 

000001 Cacatua galerita SULPHUR-CRESTED COCKATOO / GREATER SULPHUR-
CRESTED COCKATOO 

000003 Cacatua alba WHITE COCKATOO / UMBRELLA COCKATOO 
000001 Cacatua moluccensis SALMON-CRESTED COCKATOO / MOLUCCAN COCKATOO 
000001 Psittacus erithacus CONGO AFRICAN GREY PARROT / GRAY PARROT 

000102 Total
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MIAMI-DADE COUNTY REGULATORY AND ECONOMIC
RESOURCES DEPARTMENT

Building Support Section
11805 S.W. 26 Street (Coral Way), Room 230

Miami, FL 33175-2474
Phone: (786) 315-2424

Fax: (786) 315-2548

NOTICE OF VIOLATIONS
FOR FULL INFORMATION, PLEASE READ THIS NOTICE IN ITS ENTIRETY

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY DATE:   12/11/2023

PARKS AND RECREATION CASE NUMBER:  20240226206

275 NW 2ND ST 4FL

MIAMI , FL 33128-1794

VIOLATION ADDRESS: 3400 RICKENBACKER CSWY BLDG-U

BUILDING DESCRIPTION BUILDING OFFICIAL'S ORDER SECURING METHOD ENGINEER
CERTIFICATION

[A]  1-STORY  WOOD FRAME   STRUCTURE REPAIR OR DEMOLISH BOARDING, FENCING REQUIRED 

dotnet:Miami-Dade County Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources Unsafe Structures Case Number = 20240226206, Total Structures = 1
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The above described structure(s) has/have been inspected by this department and found to be unsafe as defined in the provisions of
Section 8-5 of the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building Code. The defects listed on the attached Explanation of Violations
have rendered the above structure(s) to be unsafe. The specific details concerning the violations can be obtained in writing from the
Building Official on request. In accordance with the provisions of Section 8-5(h) of the Code of Miami-Dade County, you are directed to
correct the violations as ordered by the Building Official and further described on the attached Explanation. Unless there is compliance with
the instructions in the Notice of Violation, an appeal is filed or an extension of the time to comply is requested in writing to the Building
Official and granted, a public hearing before the Unsafe Structures Board will be initiated by the Building Official after the time for
compliance has expired, or the Building Official's order will be enforced in accordance with the provisions of Section 8-5(h) without further
notice to you.

If you want to appeal the decision of the Building Official as detailed in this Notice of Violation and Explanation of Violations, such appeal
shall be in writing, addressed to the Secretary of the Unsafe Structures Board, , Miami-Dade Department of Regulatory and Economic
Resources, Permitting and Inspection Center, Board Administration Section, 11805 SW 26 St. (Coral Way), Room 230, Miami, Florida
33175-2474. The appeal should be in the form of a statement, indicating the reason(s) for such an appeal and stating wherein you consider
the Building Official to be in error. Appeals based on personal or economic hardship will not be considered proper unless the appellant also
states wherein the Building Official is believed to be in error. The appeal must be received by the Unsafe Structures Board no later than
thirty (30) days from the date this Notice of Violations is posted on the property. No demolition work can be performed without first obtaining
the correct permit through the Unsafe Structures Unit of the Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources.

If you want to request an extension of time to comply with this Notice of Violations, such request shall be made in writing by owner or duly
authorized representative prior to the expiration of the period allowed for compliance and addressed to the Building Official, Miami-Dade
County Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources, Permitting and Inspection Center, Unsafe Structures Unit, 11805 S.W. 26
Street, Miami, Florida 33175. The request must be in the form of a statement indicating the reason(s) an extension is needed. Such
request must satisfy the Building Official that the extension is warranted by one or more of the circumstances stated in Section 8-5(h)(8) of
the Code of Miami-Dade County and must contain a statement that the building or structure is and has at all times been in full compliance
with all of the conditions of Section 8-5(h).

dotnet:Miami-Dade County Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources Unsafe Structures Case Number = 20240226206
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Under the provisions of Section 8-5(k) of the Code of Miami-Dade County, you are responsible for all of the enforcement costs, including
appellate processing costs incurred by Miami-Dade County. The issuance of this Notice of Violation will result in the Department assessing
applicable costs against this property which may exceed Six Hundred and Fifty Dollars ($650.00) even though you corrected the violations
prior the case being closed. Your property will also be subject to a lien for those costs, if payment is not made upon request by the
Department. Pursuant to Section 8-5 (k) (4), "The enforcing agency may institute a suit to cover such expenses against any liable person
or may cause such expenses to be charged against the property on which the violation occurred as a lien or as a special assessment
collectible according to established procedures." A lien accruing interest at Twelve Percent (12%) per annum will be recorded against the
property in the public records of Miami-Dade County if administrative costs are not paid on demand, typically when the case is closed and
in compliance. Further, the County may also institute foreclosure proceedings.

Attachments: Explanation of Violations, Required Corrective Action. This instrument is filed pursuant to Section 8-5(g)(h)(7) of the Code of
Miami-Dade County, and all persons having or acquiring any interest in the above described property are hereby notified of the existence of
said violations, penalties and monetary fees or fines as prescribed by law.

Seal
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VIOLATION ADDRESS:  3400 RICKENBACKER CSWY BLDG-U CASE NUMBER: 20240226206

OWNER NAME: MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

LEGAL:  20 54 42 300 AC M/L' BEG AT NE COR SEC 20 TH W TO NW' COR OF SEC TH S2300FT TH ELY TO' X N/S C/L OF SEC
TH S ALG C/L TO' S/L OF SEC TH NELY TO SE COR OF' N1/4 TH N ALG E/L OF SEC TO POB' BEING PARCEL 3 PER PB 3069-248'
WHICH INCLUDES GOUT LOTS 1 -2 & 3' IN SAID SEC 20 TOGETHER WITH' FILLED LANDS & SUBMERGED LANDS' ADJ THERETO
LESS DEEDS 4165-257' & 4175-743 TO USA&LESS DEED 5709' -584 TO UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI INC' & LESS PORT LEASED TO
MARINE' EXCEPTING THEREFROM LESS OUT PORT' OF LEASE & LESS RESO R384-72 TO' UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI & LESS' RES
R-81-68 & LESS BEG NE COR OF' SEC TH N 89 DEG W 125.20FT SELY' AD 303.27FT SWLY AD 517.03FT SELY' AD 381.58FT S 45
DEG E 630FT N TO' POB & LESS COMM ATX OF C/L OF' RICKENBACKER CSWY & S/L OF SEC 17' TH S 45 DEG E 251.67FT N 64
DEG E' 930.84FT S 45 DEG G 328.66FT FOR' POB TH S 89 DEG E 516.35FT SWLY' SELY AD 441.95FT N 45 DEG W' 642.48FT TO
POB'

Structure
ID Violation Description

A
9003 THERE IS A FALLING AWAY, HANGING LOOSE OR LOOSENING OF SIDING, BLOCK, BRICK, OR OTHER
BUILDING MATERIAL: SEC. 8-5 (b)(2)(i) CODE OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY AND THE FLORIDA BUILDING CODE

A
9004 DETERIORATED STRUCTURE OR STRUCTURAL PARTS: SEC. 8-5 (b)(2)(ii) CODE OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY
AND THE FLORIDA BUILDING CODE

A
9009 FIRE OR WINDSTORM HAZARD: SEC. 8-5 (a)(2) CODE OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY AND THE FLORIDA BUILDING
CODE

A
9015 DANGEROUS TO HUMAN LIFE AND WELFARE: SEC. 8-5 (a)(2) CODE OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY AND THE
FLORIDA BUILDING CODE

dotnetMiami-Dade County Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources Unsafe Structures Case Number = 20240226206
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REQUIRED CORRECTIVE ACTION AND COMPLIANCE PERIODS

DATE:  December 9, 2023
CASE NUMBER: 20240226206

TO REPAIR OR COMPLETE THE BUILDING OR STRUCTURE

For structure(s) A, you must secure and maintain secure the building(s) or structure(s) at all openings, to include maintaining the premises
clean and sanitary, free of debris, overgrown grass is not to exceed 36 inches, free of discoloration of graffiti by 12/31/2023. The following
securing methods are approved for securing the structure from unauthorized entry: boarding, concrete blocks, shutters, fencing or any
combination thereof. The Building official has pre-approved the following securing methods: X Boarding     Concrete Blocks     Shutters X or
Fencing.

For structure(s) A, you must obtain a building permit through the Unsafe Structures Unit prior to commencing work on securing the
structures or building and all work must be completed by the date noted above as evidenced by final inspection approval.

For structure(s) A, the building(s) or structure(s) shall at all times be maintained structurally sound and not in imminent of collapse and you
must obtain a certified letter from a Florida registered professional engineer or architect proficient in structural design, certifying that the
structures' integrity is sound. The letter must be received by the Unsafe Structures Unit by 1/20/2024.

For structure(s) A, you must obtain or renew the master building permit through the Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources by
3/20/2024. If a master building permit is not required, then all required permits must be obtained by 3/20/2024. The building(s) or
structure(s) shall be repaired or completed and brought into full compliance with the Code of Miami-Dade County and the Florida Building
Code by 7/18/2024. Completion shall be evidenced by final inspection approval. Full compliance shall be determined by the Unsafe
Structures Unit.

TO DEMOLISH THE BUILDING OR STRUCTURE

For structure(s) A, you must obtain a demolition permit from the Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources, Unsafe Structures
Unit by 1/20/2024.

For structure(s) A, you must complete the demolition by 2/9/2024, to include removal of all demolition debris from the premises as
evidenced by final inspection approval having been obtained by 2/9/2024.

dotnet:Miami-Dade County Department of Regulatory and Economic Resources Unsafe Structures Case Number = 20240226206
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 United States Department of Agriculture CPALMER 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000826642 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: CHARLES PALMER Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 16-NOV-2022 

Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
OFFICER 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
16-NOV-2022 

Page 1 of 2 

MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

9600 N. Oceanshore Boulevard
St Augustine, FL 32080

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: ROUTINE INSPECTION 

Date: 14-NOV-2022 

3.101(a)(1) 
Facilities, general.
In Golden Dome stadium, there are areas that are not being maintained in good repair.  On stage, there are areas with 

rough edges and chipping paint that animals may come into contact with; The ramp and staircase leading to the dive 

platform has two areas of exposed foam with rough edges of chipped paint. The front edge of the center stage has an 

area approximately 12 inches wide and 10 inches back with missing paint and exposed cement. During the sealion 

performances, animals slide across the stage, climb up this ramp and may come in contact with these areas of concern. 

At the concrete audience barrier, there is concrete pitting and paint flecking which sealions may also come into contact 

with throughout the shows.  In sealion housing, there is flecking paint over sealion enclosures. The back of the dome’s 

stage has large areas of paint chipping and concrete cracks that are above sealion enclosures. Flakes of chipped paint 

and concrete may fall into enclosures and be ingested by the animals.  Indoor and outdoor housing facilities for marine 

mammals must be structurally sound and must be maintained in good repair to protect the animals from injury. To be 

corrected by December 16, 2022.

3.103(c) 
Facilities, outdoor.
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 United States Department of Agriculture CPALMER 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000826642 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: CHARLES PALMER Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 16-NOV-2022 

Title: VETERINARY MEDICAL 
OFFICER 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
16-NOV-2022 

Page 2 of 2 

The facility’s perimeter fence has a section, near the western side of the Miami Seaquarium dock, where the bottom of the 

chain link fence is not flush with the ground substrate.  There is a gap approximately 12 inches wide and 14 inches deep 

under this section of fence.  Animals and unauthorized people can use these gaps to enter and exit the area and gain 

access to the animals behind it. The perimeter fence must be constructed so that it protects marine mammals by 

restricting animals and unauthorized persons from going through it or under it and having contact with the marine 

mammals, and so that it can function as a secondary containment system for the animals in the facility when appropriate. 

To be corrected by November 30, 2022. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with a facility representative.

Additional Inspectors: 

KRISTIN NAPOLI, SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE SPECIALIST n
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 United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 14-Nov-2022 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 14-NOV-2022 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000020 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000013 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000006 Trichechus manatus CARIBBEAN MANATEE 
000002 Lagenorhynchus obliquidens PACIFIC WHITE-SIDED DOLPHIN 

000049 Total
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OFFICE OF THE MAYOR
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

STEPHEN P. CLARK CENTER  •  111 N.W. FIRST STREET  •  29TH FLOOR  •  MIAMI, FLORIDA 33128-1930  • (305) 375-1880  •  (305) 375-2099

via electronic and certified mail

April 11, 2024

Mr. Eduardo Albor
President
The Dolphin Company
MS Leisure Company, Inc.
The Miami Seaquarium
4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33149

RE: Second Notice of Additional Defaults
Property Address:  4400 Rickenbacker Causeway, Key Biscayne, Florida 33149

       Folio No.:  30-4220-000-0010 (the “Property”)

Dear Mr. Albor:

By letter dated March 7, 2024, Miami-Dade County (“Lessor”) provided you, MS Leisure 
Company, Inc. (“Lessee”), with notice of (1) the Lessor’s termination of the Amended and 
Restated Lease Agreement (as defined therein) and (2) certain additional defaults that were 
also of great concern to Lessor.

It is apparent that Lessee has also violated its obligations under the Lease in additional ways. 
The circumstances indicate an ongoing pattern of the Lessee’s failure and refusal to maintain 
the Seaquarium’s premises and animals in a safe condition that complies with all applicable 
laws and with the unambiguous terms of the Lease.

As has been noted in the extensive history of Lessor’s notifications of Lessor’s defaults, the 
Lease requires MS Leisure Company, Inc. to:
x “maintain animals in accordance with federal laws and regulations, including the Marine 

Mammal Protection Act and the Animal Welfare Act as applicable.” See Section 11. 
x “keep the Demised Premises and all improvements and personal property thereon … 

in a good state of repair and in a clean condition … similar to other facilities maintained 
by Lessee”. See Section 11. 

x comply with “all applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances and statutes”. See
6HFWLRQ����ௗௗௗ
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STEPHEN P. CLARK CENTER  •  111 N.W. FIRST STREET  •  29TH FLOOR  •  MIAMI, FLORIDA 33128-1930  • (305) 375-1880  •  (305) 375-1262 

This Second Notice of Additional Defaults serves to notify you, Lessee, of the following 
DGGLWLRQDO�GHIDXOWV�WKDW�GHPRQVWUDWH�D�FRQWLQXLQJ�SDWWHUQ�RI�PDWHULDO�EUHDFKHV�RI�WKH�/HDVH�ௗ
ௗ

x On January 30, 2024, the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) 
inspected the Property and noted the significant deficiencies in the facilities that 
posed serious risks to the animals. Critically, all such deficiencies were noted as 
“Repeat” violations.  For example, USDA once again reported the deficient condition 
of the penguin building and indoor enclosure that continues to have sagging, peeling 
paint, rust-like stains on walls, and mold-like substances on ceilings. Additionally, 
USDA reported that the Golden Dome was not kept in good repair. Further, the 
USDA reported that the Tropical Wings section of deficiencies in the conditions of 
the cones that provide shelter to the birds, noting flaking paint and rusty surfaces. 
As noted by the USDA, “excessive rust can compromise structural strength, present 
roughened and jagged surfaces where it is possible for the birds to injure 
themselves”. 

x On February 7, 2024, Lessor requested a copy of the USDA exit interview report 
for the inspection conducted from 1/30/24 through 2/1/24 in accordance with the 
Third Amendment to the Lease.  Section 27(U) requires Lessee to “upon request by 
Lessor to provide Lessor with copies of any reports, letter, or correspondence, from 
or to any state or federal agency related to the management or operation of the 
Demised Premises and the improvements thereon immediately upon receipt or 
generation of such by Lesse.” Importantly, there is no limitation to the types of reports 
or correspondence, even if such reports are not “final.” To date, Lessee has failed 
and refused to comply with this requirement and provide the requested 
documentation to Lessor. 

x On March 5, 2024, USDA inspected the Property and again noted the significant 
deficiencies in the facilities that continue to be “Repeat” violations – specifically, the 
penguin building and indoor enclosure and the Tropical Wings Section. USDA also 
noted defects in the perimeter fence and inadequate veterinary care.    

x By letter dated March 6, 2024, Lessee was notified of significant violations of the 
County Code in connection with a deficient sanitary sewer pump station and 
collection system (“Sewer System”) at the Property. Among other things, Lessee’s 
Sewer System does not have two functional sanitary sewer pumps, and is missing 
vents, an emergency generator connection, and an emergency pump connection.  

x On March 19, 2024, a representative from PROS was not allowed to accompany 
USDA inspectors to concurrently conduct an inspection of the site as provided under 
Section 27(J) of the Third Amendment to the Lease.  Under this section, the County 
has the “right at any time to make unannounced site and operational inspections…”  
Instead, the PROS representative was only allowed to independently inspect the 
premises accompanied by Seaquarium management, Seaquarium counsel, and a 
Seaquarium camera operator.  Importantly, there are no restrictions on the time or 
manner of these site and operational inspections.  Lessee has violated this provision 
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STEPHEN P. CLARK CENTER  •  111 N.W. FIRST STREET  •  29TH FLOOR  •  MIAMI, FLORIDA 33128-1930  • (305) 375-1880  •  (305) 375-1262

of the Third Amendment by placing restrictions on the visit that are not present in the 
contract the parties negotiated. 

The Lessor reserves all of its rights under the Amended and Restated Lease Agreement at law 
DQG� LQ� HTXLW\� DQG� QRWKLQJ� KHUHLQ�ZDLYHV� RU� VKDOO� EH� GHHPHG� WR�ZDLYH� WKRVH� ULJKWV�ௗLessor 
specifically reserves all rights to pursue termination on the basis of any defaults specified 
herein. Each and every material default constitutes an independent basis on which Lessor can 
terminate the Lease.

Should you have any questions regarding this matter, please contact Jimmy Morales at: 305-
375-2448 or by email at: mailto: Jimmy.Morales2@miamidade.gov.

7KDQN�\RX�IRU�\RXU�WLPH�DQG�DWWHQWLRQ�WR�WKLV�PDWWHU�ௗ

6LQFHUHO\�ௗ

Jimmy Morales
Chief Operations Officer

c: Geri Bonzon-Keenan, County Attorney
Maria I. Nardi, Director, Parks, Recreation and Open Spaces

Certified Mail Number: 7017268000070840813
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 United States Department of Agriculture CPALMER 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000923643 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: CHARLES PALMER Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 08-FEB-2024 

Title: SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE 
SPECIALIST 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
08-FEB-2024 

Page 1 of 2 

MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: ROUTINE INSPECTION 

Date: 30-JAN-2024 

3.150(a) Repeat
Facilities, general.
The penguin building and indoor enclosure has not been kept in good repair. The ceiling, Inside the enclosure, has 
multiple areas of sagging, peeling paint. Rust like stains run down the walls from numerous screws and several patches of 
round, black, mold-like substance can be observed diffusely across the ceiling. Keeping these facilities in good repair 
protects the animals from harm or injury. Housing facilities for birds must be designed so that they are structurally sound 
for the species of bird housed in them and must be kept in good repair. 

3.101(a)(1) Repeat
Facilities, general.
The Golden Dome stage was not kept in good repair. At the time of inspection, a heart shaped section, approximately 
3”X3” wide and .5” deep, was missing from the top coating of the stage floor. This missing section was located to the left 
of center stage and created a rough surface for the animals to slide across. Rough surfaces can cause harm or injury to 
the animals as they slide or scoot across them. Outdoor housing facilities for marine mammals must be structurally sound 
and must be maintained in good repair to protect the animals from injury. The defect in the surface of the stage floor was 
corrected at the time of inspection. 

3.150(c)(2) Repeat
Facilities, general.
In the Tropical Wings section, there are multiple surfaces with rust or damage. The outdoor perches have colorful metal 
cones that can be used as shade and shelter for the birds being exhibited outdoors. Several of these cones have areas 
around the bottom lip with flaking paint and rusty surfaces. Most of the metal enclosures used to house the birds when 
they are off display, have areas of bubbling and flaking paint due to rust and areas where the metal is rusted through. 
Excessive rust can compromise structural strength, present roughened and jagged surfaces where it is possible for the 
birds to injure themselves and prevent proper cleaning and sanitization of a surface. Any surfaces, that come in contact 
with the birds, must be free of rust or damage that affects the structural integrity of the surface or prevents cleaning. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with facility representatives. 
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 United States Department of Agriculture CPALMER 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000923643 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: CHARLES PALMER Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 08-FEB-2024 

Title: SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE 
SPECIALIST 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
08-FEB-2024 

Page 2 of 2 

Additional Inspectors: 

KRISTIN NAPOLI, SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE SPECIALIST n
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 United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 30-Jan-2024 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 30-JAN-2024 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000012 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000018 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000009 Spheniscus demersus AFRICAN PENGUIN / CAPE PENGUIN 
000029 Phoenicopterus ruber AMERICAN FLAMINGO 
000004 Ara chloropterus RED-AND-GREEN MACAW / GREEN-WINGED MACAW 
000002 Ara macao SCARLET MACAW 
000001 Ara militaris MILITARY MACAW 
000005 Ara ararauna BLUE-AND-YELLOW MACAW / BLUE-AND-GOLD MACAW 

000001
Ara, Anodorhynchus, Primolius, Diopsittaca 
spp hybrid MACAW HYBRID

000002 Amazona autumnalis RED-LORED PARROT / RED-LORED AMAZON 

000001 Cacatua galerita SULPHUR-CRESTED COCKATOO / GREATER SULPHUR-
CRESTED COCKATOO 

000003 Cacatua alba WHITE COCKATOO / UMBRELLA COCKATOO 
000001 Cacatua moluccensis SALMON-CRESTED COCKATOO / MOLUCCAN COCKATOO 
000001 Psittacus erithacus CONGO AFRICAN GREY PARROT / GRAY PARROT 

000097 Total
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 United States Department of Agriculture CPALMER 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000943681 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: CHARLES PALMER Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 07-MAR-2024 

Title: SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE 
SPECIALIST 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
07-MAR-2024 

Page 1 of 2 

MS Leisure Company, Inc. 

4400 Rickenbacker Causeway
Key Biscayne, FL 33147

Customer ID: 6011009
Certificate:  58-C-1252 

Site: 001 

Miami Seaquarium 

Type: FOCUSED INSPECTION 

Date: 05-MAR-2024 

3.150(a) Repeat
Facilities, general.
The penguin building and indoor enclosure are still not in good repair. The ceiling inside the enclosure has multiple areas 
of sagging, peeling paint. Rust like stains run down the walls from numerous screws and several patches of round, black, 
mold-like substance can be observed diffusely across the ceiling.  
 
Keeping these facilities in good repair protects the animals from harm or injury.  
 
Housing facilities for birds must be designed so that they are structurally sound for the species of bird housed in them and 
must be kept in good repair. 

2.40(b)(2) Direct
Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care (dealers and exhibitors).
The facility failed to use appropriate methods to control disease. On February 23, 2024, Monty, a blue and gold macaw 
was confirmed positive for Pacheco’s disease via serology and choanal/cloacal swab. At the time of inspection, Monty 
was observed on exhibit with other birds in the facilities flock.  
 
Pacheco’s disease is a highly infectious and deadly bird disease. Exposure to infected birds can lead to the spread of the 
disease to other birds.  
 
Each exhibitor shall establish and maintain programs of adequate veterinary care that include appropriate methods to 
prevent, control, diagnose, and treat diseases. To be corrected immediately, March, 7, 2024. 

3.103(c)(1) 
Facilities, outdoor.
The facility still needs to make repairs to the perimeter fence. Many support beams are still rusted through at the base and 
are no longer connected to the concrete and require prompt attention to maintain the structural integrity of the fencing in 
this section. Areas at the base of the fence have gaps and are not continuous with the floor.  
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 United States Department of Agriculture CPALMER 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service  INS-0000943681 

Inspection Report 

Prepared By: CHARLES PALMER Date:
USDA, APHIS, Animal Care 07-MAR-2024 

Title: SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE 
SPECIALIST 

Received by Title: Facility Representative Date:
07-MAR-2024 

Page 2 of 2 

Defects in the perimeter fence can allow animals and unauthorized people to enter and exit the area, gaining access to 
the animals at the facility. Stray cats were still observed at the facility.  
 
Perimeter fencing must be regularly checked and maintained to ensure it protects marine mammals by restricting animals 
and unauthorized persons from having contact with the marine mammals. 

3.150(c)(2) Repeat
Facilities, general.
In the Tropical Wings section, there are areas of flaking paint under metal cone shade structures where birds have 
pecked. The higher placed perches allow larger birds to have access to the bottom lip of the painted cones. Additionally, 
about six of the metal enclosures used to house the birds when they are off display have areas of bubbling and flaking 
paint due to rust and areas where the metal is rusted through.  
 
Excessive rust can compromise structural strength, present roughened and jagged surfaces where it is possible for the 
birds to injure themselves and prevent proper cleaning and sanitization of a surface.  
 
Any surfaces, that come in contact with the birds, must be free of rust or damage that affects the structural integrity of the 
surface or prevents cleaning. 

This inspection and exit interview were conducted with facility representatives. 

Additional Inspectors: 

MARIO MERCADO, VETERINARY MEDICAL OFFICER 

KRISTIN NAPOLI, SUPERVISORY ANIMAL CARE SPECIALIST n
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 United States Department of Agriculture Customer: 6011009 

 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service Inspection Date: 05-Mar-2024 

Species Inspected 

Cust No Cert No Site Site Name Inspection 
6011009  58-C-1252  001 Miami Seaquarium 05-MAR-2024 

Page 1 of 1 

Count Scientific Name Common Name 
000012 Zalophus californianus CALIFORNIA SEA LION 
000008 Phoca vitulina HARBOR SEAL 
000018 Tursiops truncatus BOTTLENOSE DOLPHIN 
000009 Spheniscus demersus AFRICAN PENGUIN / CAPE PENGUIN 
000028 Phoenicopterus ruber AMERICAN FLAMINGO 
000003 Ara chloropterus RED-AND-GREEN MACAW / GREEN-WINGED MACAW 
000002 Ara macao SCARLET MACAW 
000001 Ara militaris MILITARY MACAW 
000005 Ara ararauna BLUE-AND-YELLOW MACAW / BLUE-AND-GOLD MACAW 

000001
Ara, Anodorhynchus, Primolius, Diopsittaca 
spp hybrid MACAW HYBRID

000002 Amazona autumnalis RED-LORED PARROT / RED-LORED AMAZON 

000001 Cacatua galerita SULPHUR-CRESTED COCKATOO / GREATER SULPHUR-
CRESTED COCKATOO 

000003 Cacatua alba WHITE COCKATOO / UMBRELLA COCKATOO 
000001 Cacatua moluccensis SALMON-CRESTED COCKATOO / MOLUCCAN COCKATOO 
000001 Psittacus erithacus CONGO AFRICAN GREY PARROT / GRAY PARROT 

000095 Total
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JUAN FERNANDEZ-BARQUIN, ESQ.
CLERK OF THE COURT AND COMPTROLLER

OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY
Contact Us My Account My Desk 

CIVIL, FAMILY AND PROBATE COURTS ONLINE SYSTEM

 BACK

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY VS MS LEISURE COMPANY, INC.,

Local Case Number: 2024-123937-CC-05 Filing Date: 06/25/2024

State Case Number: 132024CC12393701GE05 Judicial Section: CC 01 - Downtown Miami 01 - Judge Barket, Michael G

Consolidated Case No.: N/A Court Location: 73 West Flagler Street, Miami FL 33130

Case Status: OPEN Case Type: Evictions - Non-Residential ($30,001 - $50,000)

Total Of Related Cases: 0  Related Cases

Total Of Parties: 2  Parties

Total Of Hearings: 4  Hearing Details

Total Of Dockets: 84  Dockets

Number Date Book/Page Docket Entry
Event
Type Comments


82 07/11/2025 Notice of

Compliance
Event

81 07/10/2025 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:3030001 AMT PAID:$84,590.83 NAME:JEFFREY C ROTH PA
COMMENT: ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT 2106-COURT
REGISTRY DEP 1 $83,333.33 $83,333.33 2108-COURT REGISTRY FEE 1
$1,257.50 $1,257.50 TENDER TYPE:CHECK TENDER AMT:$84,590.83
RECEIPT DATE:07/10/2025 REGISTER#:303 CASHIER:BEBA1


80 06/16/2025 Notice of

Compliance
Event

79 06/12/2025 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:2970001 AMT PAID:$84,590.83 NAME:JEFFREY C. ROTH PA
COMMENT: ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT 2106-COURT
REGISTRY DEP 1 $83,333.33 $83,333.33 2108-COURT REGISTRY FEE 1
$1,257.50 $1,257.50 TENDER TYPE:CHECK TENDER AMT:$84,590.83
RECEIPT DATE:06/12/2025 REGISTER#:297 CASHIER:BEBA1

06/10/2025 Special Sets Hearing


78 05/13/2025 Notice of

Compliance
Event

77 05/13/2025 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:2510003 AMT PAID:$84,590.83 NAME:JEFFREY C ROTH PA
COMMENT:RENT ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT 2106-
COURT REGISTRY DEP 1 $83,333.33 $83,333.33 2108-COURT REGISTRY
FEE 1 $1,257.50 $1,257.50 TENDER TYPE:CHECK TENDER AMT:$84,590.83
RECEIPT DATE:05/13/2025 REGISTER#:251 CASHIER:YADIE


76 04/29/2025 Notice of Hrg

Special Appt
Event 06/10/2025
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Number Date Book/Page Docket Entry
Event
Type Comments


75 04/29/2025 Notice of

Hearing-
Event 04-29-2025


74 04/15/2025 Order on Case

Management
Plan

Event


73 04/15/2025 Notice of

Compliance
Event

72 04/15/2025 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:2750003 AMT PAID:$84,590.83 NAME:JEFFREY C. ROTH PA
COMMENT: ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT 2106-COURT
REGISTRY DEP 1 $83,333.33 $83,333.33 2108-COURT REGISTRY FEE 1
$1,257.50 $1,257.50 TENDER TYPE:CHECK TENDER AMT:$84,590.83
RECEIPT DATE:04/15/2025 REGISTER#:275 CASHIER:BEBA1


71 04/11/2025 34710:4274 Suggestion of

Bankruptcy
Event CASE NO. 25-10606 (LSS)

Parties: MS LEISURE COMPANY INC.


70 03/31/2025 Notice of

Hearing-
Event 05-05-2025 AT 10:30 AM


69 03/17/2025 Notice of

Compliance
Event


68 03/14/2025 Agreed Order Event GRANTING JOINT MOTION TO STAY PROCEEDINGS

66 03/14/2025 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:3100001 AMT PAID:$84,590.83 NAME:JEFFREY C. ROTH PA
COMMENT:RENT ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT 2106-
COURT REGISTRY DEP 1 $83,333.33 $83,333.33 2108-COURT REGISTRY
FEE 1 $1,257.50 $1,257.50 TENDER TYPE:CHECK TENDER AMT:$84,590.83
RECEIPT DATE:03/14/2025 REGISTER#:310 CASHIER:WILSOLI


67 03/13/2025 Order: Event ON DEFENDANTS MOTION TO COMPEL SCHEDULING


65 03/13/2025 Motion to Stay Event


64 03/12/2025 Order: Event 3RD DCA ORDER ETC.,

03/03/2025 Special Sets Hearing DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO COMPEL SCHEDULING OF MIAMI-DADE
COUNTY WITNESS DEPOSITIONS & TO CONTINUE TRIAL


63 02/25/2025 Response to

Motion
Event


62 02/21/2025 Notice of

Hearing-
Event 03-03-2025 AT 10:45 AM


61 02/21/2025 Notice of

Taking
Deposition

Event


60 02/19/2025 Notice of Filing: Event DEFENDANT'S CONSENT TO CONTINUANCE


59 02/19/2025 Motion to

Compel
Event


58 02/14/2025 Notice of

Compliance
Event

57 02/13/2025 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:2910001 AMT PAID:$84,590.83 NAME:JEFFREY C. ROTH PA
COMMENT: ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT 2106-COURT
REGISTRY DEP 1 $83,333.33 $83,333.33 2108-COURT REGISTRY FEE 1
$1,257.50 $1,257.50 TENDER TYPE:CHECK TENDER AMT:$84,590.83
RECEIPT DATE:02/13/2025 REGISTER#:291 CASHIER:BEBA1
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Number Date Book/Page Docket Entry
Event
Type Comments


56 01/15/2025 Notice: Event DIRECTING DEFENDANT TO DEPOSIT RENT

55 01/14/2025 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:2940017 AMT PAID:$84,590.83 NAME:JEFFREY C ROTH PA
COMMENT:COURT ORDER 8/19/24 ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT
AMOUNT 2106-COURT REGISTRY DEP 1 $83,333.33 $83,333.33 2108-
COURT REGISTRY FEE 1 $1,257.50 $1,257.50 TENDER TYPE:CHECK
TENDER AMT:$84,590.83 RECEIPT DATE:01/14/2025 REGISTER#:294
CASHIER:YADIE


54 12/19/2024 Order: Event 3RD DCA ORDER DISMISSING APPEAL 3D24-2009 AS ONE TAKEN FROM

A NON-FINAL, NON APPEALABLE ORDER


53 12/13/2024 Notice of

Compliance
Event

52 12/13/2024 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:2800003 AMT PAID:$84,590.83 NAME:MS LEISURE CO.INC
COMMENT:RENT ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT 2106-
COURT REGISTRY DEP 1 $83,333.33 $83,333.33 2108-COURT REGISTRY
FEE 1 $1,257.50 $1,257.50 TENDER TYPE:CHECK TENDER AMT:$84,590.83
RECEIPT DATE:12/13/2024 REGISTER#:280 CASHIER:WILSOLI


51 11/15/2024 Notice of

Compliance
Event

49 11/15/2024 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:2290003 AMT PAID:$84,590.83 NAME:JEFFREY C. ROTH PA
COMMENT:RENT ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT 2106-
COURT REGISTRY DEP 1 $83,333.33 $83,333.33 2108-COURT REGISTRY
FEE 1 $1,257.50 $1,257.50 TENDER TYPE:CHECK TENDER AMT:$84,590.83
RECEIPT DATE:11/15/2024 REGISTER#:229 CASHIER:YADIE

48 11/08/2024 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:3210179 AMT PAID:$106.00 NAME:ROTH, JEFFREY C. 866 S
DIXIE HWY CORAL GABLES FL 33146-2603 COMMENT: ALLOCATION
CODE QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT 3121-CERTIFIED 1 $2.00 $2.00 3120-
COPY 1 $4.00 $4.00 3062-CTY APPEAL 3RD DCA 1 $100.00 $100.00
TENDER TYPE:EFILINGS TENDER AMT:$106.00 RECEIPT DATE:11/08/2024
REGISTER#:321 CASHIER:EFILINGUSER


47 11/07/2024 34484:521 Notice of

Appeal Non-
Final Order

Event


46 10/15/2024 Notice of

Compliance
Event

45 10/15/2024 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:2760007 AMT PAID:$84,590.83 NAME:JEFFREY C ROTH PA
COMMENT: ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT 2106-COURT
REGISTRY DEP 1 $83,333.33 $83,333.33 2108-COURT REGISTRY FEE 1
$1,257.50 $1,257.50 TENDER TYPE:CHECK TENDER AMT:$84,590.83
RECEIPT DATE:10/15/2024 REGISTER#:276 CASHIER:BEBA1

43 10/12/2024 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:3260753 AMT PAID:$105.00 NAME:BONZON-KEENAN,
GERALDINE TERESA 111 NW 1ST ST STE 2800 MIAMI FL 33128-1930
COMMENT: ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT 3121-
CERTIFIED 1 $2.00 $2.00 3120-COPY 1 $3.00 $3.00 3062-CTY APPEAL
3RD DCA 1 $100.00 $100.00 TENDER TYPE:EFILINGS TENDER
AMT:$105.00 RECEIPT DATE:10/12/2024 REGISTER#:326
CASHIER:EFILINGUSER


44 10/11/2024 Notice of Filing: Event TRANSCRIPT


42 10/11/2024 34445:2178 Notice of

Appeal
Event


41 10/08/2024 Order of

Default
Event DENIED.


40 10/08/2024 Order: Event ON DEFENDANTS MOTION TO SET ASIDE AUGUST 19, 2024 ORDER

DENIED.
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Number Date Book/Page Docket Entry
Event
Type Comments


39 10/02/2024 Order Setting

Non-Jury Trial
Event 04-07-2025 AT 8:30 AM


37 10/02/2024 Reply Event REVISED REPLY TO MIAMI-DADE COUNTY'S RESPONSE

10/02/2024 Special Sets Hearing MIAMI DADE COUNTY'S MOTION FOR DEFAULT FINAL JUDGMENT AND
IMMEDIATE POSSESSION OF REAL PROPERTY; MS LEISURE'S RESPONSE
IN OPPOSITION TO MIAMI-DADE COUNTY'S MOTION FOR DEFAULT
JUDGMENT AND IMMEDIATE POSSESSION OF REAL PROPERTY, AND MS
LEISURE'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE THIS COURT'S AUGUST 19, 2024,
PROPOSED ORDER DIRECTING DEFENDANT TO DEPOSIT RENT INTO THE
COURT REGISTRY


38 10/01/2024 Reply Event


36 09/25/2024 Notice of Hrg

Special Appt
Event OCT. 2,24 8:30AM


35 09/25/2024 Notice of

Hearing-
Event 10-02-2024 AT 8:30 AM


34 09/24/2024 Reply Event


33 09/24/2024 Amended

Notice of
Hearing

Event COURTROOM 3-2 ON TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2024, AT 11:00 A.M


32 09/24/2024 Notice of Hrg

Special Appt
Event VIA ZOOM TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2024, AT 11:00 A.M.,


31 09/19/2024 Response to

Motion
Event


30 09/19/2024 Motion for

Default
Judgment

Event


29 09/18/2024 Notice of

Compliance
Event

28 09/17/2024 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:2990001 AMT PAID:$84,590.83 NAME:JEFFREY C. ROTH PA
COMMENT:CT. ORDER ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT
2106-COURT REGISTRY DEP 1 $83,333.33 $83,333.33 2108-COURT
REGISTRY FEE 1 $1,257.50 $1,257.50 TENDER TYPE:CHECK TENDER
AMT:$84,590.83 RECEIPT DATE:09/17/2024 REGISTER#:299
CASHIER:BEBA1


27 09/10/2024 Notice of

Mediation
Conference

Event 10/21/2024


26 09/02/2024 Order: Event DENYING DEFENDANTS MOTION TO ALLOW REQUESTS FOR WRITTEN

DISCOVERY

08/27/2024 Motion
Calendar

Hearing STATUS CONFERENCE HEARING AND DEFENDANTS MOTION TO ALLOW
REQUEST FOR PRODUCTIONAND INTERROGATORIES


25 08/25/2024 Reply Event


24 08/21/2024 Notice of

Compliance
Event


23 08/21/2024 Amended

Notice of
Hearing

Event AUGUST 27, 2024 AT 1:30 P.M., VIA ZOOM VIDEO CONFERENCE
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Number Date Book/Page Docket Entry
Event
Type Comments


22 08/20/2024 Response: Event IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION

21 08/20/2024 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:2630004 AMT PAID:$169,174.16 NAME:JEFFREY C ROTH PA
COMMENT:COURT ORDER 08/19/24 ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT
AMOUNT 2106-COURT REGISTRY DEP 1 $166,666.66 $166,666.66 2108-
COURT REGISTRY FEE 1 $2,507.50 $2,507.50 TENDER TYPE:CHECK
TENDER AMT:$169,174.16 RECEIPT DATE:08/20/2024 REGISTER#:263
CASHIER:YADIE


20 08/19/2024 Order: Event DIRECTING DEFENDANT TO DEPOSIT RENT INTO THE COURT REGISTRY


19 08/16/2024 Motion: Event EXPEDITED ORDER


18 08/15/2024 Motion: Event TO ALLOW REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION AND INTERROGATORIES


17 08/02/2024 Notice of

Hearing-
Event


16 07/31/2024 Amended

Answer
Event Parties: MS LEISURE COMPANY INC.


15 07/29/2024 Answer and

Affirmative
Defense

Event Parties: MS LEISURE COMPANY INC.


14 07/19/2024 Order

Extending Time
for

Event GRANTED


13 07/18/2024 Motion for

Extension of
Time

Event Parties: MS LEISURE COMPANY INC.


12 07/09/2024 Order

Extending Time
for

Event GRANTED


11 07/08/2024 Motion for

Extension of
Time

Event Parties: MS LEISURE COMPANY INC.


10 07/08/2024 Notice of

Appearance
Event Parties: Napoleon Hilton II; MS LEISURE COMPANY INC.


9 07/01/2024 Service

Returned
Event Parties: MS LEISURE COMPANY INC.

7 06/27/2024 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:2510016 AMT PAID:$10.00 COMMENT: ALLOCATION CODE
QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT 2139-SUMMONS ISSUE FEE 1 $10.00 $10.00
TENDER TYPE:GOVT CIVIL CTY TENDER AMT:$10.00 RECEIPT
DATE:06/27/2024 REGISTER#:251 CASHIER:SFLOWER

06/27/2024 5 Day
Summons
Issued

Service

6 06/27/2024 5 Day
Summons
Issued

Event Parties: MS LEISURE COMPANY INC.


5 06/27/2024 Amended

Notice
Event AMENDED CIVIL COVER SHEET
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 BACK

Please be advised:

The Clerk’s Office makes every effort to ensure the accuracy of the following information; however it makes no warranties or representations whatsoever regarding the
completeness, accuracy, or timeliness of such information and data. Information on this website has been posted with the intent that it be readily available for personal
and public non-commercial (educational) use and to provide the public with direct online access to information in the Miami-Dade Clerk’s Office information systems.
Other than making limited copies of this website's content, you may not reproduce, retransmit, redistribute, upload or post any part of this website, including the
contents thereof, in any form or by any means, or store it in any information storage and retrieval system, without prior written permission from the Miami-Dade Clerk’s
Office.

If you are interested in obtaining permission to reproduce, retransmit or store any part of this website beyond that which you may use for personal use, as defined
above, visit our Web API Services. You can review the complete Miami-Dade County Disclaimer

Number Date Book/Page Docket Entry
Event
Type Comments

4 06/26/2024 Receipt: Event RECEIPT#:3160436 AMT PAID:$400.00 NAME:BONZON-KEENAN,
GERALDINE TERESA 111 NW 1ST ST STE 2800 MIAMI FL 33128-1930
COMMENT: ALLOCATION CODE QUANTITY UNIT AMOUNT 2100-
COUNTY FILING FEE 1 $400.00 $400.00 TENDER TYPE:EFILINGS TENDER
AMT:$400.00 RECEIPT DATE:06/26/2024 REGISTER#:316
CASHIER:EFILINGUSER


2 06/25/2024 Complaint Event


1 06/25/2024 Civil Cover

Sheet - Claim
Amount

Event

General

Online Case Home

Family Court Information

Civil Court Information

Login

Help and Support

Clerk's Home

Privacy Statement

ADA Notice

Disclaimer

Contact Us

About Us

Juan Fernandez-Barquin, Esq.

Clerk of the Court and Comptroller

of Miami-Dade County

73 W. Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130

305-275-1155

©2025 Clerk of the Court & Comptroller of Miami-Dade County. All rights reserved.
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IN THE COUNTY COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL
CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

CASE NO: 2024-123937-CC-05
SECTION: CC01
JUDGE: Michael Barket

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

Plaintiff(s) / Petitioner(s)

vs.

MS LEISURE COMPANY, INC.,

Defendant(s) / Respondent(s)
____________________________/

PROPOSED ORDER DIRECTING DEFENDANT TO DEPOSIT RENT INTO THE 
COURT REGISTRY

            Pursuant to section 83.232(1), (3), Florida Statutes, it is hereby ORDERED that Defendant 

MS Leisure Company, Inc., SHALL:

(1) Deposit the accrued Guaranteed Rent in the amount of $166,666.66 into the Court

Registry, and file a Notice of Compliance, by 5:00 p.m. EST on Wednesday, August 21, 2024; and

(2) Deposit into the Court Registry all future Guaranteed Rent—$83,333.33

monthly—accruing during the pendency of this action, when due.

The Court reserves jurisdiction to determine the amount of past due rent and Percentage 

Rent, if applicable.

Case No: 2024-123937-CC-05 Page 1 of 2
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DONE and ORDERED in Chambers at Miami-Dade County, Florida on this 19th day of August, 
2024.

2024-123937-CC-05 08-19-2024 9:32 AM
Hon. Michael Barket

COUNTY COURT JUDGE
Electronically Signed

 

No Further Judicial Action Required on THIS MOTION

CLERK TO RECLOSE CASE IF POST JUDGMENT

Electronically Served:
Brianna E. Donet, Brianna.Donet@miamidade.gov
Brianna Elizabeth Donet, brianna.donet@miamidade.gov
Brianna Elizabeth Donet, yohana.ramos@miamidade.gov
Geraldine T Bonzon-Keenan, Brianna.Donet@miamidade.gov
Geraldine T Bonzon-Keenan, Melanie.Spencer@miamidade.gov
Geraldine T Bonzon-Keenan, Yohana.Ramos@miamidade.gov
Hilton Napoleon II, hilton@napoleonfirm.com
Hilton Napoleon II, assistant@napoleonfirm.com
Jeffrey C Roth, jeff@rothandscholl.com
Jeffrey C Roth, christine@rothandscholl.com
Jeffrey C Roth, gail@rothandscholl.com
Melanie Joy Spencer, Melanie.Spencer@miamidade.gov
Melanie Joy Spencer, yohana.ramos@miamidade.gov

 

Physically Served:

Case No: 2024-123937-CC-05 Page 2 of 2
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IN THE COUNTY COURT IN AND FOR 
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 
CIVIL DIVISION 

 
CASE NO: 2024-123937-CC-05 

 
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,    
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
MS LEISURE COMPANY, INC., 
and All Others in Possession, 
 
  Defendant. 
________________________/ 
 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY’S MOTION FOR DEFAULT FINAL JUDGEMENT  
AND IMMEDIATE POSSESSION OF REAL PROPERTY 

 
 Pursuant to section 83.232(5), Florida Statutes, Plaintiff Miami-Dade County (the 

“County”) moves this Court for default final judgement against Defendant MS Leisure Company, 

Inc. (“MS Leisure”) and immediate possession of real property. In support, the County states as 

follows:  

BACKGROUND 

1. On October 19, 2021, the Miami-Dade County Board of County Commissioners 

approved the assignment of a written lease agreement (the “Lease”) to MS Leisure to operate the 

Miami Seaquarium on real property owned by the County (the “Premises”). The Lease in its 

entirety is attached to the Complaint as Composite Exhibit A. 

2. The Lease provides for the payment of Guaranteed Rent in the amount of $1 million 

annually, “paid in twelve (12) equal monthly installments” of $83,333.33, which “shall be made 

no later than the fifteenth day of each calendar month.” See Section 6 of the Lease, attached 

hereto as Exhibit 1 (emphasis added).  

Filing # 207235048 E-Filed 09/19/2024 10:12:51 AM
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3. On June 25, 2024, the County filed its Complaint against MS Leisure for eviction 

from and possession of the Premises following MS Leisure’s continued breach of its obligations 

under the Lease. 

4. On August 19, 2024, and on the County’s Motion for an Expedited Order Directing 

Defendant to Deposit Rent Into the Court Registry (D.E. 19), pursuant to section 83.232(1), (3), 

Florida Statutes, the Court entered an Order Directing Defendant to Deposit Rent Into the Court 

Registry (the “Order”). The Order requires MS Leisure to “[d]eposit into the Court Registry all 

future Guaranteed Rent—$83,333.33 monthly—accruing during the pendency of this action, when 

due.” D.E. 20 (emphasis added).  

5. On September 18, 2024, MS Leisure filed a purported Notice of Compliance (D.E. 

29) with the Order, attaching as support an Official Receipt of the Clerk of the Court and 

Comptroller reflecting a deposit of $84,590.83 into the Court Registry on September 17, 2024, at 

11:59 a.m. 

6. Because MS Leisure failed to deposit into the Court Registry the Guaranteed Rent 

for August 2024 when due (no later than September 15, 2024), it has failed to comply with the 

Order and the County is entitled to default final judgment against MS Leisure and immediate 

possession of the Premises pursuant to section 83.232(5), Florida Statutes. 

ARGUMENT 

Section 83.232(1), Florida Statutes, provides that, “[i]n an action by the landlord which 

includes a claim for possession of real property, the tenant shall pay into the court registry . . . any 

rent accruing during the pendency of the action, when due.” Further, “[f]ailure of the tenant to pay 

the rent into the court registry pursuant to court order shall be deemed an absolute waiver of the 

tenant’s defenses. In such case, the landlord is entitled to an immediate default for possession 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. N 0002
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without further notice or hearing thereon.” § 83.232(5), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added). “[T]he 

trial court has a ministerial duty to provide the remedies set forth in the statute.” Palm Beach 

Marketplace, LLC v. Aleyda’s Mexican Restaurante, Inc., 103 So. 3d 911, 912 (Fla. 4th DCA 

2012).  Additionally, “There is no express limitation that the claim for possession be based upon 

unpaid rent. Section 83.20(3), Florida Statutes . . . explicitly authorizes claims for possession for 

breach of a lease other than for nonpayment of rent.” Misha Enterprises v. GAR Enterprises, LLC, 

117 So. 3d 850, 853 (Fla. 4th DCA 2013).  

“Where the tenant has not paid the rent into the registry of the court in accordance with 

court order and the statute, the landlord is entitled to a writ of possession without further hearing.” 

Poal Wk Taft, LLC v. Johnson Med. Ctr. Corp., 45 So. 3d 37, 39 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010). “Although 

the result may seem harsh . . . , there is no equitable exception to the statute.” Id. “[T]rial courts 

have no discretion in entering an immediate default for possession under these circumstances. 

The trial court may not consider the reasons why the deposit was not timely made.” Park Adult 

Residential Facility, Inc. v. Dan Designs, Inc., 36 So. 3d 811, 812 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010) (emphasis 

added). See also Lazow v. Synamon Real Est., LLC, 365 So. 3d 462 (Fla. 3d DCA 2023) (“We find 

no error in the trial court’s entry of the writ of possession where the Tenant indisputably failed to 

deposit the rent into the court registry on the date ordered by the trial court.”); Fabre v. 4647 Block, 

LLC, No. 3D24-387, 2024 WL 4219455, at *4 (Fla. 3d DCA Sept. 18, 2024) (“Once [tenant] failed 

to timely pay the rent into the court registry as required by the statute and order, the trial court had 

no discretion in entering an immediate default for possession.”).  

In Park Adult, the trial court “ordered the tenant to deposit the rent into the court registry 

by November 3, 2009.” Park Adult Residential Facility, Inc., 36 So. 3d at 812. The next day, “[o]n 

November 4, 2009, the tenant attempted to deposit the ordered rent into the court registry, but the 

MDC Stay Relief, Ex. N 0003
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court clerk rejected the deposit as untimely. Subsequently, the landlord moved for an immediate 

default and writ of possession under section 83.232(5), Florida Statutes (2009).” Id. The trial court 

denied the landlord’s motion following a motion filed by the tenant for an order allowing it to 

deposit the rent, in which “the tenant claimed that it was unable to deposit the rent by November 

3, 2009, because law enforcement closed the offices of tenant’s attorneys.” Id. The Third District 

Court of Appeal reversed, holding  

the tenant failed to deposit the rent into the court registry on the date ordered. 
Regardless of the tenant’s reason for failing to make the deposit, the trial court was 

statutorily required to enter an immediate default and writ of possession. Thus, in 
accordance with the law, the trial court erred in denying the landlord’s motion for 

entry of a default and writ of possession. 
 

Id. at 813. The appellate court noted: “Although we may have ‘rachmones’ for the tenant, . . . the 

law is the law. It is not our job to carve exceptions into an otherwise clear and imperative statute.” 

Id. at 812 n.1.  

Here, MS Leisure was ordered on August 19, 2024, to “[d]eposit into the Court Registry 

all future Guaranteed Rent—$83,333.33 monthly—accruing during the pendency of this action, 

when due.” D.E. 20 (emphasis added). Pursuant to the Lease, rent payments “shall be made no 

later than the fifteenth day of each calendar month.” Section 6(A)(4) of the Lease. On September 

15, 2024, Guaranteed Rent in the amount of $83,333.33 for August 2024 accrued and became due. 

See Poal Wk Taft, LLC v. Johnson Med. Ctr. Corp., 45 So. 3d 37, 39 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010) (“Rent 

accrues on its due date.”). Because September 15, 2024, was a Sunday, MS Leisure should have 

deposited the rent into the Court Registry no later than Monday, September 16, 2024. See Fla. R. 

Jud. Admin. 2.514. However, as evidenced by the “Notice of Compliance” filed on September 18, 

2024, MS Leisure—a sophisticated corporation represented by counsel in this matter—did not 

deposit the accrued rent into the Court Registry until September 17, 2024, at 11:59 a.m. Like the 
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tenant in Park Adult, MS Leisure failed to pay rent into the Court Registry on the date ordered, 

even if by a single day. Accordingly, this Court is “statutorily required to enter an immediate 

default and writ of possession.” Park Adult Residential Facility, Inc., 36 So. 3d at 813. While the 

remedy may seem harsh, as the court found in Park Adult, the law is the law and the County is 

entitled to default final judgment and a writ of possession. 

WHEREFORE, the County respectfully requests that this Court enter an Order of default 

final judgment for eviction against MS Leisure and immediate possession by the County of the 

Premises, pursuant to section 83.232(5), Florida Statutes.  

Dated: September 19, 2024  Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
     GERALDINE BONZON-KEENAN 
     Miami-Dade County Attorney  
     Stephen P. Clark Center 
     111 NW 1st Street, Suite 2810 
     Miami, Florida 33128 

Telephone: (305) 375-5151 
        
     By:  /s/ Brianna E. Donet     
     Melanie J. Spencer  
     Assistant County Attorney 
     Florida Bar No. 0111786 

Brianna E. Donet  
Assistant County Attorney 

     Florida Bar No. 1018530 
Email:  Melanie.Spencer@miamidade.gov  
  Brianna.Donet@miamidade.gov 

 Yohana.Ramos@miamidade.gov 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy hereof has been furnished to all counsel of record by email via the 

Florida Courts E-Filing Portal on September 19, 2024.   

By:  /s/ Brianna E. Donet   
Brianna E. Donet 
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IN THE COUNTY COURT IN AND FOR 
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 
CIVIL DIVISION 

 
CASE NO: 2024-123937-CC-05 

 
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,    
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
MS LEISURE COMPANY, INC., 
and All Others in Possession, 
 
  Defendant. 
________________________/ 
 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION FOR DEFAULT 

FINAL JUDGEMENT AND IMMEDIATE POSSESSION OF REAL PROPERTY AND 
RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO MS LEISURE’S MOTION TO SET ASIDE THIS 

COURT’S AUGUST 19, 2024, ORDER DIRECTING DEFENDANT TO  
DEPOSIT RENT INTO THE COURT REGISTRY 

 
 In a desperate attempt to stave off the statutorily inevitable, Defendant MS Leisure 

Company, Inc. (“MS Leisure”) asks this Court to ignore binding precedent and grant relief that is 

contrary to law. MS Leisure’s filing evidences a misunderstanding of Florida landlord/tenant law 

and, tellingly, fails to address the Court’s lack of discretion with respect to administering section 

83.232, Florida Statutes. MS Leisure’s failure to comply with the most basic, but arguably one of 

the most important, procedures of eviction proceedings—timely placing rent into the court 

registry—should not result in this Court acting in contravention of Florida law. 

Accordingly, Plaintiff Miami-Dade County (“the County”), in support of its Motion for 

Default Final Judgment and Immediate Possession of Real Property, replies that it is entitled to 

default final judgment and a writ of possession in this action pursuant to section 83.232(5), Florida 

Statutes. Further, the County responds in opposition to MS Leisure’s motion to vacate this Court’s 

Filing # 207557002 E-Filed 09/24/2024 12:12:56 PM
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August 19, 2024, Order requiring the placement of rent into the Court Registry (the “Order”). As 

grounds the County states: 

ARGUMENT 

I. MS Leisure’s Due Process Rights Have Not Been Violated. 

For many reasons, MS Leisure’s assertion that its due process rights were violated is 

unfounded. Accordingly, the Order should stand, and the Court should, pursuant to section 83.232, 

Florida Statutes, immediately enter default final judgment and a writ of possession for the County 

following MS Leisure’s failure to comply with the Order and Florida law.  

a. The County’s Motions Seek Only the Administration of Section 83.232, Florida 
Statutes, Which Provides for Relief Without Notice or Hearing. 
 

 The County’s Motion for an Expedited Order Directing Defendant to Deposit Rent Into the 

Court Registry, as well as its Motion for Default Final Judgment and Immediate Possession of 

Real Property, simply ask the Court to administer one law—section 83.232, Florida Statutes. That 

statute explicitly provides for the County’s requested relief without further notice or hearing.  

Section 83.232, Florida Statutes, provides in relevant part that, “[i]n an action by the 

landlord which includes a claim for possession of real property, the tenant shall pay into the court 

registry . . . any rent accruing during the pendency of the action, when due.” § 83.232(1), Fla. Stat. 

(emphasis added). “There is no express limitation that the claim for possession be based upon 

unpaid rent. Section 83.20(3), Florida Statutes . . . explicitly authorizes claims for possession for 

breach of a lease other than for nonpayment of rent.” Misha Enterprises v. GAR Enterprises, LLC, 

117 So. 3d 850, 853 (Fla. 4th DCA 2013). Further, “[t]he court, on its own motion, shall notify 

the tenant of the requirement that rent be paid into the court registry by order, which shall be issued 

immediately upon filing of the tenant’s initial pleading, motion, or other paper.” § 83.232(3), Fla. 

Stat. (emphasis added). Finally, “[f]ailure of the tenant to pay the rent into the court registry 
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pursuant to court order shall be deemed an absolute waiver of the tenant’s defenses. In such case, 

the landlord is entitled to an immediate default for possession without further notice or 

hearing thereon.” § 83.232(5), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added). The County’s Motion for an 

Expedited Order Directing Defendant to Deposit Rent Into the Court Registry asked the Court to 

administer section 83.232(1), (3), Florida Statutes, and the Motion for Default Final Judgment and 

Immediate Possession of Real Property asks the Court to administer section 83.232(5), Florida 

Statutes. Importantly, the Order tracks the exact language of the statute, including the phrase 

“when due.”  

MS Leisure’s rights were not violated as a result of either motion, or the relief granted or 

due to be granted pursuant to the statute. The County’s Motion for an Expedited Order Directing 

Defendant to Deposit Rent Into the Court Registry simply asked the Court to enter an order the 

Court was required to enter by statute. § 83.232(3), Fla. Stat. Similarly, the Motion for Default 

Final Judgment and Immediate Possession of Real Property asks the Court for relief it has no 

discretion but to grant, “without further notice or hearing thereon.” § 83.232(5), Fla. Stat. See also 

Park Adult Residential Facility, Inc. v. Dan Designs, Inc., 36 So. 3d 811, 812 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010) 

(“[T]rial courts have no discretion in entering an immediate default for possession under these 

circumstances. The trial court may not consider the reasons why the deposit was not timely made.”) 

(emphasis added); Fabre v. 4647 Block, LLC, No. 3D24-387, 2024 WL 4219455, at *4 (Fla. 3d 

DCA Sept. 18, 2024) (“Once [tenant] failed to timely pay the rent into the court registry as required 

by the statute and order, the trial court had no discretion in entering an immediate default for 

possession.”) (emphasis added). 

While MS Leisure cites to caselaw related to due process and the opportunity to be heard, 

none of these cases involve landlord/tenant issues or section 83.232, Florida Statutes. It is not 
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enough to allege generally that MS Leisure has a right to notice and opportunity to be heard when 

the statute at issue explicitly states that notice is not required. The caselaw cited by MS Leisure to 

support its assertion that it was somehow improper for this Court to enter a statutorily required 

order because the order was proposed by the County is similarly inapplicable. MS Leisure does 

not cite to a single case analyzing section 83.232, Florida Statutes, or a similar statute. Instead, the 

cases involve final judgments in foreclosure, attorneys’ fees, insurance offsets without an 

evidentiary hearing, an order related to a family law final settlement agreement, and child support. 

Not a single case involves the statutorily required order on court registry deposits in a 

landlord/tenant dispute. 

Instead of accepting its failure to comply with the Order and Florida Statutes, MS Leisure 

suggests the Court has somehow failed to follow the law in the face of its caseload. This is insulting 

at worst and inaccurate at best. The Court entered the Order in accordance with established law 

and precedent, and it is instead the relief that MS Leisure seeks that would be contrary to the plain 

language of the statute and binding caselaw. 

b. The County Was Not Required to Confer with MS Leisure Before Filing Its Motions 
or Submitting Proposed Orders Granting Those Motions.  
 

MS Leisure’s gripes about the County’s failure to confer before submitting proposed orders 

granting the County’s requested relief under section 83.232, Florida Statutes, are baseless. MS 

Leisure has not cited a single rule or case requiring a party to confer on the contents of a proposed 

order granting the party’s own motion. Additionally, “the trial court has a ministerial duty to 

provide the remedies set forth in [section 83.232, Florida Statutes].” Palm Beach Marketplace, 

LLC v. Aleyda’s Mexican Restaurante, Inc., 103 So. 3d 911, 912 (Fla. 4th DCA 2012). The 

County’s motions raised no issues for the parties to resolve. The statute requires the tenant’s 

payment of rent into the court registry when due, pursuant to an order the court must issue. If the 
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tenant fails to comply, the court must enter default final judgment in favor of the landlord. The 

proposed order was limited to the language of the statute, and there was no duty to confer.  

c. MS Leisure’s Objections to the Order Are Groundless. 

To the extent MS Leisure objected to the entry of the Order requiring rent to be deposited 

into the Court Registry, MS Leisure had ample opportunity to raise the objections but failed to do 

so. Instead, MS Leisure’s actions demonstrate its knowledge that the Order is legal and 

enforceable. On Friday, August 16, 2024, the County filed a Motion for an Expedited Order 

Directing Defendant to Deposit Rent Into the Court Registry. This motion asked the Court, 

pursuant to section 83.232(1), (3), Florida Statutes, to enter an order “directing MS Leisure to (1) 

deposit the accrued, undisputed Guaranteed Rent in the amount of $166,666.66 into the Court 

Registry, and file a Notice of Compliance, by 5:00 p.m. EST on Monday, August 19, 2024, and 

(2) deposit into the Court Registry all future Guaranteed Rent accruing during the pendency of this 

action, when due.” D.E. 19 (emphasis added). That same day, the County submitted a proposed 

order granting the motion. On Monday, August 19, 2024, the Court entered the Order Directing 

Defendant to Deposit Rent Into the Court Registry. However, instead of granting the County’s 

request that the accrued rent be deposited by close of business on Monday, August 19, 2024, the 

Court adjusted the proposed order and gave MS Leisure until 5 p.m. on Wednesday, August 21, 

2024, to comply with the Order. D.E. 20.  

MS Leisure knew the County’s motion, filed on a Friday, asked for expedited relief by the 

following Monday. To the extent MS Leisure opposed the motion, it should have immediately 

responded in opposition or, at a minimum, submitted a competing proposed order. MS Leisure 

took neither action. Instead, MS Leisure (1) made the payment due on August 21 without issue; 

(2) attended a case status conference the week after the Order was entered and made no objection 
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to or mention of the Order at any point; and (3) made a second payment into the Court Registry in 

a failed attempt to comply with the Order. There is only one logical explanation for MS Leisure’s 

failure to object to the Order until now—MS Leisure knows the Order is proper under law. It is 

only because MS Leisure has now failed to comply with the Order that it raises objections to its 

entry and wishes that the Order somehow said something different, likely something that is not 

allowed under law.    

Along these lines, MS Leisure’s objections to the contents of the Order are without merit. 

The Order requires MS Leisure to “[d]eposit into the Court Registry all future Guaranteed Rent—

$83,333.33 monthly—accruing during the pendency of this action, when due.” D.E. 20. For the 

first time in its September 19, 2024 filing, MS Leisure argues the phrase “when due” is vague. In 

addition, MS Leisure argues that, “because the lease agreement has a built-in grace period for MS 

Leisure to pay rent and, during the course of the lease, the County has always afforded MS Leisure 

a reasonable grace period to pay rent,” the Order should have clarified that rent was due to be 

deposited into the Court Registry “on the 15th day of the month, without giving MS Leisure the 

customary grace period.” D.E. 31 at ¶¶ 21, 23.  

Florida courts have already considered and rejected this argument. See, e.g., Palm Beach 

Marketplace, LLC v. Aleyda’s Mexican Restaurante, Inc., 103 So. 3d 911, 912 (Fla. 4th DCA 

2012) (“We recognize the tenant’s dispute about when the rental payment was due; however, the 

landlord pointed to the terms of the lease which provide for payment to be made on the first of the 

month despite any course of conduct to the contrary.”). The Lease is unambiguous as to the 

meaning of “when due.” Section 6, governing rent calculation and payment, states that payments 

“shall be made no later than the fifteenth day of each calendar month.” See Section 6(A)(4) of the 

Lease. Further, MS Leisure does not cite to any provision of the Lease containing a “built-in grace 
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period” for the payment of rent, and even if the County previously accepted rental payments after 

the due date during a time prior to Lease termination, this conduct does not allow MS Leisure to 

ignore the Court’s Order. Palm Beach Marketplace, 103 So. 3d at 912.  

In fact, MS Leisure’s own filing demonstrates its understanding of the meaning of the term 

“when due.” MS Leisure admits in its Response in Opposition to the County’s Motion for Default 

that “September 15, 2024 falls on a Sunday, so the rent is due by the next business day, September 

16, 2024. The rent was deposited one day past the deadline because of a delay in the clearance 

of funds through our trust account, thereby necessitating the deposit first thing in the morning.” 

D.E. 31 at ¶ 19 n.2 (emphasis added). MS Leisure knew exactly when the rent was due and admits 

that it was deposited into the Court Registry past the deadline—not first thing in the morning as 

MS Leisure alleges, but at 11:59 a.m. on September 17, 2024. Accordingly, MS Leisure’s 

argument that the term “when due” is vague is contradicted by its own actions and admissions.  

MS Leisure further argues the Order should be vacated because it is a “verbatim” adoption 

of the proposed order submitted by the County granting its Motion for an Expedited Order 

Directing Defendant to Deposit Rent Into the Court Registry. This contention is patently false. On 

Monday, August 19, 2024, the Court entered the Order Directing Defendant to Deposit Rent Into 

the Court Registry. However, instead of granting the County’s request that the accrued rent be 

deposited by close of business on Monday, August 19, 2024, the Court gave MS Leisure until 5 

p.m. on Wednesday, August 21, 2024, to comply with the Order. D.E. 20. In other words, despite 

the Court’s heavy caseload as mentioned by MS Leisure, the Court took the time to review the 

County’s proposed order and make the changes it thought fair and necessary. Accordingly, the 

Order is not a “verbatim” adoption of the County’s proposed order, and it became a valid order 

upon this Court’s signature and concurrent filing with the clerk.   
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CONCLUSION 

The facts could not be any clearer. MS Leisure was obligated to deposit rent into the Court 

Registry by September 15, MS Leisure admits that it knew the deadline was September 15, and 

MS Leisure failed to deposit the rent by September 15. MS Leisure is now trying to remedy its 

mistake (albeit one with grave consequences) by claiming that somehow this Court acted 

improperly. But the Court has at all times acted in accordance with the law, and MS Leisure has 

not been deprived of any rights.  

WHEREFORE, the County respectfully requests that this Court grant its Motion for 

Default Final Judgment and Immediate Possession of Real Property, and deny MS Leisure’s 

motion to vacate this Court’s August 19, 2024, Order requiring the placement of rent into the Court 

Registry.  

 

Dated: September 24, 2024  Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
     GERALDINE BONZON-KEENAN 
     Miami-Dade County Attorney  
     Stephen P. Clark Center 
     111 NW 1st Street, Suite 2810 
     Miami, Florida 33128 

Telephone: (305) 375-5151 
        
     By:  /s/ Brianna E. Donet     
     Melanie J. Spencer  
     Assistant County Attorney 
     Florida Bar No. 0111786 

Brianna E. Donet  
Assistant County Attorney 

     Florida Bar No. 1018530 
Email:  Melanie.Spencer@miamidade.gov  
  Brianna.Donet@miamidade.gov 

 Yohana.Ramos@miamidade.gov 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy hereof has been furnished to all counsel of record by email via the 

Florida Courts E-Filing Portal on September 24, 2024.   

By:  /s/ Brianna E. Donet   
Brianna E. Donet 
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Office of the Miami-Dade County Attorney 

www.miamidade.gov/attorney

IN THE COUNTY COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, 

 Plaintiff, 

v. 

MS LEISURE COMPANY, INC., 

 Defendant. 

Case No.: 24-123937 CC 05 

 NOTICE OF APPEAL OF NON-FINAL ORDER 

NOTICE IS GIVEN that Miami-Dade County, Plaintiff/Appellant, by and 

through undersigned counsel, pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 

9.130, hereby appeals to the Third District Court of Appeal the order of this Court 

rendered October 8, 2024 (attached as Exhibit “A”) denying Miami-Dade County’s 

Motion for Default Final Judgment and Immediate Possession of Real Property. 

Although the order is non-final in nature, it is appealable pursuant to Florida 

Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.130(a)(3)(c)(ii). 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that the foregoing document has been emailed to all parties of 

record on October 11, 2024 to the email address(es) each has registered with 

the Florida Courts E-Filing Portal. 

Respectfully submitted, 

GERALDINE BONZON-KEENAN 
Miami-Dade County Attorney 

Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant, Miami-
Dade County 
Stephen P. Clark Center, Suite 2800 

111 Northwest First Street  
Miami, Florida 33128-1993 

By:  /s/ Melanie J. Spencer 
Melanie J. Spencer  

Assistant County Attorney 
Florida Bar No. 0111786 

Brianna E. Donet  
Assistant County Attorney 

Florida Bar No. 1018530 
Email: Melanie.Spencer@miamidade.gov 

 Brianna.Donet@miamidade.gov 

 Yohana.Ramos@miamidade.gov 
Telephone: (305) 375-5151
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IN THE COUNTY COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL
CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

CASE NO: 2024-123937-CC-05
SECTION: CC01
JUDGE: Michael Barket

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

Plaintiff(s) / Petitioner(s)

vs.

MS LEISURE COMPANY, INC.,

Defendant(s) / Respondent(s)
____________________________/

ORDER ON MOTION FOR DEFAULT FINAL JUDGEMENT

Docket Index Number: _____________ 
Or 
Efiling Number: _____________ Date Filed: _____________ 
Full Name of Motion: _____________

THIS CAUSE having come to the Court on the 2nd day of October 2024 and the Plaintiff Motion 
for Default Final Judgment and the Court having read the motion, the response, reviewed the 
docket and file and listened to argument of counsel and otherwise being fully advised it is:

ORDERED and ADJUDGED:

1.    Motion is DENIED.

DONE and ORDERED in Chambers at Miami-Dade County, Florida on this 8th day of October, 
2024.

2024-123937-CC-05 10-08-2024 9:37 AM
Hon. Michael Barket

COUNTY COURT JUDGE
Electronically Signed

Case No: 2024-123937-CC-05 Page 1 of 2

Filing # 208444793 E-Filed 10/08/2024 09:43:39 AM
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No Further Judicial Action Required on THIS MOTION

CLERK TO RECLOSE CASE IF POST JUDGMENT

Electronically Served:
Brianna E. Donet, Brianna.Donet@miamidade.gov
Brianna Elizabeth Donet, brianna.donet@miamidade.gov
Brianna Elizabeth Donet, yohana.ramos@miamidade.gov
Chelsea Roth Sirkman, Chelsea@rothandscholl.com
Geraldine T Bonzon-Keenan, Brianna.Donet@miamidade.gov
Geraldine T Bonzon-Keenan, Melanie.Spencer@miamidade.gov
Geraldine T Bonzon-Keenan, Yohana.Ramos@miamidade.gov
Hilton Napoleon II, hilton@napoleonfirm.com
Hilton Napoleon II, assistant@napoleonfirm.com
Jeffrey C Roth, jeff@rothandscholl.com
Jeffrey C Roth, christine@rothandscholl.com
Jeffrey C Roth, gail@rothandscholl.com
Melanie Joy Spencer, Melanie.Spencer@miamidade.gov
Melanie Joy Spencer, yohana.ramos@miamidade.gov

Physically Served:
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Florida Appellate Case Information System

Case View Miami-Dade County v. MS Leisure Company, Inc.

Verified Party󰕥

3RD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
Miami-Dade County,

Appellant(s),

v.

MS Leisure Company, Inc.,

Appellee(s).

CASE NUMBER
3D2024-1806

CLASSIFICATION NOA Non Final - County Civil - Landlord/Tenant/Eviction (Commercial)

DOCKET DATE 10/14/2024

ORIGINATING COURT County Court for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Miami-Dade County
24-123937-CC-05

OPEN / CLOSED Open

STATUS DATE 10/11/2024

PARTIES
Shows the first few parties on the case.

Miami-Dade County
APPELLANT

Melanie Joy Spencer
REPRESENTATION

MS Leisure Company, Inc.
APPELLEE

Jeffrey C Roth
REPRESENTATION

ORAL ARGUMENTS

No future oral arguments were found.

DOCKET ENTRIES
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Docket
Date

Type Subtype Description
On Behalf
Of

View

05/14/2025 Notice
Suggestion of
Bankruptcy

Suggestion of Bankruptcy

MS
Leisure
Company,
Inc.

03/11/2025 Order
Order on Motion to
Stay

Appellant's Motion to Stay
Proceedings is granted, and the
appellate proceedings are hereby
temporarily stayed for a period of
ninety (90) days from the date of this
Order.

03/10/2025 Response Response
Appellant's Response to Appellee's
Motion to Stay Proceedings

Miami-
Dade
County

03/10/2025 Order
Order to File
Response

The Appellant shall file a response to
the Motion to Stay Proceedings, filed
March 7, 2025, within seven (7) days
from the date of this Order.

03/10/2025
Motions
Relating to Oral
Argument

Motion/Request for
Oral Argument

Motion/Request for Oral Argument

MS
Leisure
Company,
Inc.

03/10/2025 Brief Answer Brief Answer Brief

MS
Leisure
Company,
Inc.

03/10/2025 Record Appendix Supplemental Appendix

MS
Leisure
Company,
Inc.

03/07/2025 Motions Other Motion To Stay Motion To Stay Proceedings

MS
Leisure
Company,
Inc.

02/06/2025 Notice Notice Notice of Clarification
Miami-
Dade
County
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󰈔

󰈔
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󰈔
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Docket
Date

Type Subtype Description
On Behalf
Of

View

02/06/2025
Motions
Extensions

Motion for
Extension of Time
to Serve Answer
Brief

Appellee's Agreed Motion for 30-day
Extension of Time to Serve Answer
Brief-03/10/2025 Granted

MS
Leisure
Company,
Inc.

02/03/2025 Order
Order of Referral to
Mediation

Appellant's Response in Opposition to
Motion for Court Ordered Mediation is
noted. Upon consideration, Appellee's
Motion for Court Ordered Appellate
Mediation filed on January 30, 2025,
is hereby denied.

02/03/2025 Response Response
Response in Opposition to Motion for
Court-Ordered Mediation

Miami-
Dade
County

01/31/2025 Motions Other Motion
Motion for Court Ordered Appellate
Mediation

MS
Leisure
Company,
Inc.

01/06/2025
Motions
Extensions

Motion for
Extension of Time
to Serve Answer
Brief

Appellee's Motion for Extension of
Time to Serve Answer Brief-30 days to
02/10/2025 Granted

MS
Leisure
Company,
Inc.

12/30/2024 Order
Order on Motion to
Consolidate

Upon consideration of the Motion to
Consolidate Appeals and noting that
consolidation is sought with case no.
3D24-2009, which has been
dismissed as an appeal taken from a
non-final, non-appealable order, the
Motion to consolidate is denied.

12/19/2024 Motions Other
Motion To
Consolidate

Motion To Consolidate

MS
Leisure
Company,
Inc.

12/13/2024
Motions
Extensions

Motion for
Extension of Time
to Serve Answer
Brief

Motion for Extension of Time to Serve
Answer Brief-30 days to 01/09/2025
Granted

MS
Leisure
Company,
Inc.

12/10/2024 Order Order to Serve Brief The appellee is directed to file an
answer brief in this cause within ten
(10) days from the date of this Order
or be precluded from filing a brief
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Docket
Date

Type Subtype Description
On Behalf
Of

View

and/or presenting an oral argument to
the Court in this cause. See Fla. R.
App. P. 9.410.

11/01/2024 Record Appendix Appendix
Miami-
Dade
County

11/01/2024 Brief Initial Brief Initial Brief
Miami-
Dade
County

10/15/2024 Notice Notice of Filing Notice of Filing-Certificate of service.
Miami-
Dade
County

10/15/2024 Event Fee Satisfied Fee Satisfied

10/15/2024
Miscellaneous
Document

Pay Case Filing
Fee-300

Case Filing Fee $300 paid through the
portal. Batch # 12773310

Miami-
Dade
County

10/14/2024 Order
Certificate of
Service

All pleadings filed in this Court must
be served on each party and contain a
Certificate of Service stating the
names and addresses of those
served. See Fla. R. App. P. 9.420.
Within ten (10) days from the date of
this Order, the appellant is directed to
file with this Court a Certificate of
Service indicating addresses of all
parties in this appeal.

10/14/2024 Order Order on Filing Fee

This is to notify counsel for appellant
that the filing and prosecution of a
notice of appeal in this Court is not
acceptable without compliance with
the Florida Rules of Appellate
Procedure. Therefore, this appeal will
be dismissed unless the required
three hundred dollar ($300.00) fee is
paid to the Clerk of the Court on or
before October 24, 2024.

10/14/2024 Letter
Acknowledgment
Letter

Acknowledgment of a New Case
Letter. The 3DCA $300 filing fee for a
notice of appeal is due.
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Docket
Date

Type Subtype Description
On Behalf
Of

View

10/14/2024 Notice
Notice of Appeal
Transmittal Form

Notice of Appeal Transmittal Form
Clerk,
Miami-
Dade

10/14/2024 Notice Notice of Appeal
Notice of Appeal for 3D2024-1806.
Incomplete certificate of service in
NOA.

Miami-
Dade
County

1 to 28 of 28

PARTIES

Role Name Status Representation

Appellant Miami-Dade County Active
Spencer, Melanie Joy
Donet, Brianna Elizabeth

Appellee MS Leisure Company, Inc. Active
Roth, Jeffrey C
Napoleon, Hilton, II

Judge/Judicial Officer Barket, Michael G., Hon. Active

Lower Tribunal Clerk Clerk, Miami-Dade Active

1 to 4 of 4

ORAL ARGUMENTS

Oral Argument Date Location / Room Type Status Video Streaming Link

No records were found.

No records were found.
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IN THE COUNTY COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 
CIVIL DIVISION 

 
CASE NO. 2024-123937-CC-05 

 
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,      
 
  Plaintiffs,          
 
v. 
 
MS LEISURE CORPORATION, 
 
  Defendant. 
       / 
 
RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO MIAMI-DADE COUNTY’S MOTION FOR DEFAULT 

JUDGMENT AND IMMEDIATE POSSESSION OF REAL PROPERTY, AND MS 
LEISURE’S MOTION TO SET ASIDE THIS COURT’S AUGUST 19, 2024, PROPOSED 
ORDER DIRECTING DEFENDANT TO DEPOSIT RENT INTO THE COURT REGISTRY  

 
 Defendant MS Leisure Corporation (“MS Leisure”) files this Response in Opposition to 

Miami-Dade County’s (the “County”) Motion for Default Judgment and Immediate Possession of 

Real Property, [D.E. 30], and also moves to set aside this Court’s August 19, 2024, Proposed 

Order Directing Defendant to Deposit Rent into the Registry of the Court, [D.E. 20].  In support 

thereof, MS Leisure states the following:  

INTRODUCTION 

MS Leisure operates a marine life park known as the Miami Seaquarium, which is located 

on County land.  The Seaquarium has continuously operated since 1955 and is home to over 1,000 

animals, mammals, birds, fish, and invertebrates.  Many species at the Seaquarium are regulated 

by federal statutes, including the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”), 16 U.S.C. § 1538-1544, and 

the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (“MBTA”), 16 U.S.C. § 703-712.  Under both federal statutes, it is 

illegal for any person or entity, including the County, to “take, possess, sell, deliver, carry, 
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transport or ship” endangered or threatened animals without first obtaining a permit and license.  

Currently, MS Leisure is the only entity licensed by the USDA or any other federal or state agency 

to care for the endangered or threatened species at the Seaquarium.  Therefore, it would be a federal 

violation for the County to take possession of the species.     

Additionally, MS Leisure has over 20 years remaining on its lease.  In the last two years, 

MS Leisure has invested over $2,000,000.00 in caring for and maintaining the animals, invested 

over $1,000,000.00 in capital improvements to the Seaquarium’s crumbling infrastructure, and 

made over $2,500,000.00 in lease payments. 

Nevertheless, the County seeks to immediately remove MS Leisure for allegedly paying 

rent one day late into the Court Registry.  The rent has been deposited and there is no harm or 

prejudice to the County.  The Court should not take such a draconian measure as a default judgment 

of eviction, especially since MS Leisure has substantial defenses and the parties are scheduled for 

mediation before Judge Hanzman on October 21, 2024. 

Not only is the County’s position draconian and unjust, but the County does not have any 

legally cognizable plan or ability to care for the animals, mammals and invertebrates.1  Allowing 

the County to eject MS Leisure from the premises, without a plan, is extremely dangerous and life-

threatening to the wildlife at the Seaquarium.   

Perhaps most importantly to the issues here, MS Leisure was not afforded the opportunity 

to be heard on the County’s motion to deposit rent into the Court Registry, nor was it provide the 

 
1 The County consistently implies that Zoo Miami could care for the Seaquarium’s wildlife – but 
such innuendo could not be further from the truth.  The Seaquarium houses unique sea creatures, 
including dolphins, sea lions, sharks, stingrays, pinguins, walrus, and seals.  They require 
specific diets, training, exercise, and socialization.   Conversely, Zoo Miami’s most complex sea 
creature is a sea otter.  The level of care for sea creatures at the two facilities is incomparable.  
Simply put, Zoo Miami does not have the expertise, staff, or budget to care for the sea creatures 
at the Seaquarium.   
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opportunity to comment on the County’s proposed order, which the Court adopted verbatim on 

August 19, 2024.   Accordingly, MS Leisure’s due process rights were violated and the County’s 

motion must be denied.    

RELEVANT FACTS 

1. In March 2022, MS Leisure took over a lease agreement to operate the Seaquarium, 

which terminates on November 26, 2044.   

2. Under the lease agreement, MS Leisure is required to pay the County $1,000,000.00 

per year in Guaranteed Rent in monthly installments of $83,333.33, unless MS Leisure’s Gross 

Revenues fall below $7,500,000.00.  In such a scenario, MS Leisure’s annual rent obligation 

decreases to $750,000.00.  

3. Unfortunately, in December 2023, MS Leisure’s relationship with the County 

soured after MS Leisure responded to an insulting email sent by a high-ranking county official.   

4. The day after the email, the County weaponized its code enforcement staff and 

issued MS Leisure over 40 code violations for issues that predated MS Leisure’s lease agreement.    

5. On March 7, 2024, the County sent MS Leisure a letter entitled Notice of 

Termination of Lease Agreement, demanding that MS Leisure surrender possession of the 

Seaquarium to the County no later than Sunday, April 21, 2024.   

6. Additionally, the County provided its Notice of Termination of Lease to every local 

media outlet, which reported that the Seaquarium was closing.   

7. Not surprisingly, the County’s media assault severely damaged MS Leisure’s 

reputation and gross revenue.   
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8. On June 25, 2024, the County filed a 30-page eviction complaint, alleging that MS 

Leisure breached the contract by accumulating over 80 “violations” of USDA rules and the County 

Code.  

9. Important here, the County’s eviction complaint is void of allegations that MS 

Leisure failed to pay rent.    

10. Therefore, when the County filed this lawsuit, the Court did not initially issue an 

Order directing MS Leisure to deposit rent payments into the Court’s Registry.   

11. On Friday, August 16, 2024, the County filed a Motion for an Expedited Order 

Directing [MS Leisure] to Deposit Rent into the Court Registry.  See [D.E. 19].   

12. The County’s motion also included a proposed order, which was solely prepared 

by the County.  [D.E. 19, pg. 14].   

13. Before filing the motion, the County failed to confer with MS Leisure and made no 

attempt to resolve the issues beforehand.   

14. Also of great importance, the County did not seek any input from MS Leisure 

regarding the language in the proposed order before uploading it onto CourtMap.   

15. On Monday, August 19, 2024, at 9:44 a.m., less than one working day after the 

County filed its motion, the Court, faced with the gargantuan task of managing over 6,500 cases, 

signed the exact version of the proposed order submitted by the County without setting the matter 

for hearing.   

16. Accordingly, MS Leisure had neither a reasonable opportunity to be heard on the 

County’s motion, nor any opportunity to provide input on the proposed order.  

17. In fact, the version signed by the Court reads “Proposed Order,” instead of “Order.”   
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18. A review of the “Proposed Order” attached to the County’s motion and the 

“Proposed Order” entered by the Court clearly shows that they are the exact same documents.  

19. The Court signed the “Proposed Order,” which states: “MS Leisure shall (1) 

Deposit the accrued Guaranteed Rent in the Amount of $166,666.66 into the Court’s Registry … 

by 5:00 p.m. EST on Wednesday, August 21, 20224; and (2) Deposit into the Court Registry all 

future Guaranteed Rent –  $83,333.33 monthly – accruing during the pendency of the action, when 

due.”2   

20. Unlike the specific date to deposit $166,666.66, i.e. August 21, 2024, the Proposed 

Order only directed MS Leisure to deposit all future rent “when due.”    

21. This omission is important because the lease agreement has a built-in grace period 

for MS Leisure to pay rent and, during the course of the lease, the County has always afforded MS 

Leisure a reasonable grace period to pay rent.   

22. Had MS Leisure been heard on the motion, or consulted on the language in the 

proposed order, any agreed upon order would have undoubtedly read differently. 

23. At a minimum, if the County was dead set on receiving payments on the 15th day 

of the month, without giving MS Leisure the customary grace period, then MS Leisure would have   

insisted that the proposed order clarify such fact.   

24. However, MS Leisure was never afforded notice of hearing or an opportunity to be 

heard, which violated due process.  Accordingly, the Court must vacate its August 19, 2024, 

 
2 September 15, 2024 falls on a Sunday, so the rent is due by the next business day, September 
16, 2024. The rent was deposited one day past the deadline because of a delay in the clearance of 
funds through our trust account, thereby necessitating the deposit first thing in the morning on 
September 17, 2024. 
2.  
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Proposed Order and give MS Leisure a reasonable opportunity to be heard on the County’s August 

16th motion.  

ARGUMENT 

 “Due process requires that a party receive notice and an opportunity to be heard prior to 

entry of an order that affects her interests.”  Wells v. Wells, 779 So. 2d 540, 540 (Fla. 2d DCA 

2000)(emphasis added)(“entry of an order… without any notice … departed from the essential 

requirements of the law.”).  General principles of due process prohibit entry of an order affecting 

the parties’ legal rights before the parties have been given a full opportunity to litigate all factual 

and legal issues pertaining to those rights.  State, Dep't of Fin. Servs. v. Branch Banking & Tr. Co., 

40 So. 3d 829, 833 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010)(emphasis added)(internal citations omitted). 

Court orders issued without notice to the parties and an opportunity to be heard violate due 

process.  U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. Proenza, 157 So.3d 1075, 1076 (Fla. 3d DCA 2015). If a party’s 

due process rights are violated, the underlying order is void.  Bank of Am., N.A. v. Fogel, 192 So. 

3d 573, 575 (Fla. 4th DCA 2016)(citing Proenza, 157 So.3d 1076).  In fact, the Third DCA “has 

repeatedly held that an [order] entered without notice to a party is void ab initio.”  See State, Dep't 

of Revenue ex rel. Prinzee v. Thurmond, 721 So.2d 827, 828 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).  U.S. Bank Nat. 

Ass'n v. Proenza, 157 So. 3d 1075, 1076 (Fla. 3d DCA 2015).   

Trial courts also depart from the essential requirements of law by adopting verbatim draft 

orders prepared by one party without first allowing the opposing party to have an opportunity to 

respond.  Just. Admin. Comm'n v. Taylor, 50 So. 3d 753, 754 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010).  “When due 

process is denied, fundamental error occurs.” Dep't of Children & Families v. T.S., 154 So.3d 

1223, 1226 (Fla. 4th DCA 2015).   
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 Here, with all due respect to this Court’s gargantuan case load, MS Leisure’s due process 

rights were violated.  On Friday, August 16, 2024, the County filed a Motion for an Expedited 

Order Directing [MS Leisure] to Deposit Rent into the Court Registry, which included a proposed 

order prepared solely by the County.  The County failed to confer with MS Leisure and did not 

seek any input from MS Leisure regarding the language in the proposed order before uploading it 

onto CourtMap.  

On Monday, August 19, 2024, at 9:44 a.m., less than one working day after the County 

filed its motion, the Court signed the verbatim draft order prepared by the County.  The Court 

entered the County’s proposed order without setting the matter for hearing.  MS Leisure neither 

had a reasonable opportunity to be heard on the County’s motion, nor any opportunity to provide 

input on the proposed order.  

Had MS Leisure had an opportunity to be heard on the County’s motion, or been consulted 

on the language in the proposed order, any agreed upon order would have undoubtedly been 

different.  At a minimum, if the County was dead set on receiving payments on the 15th day of 

each month, without giving MS Leisure the customary grace period, then MS Leisure would have 

insisted that any proposed order use precise dates to pay into the Court Registry instead of using 

vague language, such as “when due.”  Furthermore, MS Leisure may have argued for a reduction 

in rent due to the County’s refusal to issue permits on the property and the drastic decrease in 

revenue, which is directly attributed to the County’s public remarks suggesting that the 

Seaquarium is closed.     

MS Leisure never had the opportunity to do so, however, because the Court entered the 

order.  The failure to provide MS Leisure with notice and an opportunity to be heard on the 

County’s motion is a due process violation in-and-of-itself.  U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. Proenza, 157 
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So.3d 1075, 1076 (Fla. 3d DCA 2015); State, Dep't of Fin. Servs. v. Branch Banking & Tr. Co., 

40 So. 3d 829, 833 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010); Wells v. Wells, 779 So. 2d 540, 540 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000).  

Error was compound when the Court entered a verbatim order drafted solely by the County.   See 

Just. Admin. Comm'n v. Taylor, 50 So. 3d 753, 754 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010).  Both instances violated 

due process.  As such, the Court must vacate is August 19, 2024, order and “properly notice a 

hearing on the [County’s] motion with sufficient time for the [MS Leisure] to have a meaningful 

opportunity to be heard” on the terms and conditions of depositing funds into the Court Registry.  

Bank of Am., N.A. v. Fogel, 192 So. 3d 573, 576 (Fla. 4th DCA 2016); See State, Dep't of Revenue 

ex rel. Prinzee v. Thurmond, 721 So.2d 827, 828 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).   

CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, Defendant, MS Leisure respectfully requests that this Honorable Court 

enter an Order DENYING the County’s Motion for Default Judgment and Immediate Possession 

of Real Property, [D.E. 30], vacate its August 19, 2024, Proposed Order Directing Defendant to 

Deposit Rent into the Registry of the Court, and set this matter for hearing to give both sides a 

reasonable opportunity to be heard on the terms and conditions that rent payments will be deposited 

into the Court Registry.  

               Respectfully submitted, 

Hilton Napoleon, II, Esq., FBN 17593 
Hilton Napoleon, II, P.A.  
237 South Dixie Hwy., 4th Floor 
Coral Gables, Florida 33133 
Telephone: 305-510-7106 
hilton@napoleonfirm.com 
assistant@napoleonfirm.com  
 
Counsel for the Defendant, MS Leisure Corp. 
 
By: /s/ Hilton Napoleon, II   

                      Hilton Napoleon, II      
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ROTH & SCHOLL 
Attorneys for Defendant  
866 South Dixie Highway 
Coral Gables, Florida 33146 
Telephone: 305-662-4141 
Fax: 305-662-3816 
Primary Email: jeff@rothandscholl.com  
Secondary: christine@rothandscholl.com 
Secondary: chelsea@rothandscholl.com  
Secondary: gail@rothandscholl.com  
 
BY: /s/ Jeffrey C. Roth    

JEFFREY C. ROTH 
Fla. Bar No. 331562 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing has been filed on the 

clerk’s e-portal system and furnished via email on this 19th day of September 2024 to: Melanie 

Spencer, Esq, melanie.spencer@miamidade.gov; Andrea Gonzalez Mateo, Esq.  

andrea.gonzalezmateo@miamidade.gov; and Tricia-Gaye Cotterell, Esq. tricia-

gaye.cotterell@miamidade.gov.  

By: /s/ Hilton Napoleon, II   
                      Hilton Napoleon, II     
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IN THE COUNTY COURT IN AND FOR  
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

  
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CASE NO.  2024-123937-CC-05 (01) 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
-vs- 
 
MS LEISURE COMPANY, INC., 
 

Defendant. 
____________________________/ 
 

DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF COMPLIANCE WITH ORDER DIRECTING DEFENDANT TO 
DEPOSIT RENT INTO THE COURT REGISTRY 

 
PLEASE TAKE that the Defendant MS LEISURE COMPANY, INC. (“MS”), by and through 

its undersigned counsel, hereby files the court registry receipt reflecting compliance with 

paragraph 2 of the Order Directing Defendant to Deposit Rent Into the Court Registry entered on 

August 19, 2024. 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on September 18, 2024, I electronically filed the foregoing 
document with the Clerk of Court using the Florida Courts E-Filing Portal. I also certify that the 
foregoing document will be served on all counsel of record and/or interested parties in the 
manner identified on the attached Service List, via transmission generated by the Florida Courts 
E-Filing Portal or by U.S. Mail, pursuant to Rule 2.516, Florida Rules of Judicial Administration. 

 
   ROTH & SCHOLL 

Attorneys for Defendant  
866 South Dixie Highway 
Coral Gables, Florida 33146 
Telephone: 305-662-4141 
Fax: 305-662-3816 
Primary Email: jeff@rothandscholl.com    
Secondary: christine@rothandscholl.com  

    Secondary: chelsea@rothandscholl.com  
Secondary: gail@rothandscholl.com   

 
BY:   /s/ Jeffrey C. Roth  

JEFFREY C. ROTH 
Fla. Bar No.  331562 

 
Hilton Napoleon, II, Esq. 
Fla. Bar No. 17593 
Hilton Napoleon, II, P.A. 
Co-Counsel for Defendant 
237 South Dixie Hwy., 4th Floor  
Coral Gables, FL 33133 
Tel:  305-510-7106 
Email: hilton@napoleonfirm.com 

Filing # 207125120 E-Filed 09/18/2024 08:41:15 AM
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 CASE NO.  2024-123937-CC-05 (01) 
 

 

 
2 

 
 SERVICE LIST 
 

Via ePortal: 
 
Melanie J. Spencer, Esq. 
Assistant County Attorney 
Brianna E. Donet, Esq. 
Assistant County Attorney 
GERALDINE BONZON-KEENAN 
Miami-Dade County Attorney 
Stephen P. Clark Center 
111 NW 1st Street, Suite 2810 
Miami, Florida 33128 
Email: Melanie.Spencer@miamidade.gov; Brianna.Donet@miamidade.gov; 

Yohana.Ramos@miamidade.gov  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on July 17, 2025, a true and correct copy of the foregoing was served 

electronically via its filing on the Clerk of Court’s CM/ECF system and by U.S. Mail upon the 

2002 Service List (copies of exhibits to the Declaration can be obtained through CM/ECF or upon 

request to the undersigned counsel.) 

 /s/ Eric M. Sutty
Eric M. Sutty (No. 4007) 
1007 N. Market Street, Third Floor 
Wilmington, Delaware 19801 
Telephone: (302) 416-9670 
esutty@atllp.com

and 

Ileana Cruz (FL. Bar No. 419140) 
Assistant County Attorney 
111 N.W. First Street, Suite 2810 
Miami, FL 33128 
Telephone:  (305) 375-5151 
E-mail (Direct):  ileanac@miamidade.gov
E-mail(CM/ECF):cao.bkc@miamidade.gov

Counsel to Miami-Dade County 
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